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e Reservoir Optimization Company™

Core Laboratories is a leading provider of proprietary and patented reservoir description and production
enhancement services and products. These services and products enable the Company's clients to optimize
reservoir performance and maximize hydrocarbon recovery from their producing fields. The Company has over
70 offices in more than 50 countries and is located in every major oil-producing province in the world.

Core Laboratories provides its services to the world's major, national and independent oil companies.
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Core Lab has a long-standing reputation for optimizing the
performance of clients' reservoirs through innovative technologies.
The Company's global laboratory network spans over 50 countries
and is staffed by best-in-class scientific innovators and
professionals. These dedicated employees are the driving force
behind the analytical programs that are achieving powerful

results for Core Lab's clients throughout the Arabian Peninsula.
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Message from the
Executive Team
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During a year marked by several global challenges,
Core Laboratories continued to manage operations

2 n— while maintaining financial stability. The Russia-Ukraine
v{ -=| m '| conflict and associated sanctions brought volatility

r ' "-HI' to Core Lab's Russian, Ukrainian, and European

' 1'.’ laboratory networks, as traditional global crude-oil

" supply and trade patterns were disrupted. Despite
these challenges, Core Laboratories continued to
execute its key strategic initiatives by advancing service
and product offerings and reducing net debt, further
strengthening the Company’s balance sheet while

From left to right: Mark Tattoli, Gwen Gresham, Chris Hill, Larry Bruno. preparing for a more active market.

As we enter the next chapter of our proud 87-year history, Core will build upon its strong foundation, expanding its
business by introducing new technologies, penetrating new and existing markets, and focusing on shareholder returns.
Core Lab will remain focused on meeting clients’ needs through technological innovations and a high level of service and
ethics. Client-driven technology advancements will continue to be delivered through our two business segments:
Reservoir Description and Production Enhancement (Figure 1). Both segments apply patented and proprietary
technologies to solve clients’ problems and anticipate their needs, helping them optimize their reservoirs and maximize
their return on investment.

In 2022, the industry embarked upon a multi-year international cycle with elevated activity led by the Arabian Peninsula,
South Atlantic Margin, and West Africa. This year's annual report focuses on the Arabian Peninsula’s renowned oil and
gas opportunities. The Arabian Peninsula region is going to play a leading role in this crude-oil development cycle and
will account for an increasing percentage of the global crude-oil supply. Core Lab is already well-positioned as a strategic
partner for National Oil Companies (“NOC") in the Arabian Peninsula, providing both services and products through its
Reservoir Description and Production Enhancement segments.

. )
- ~
RESERVOIR DESCRIPTION
$308 Million
1. Field-based | 1. Laboratory-based
2.U.S. and International \ . | 2. Highly International
\ Core Lab
3. Energetic Products AESERVOIR OFTIMIZATION / 3. Core and Fluid Analysis
and Diagnostics Services \
~ _ -
$490 Million
Figure 1 - Reservoir Description and Production Enhancement Business Segments. y




Financial Strategies

Core continues to follow the three financial tenets that management believes will drive total
shareholder returns over the long term.

(1

Maximize Free Cash Flow

Core Lab follows a disciplined approach to capital allocation for growing our
business. In 2022, despite the challenges that resulted from the disruptions to
traditional supply chains caused by the geopolitical conflict between Russia and
Ukraine and the continued global pandemic, Core generated approximately $15
million of Free Cash Flow. This discipline towards capital investments and
maintaining an asset-light business model has the Company well-positioned to
significantly expand Free Cash Flow as we look forward to a recovering global
energy market.

Maximize Return on Invested Capital

Core Lab strives to maximize ROIC through capital discipline and continued execution of our three
Growth Strategies:

1) Develop New Technologies for Reservoir Optimization
2) Leverage Core's International Laboratory Network
3) Acquire Complimentary and Strategically Positioned Technologies

We believe that our commitment to this approach will result in superior long-term performance of
Core Lab's share price compared with the peer group compiled by Bloomberg. The Company has
established an internal performance metric of demonstrating superior ROIC performance relative
to the peer group. Core Lab's calculation of ROIC using Bloomberg's formula continued to improve
during 2022 and was 7.2% as we exited the year.

9 Return Excess Capital to Shareholders

Since 2002, Core Lab has returned excess capital to shareholders in the form of share repurchases, warrant
settlements, dividends, and special dividends, totaling $2.7 billion, or approximately $58.16 per share. During 2022,
the Company has been primarily focused on applying free cash towards reducing debt. As energy markets

recover and the Company reduces its debt leverage ratio, Core Lab will return excess capital to shareholders via
share repurchases and the quarterly dividend.

$836 $2.7 Billion Returned

Million to Our Shareholders Since 2002.

. Dividends

. Reduction in Diluted Share Count

$1.9
Billion

Figure 2 - Cash Returned to Shareholders.




Financial Highlights

Consolidated Company Results

(in thousands, except per share data) 2022 2021 2020

489,735 470,252
393,655 367,896
96,080 102,356
41,524 45,262
Net Income (loss) ! 19,453 19,727 (97,637)
Earnings (loss) per Diluted Share 0.42 0.42 (2.20)

$ $ $ 487267

$ $ $

$ $ $

$ $ $

$ $ $

$ $ $
Total Assets $ 578354 $ 580,853 $ 568579

$ $ $

$ $ $

$ $ $

$ $ $

$ $ $

374,767
112,500
(76,805)

Total Revenue

Total Operating Expenses
Gross Profit (loss)
Operating Income (loss) '

Long-term Debt 172,386 188,636 259,433
Total Shareholders’ Equity 188,954 161,001 75,573

24,956 36,579 57,868
Capital Expenditures 10,216 13,539 11,880
Free Cash Flow 2 14,740 23,040 45,988
Reduction of Net Debt * $  (12,725) $  (67,103) $  (43,286)

1) Operating Income (loss), Net Income (loss), and Earnings (loss) per Diluted Shares in 2020, include non-cash charges of approximately $133 million associated with the impairment
of goodwill, intangible assets and inventory

2) Free Cash Flow is calculated as Cash Flows from Operating Activities less Capital Expenditures

3) Reduction of Net Debt is calculated as the reduction in Total Debt less the change in cash for the same period

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

2022 Operating Results

The Company faced challenges at the start of 2022 due to both a surge in COVID-19 cases and the conflict in Ukraine.
Both events adversely impacted client activity and, consequently, Core Lab's financial performance for the first half of
2022. As COVID-19 cases subsided and global crude-oil trading patterns began to realign in response to sanctions on
Russia, the Company's financial performance improved in the second half of the year. For 2022, Core Lab's revenue
increased 4%, underpinned by growth in the U.S. land market and new international projects in certain regions.
However, Core's full-year revenue growth for 2022 was dampened by the devaluation of the Euro and British Pound
when translated into U.S. dollars. Using a constant U.S. dollar exchange rate, 2022 revenue would have been
approximately $13 million higher. In addition, Core's 2022 revenue growth was also impacted by the Russia-Ukraine
conflict. Across Core's European, Russian and Ukrainian operations, activity declined due to disruptions in crude-oil
trading patterns, causing the Company's crude-oil assay and derived product testing revenue and product sales to
decline in excess of $10 million year-over-year. The combined impact of these currency fluctuations and geopolitical
factors adversely impacted 2022 revenue by approximately $23 million year-over-year, substantially offsetting
international growth in other regions. The Company’s operating cost also increased in 2022 due to high levels of inflation
and the restoration of employee salaries and benefits, which were temporarily reduced during the pandemic. The
Company ended the year with good momentum as international activity began to increase demand for Core Lab's
products and services.

Strengthening the Balance Sheet and Capital Allocation Reduction of Long-term Debt
In December 2019, the Company announced its plan to focus $350

free cash flow towards reducing debt, striving to achieve a $300

leverage ratio of 1.5 times or lower. Since that time, the Company

has reduced Long-term Debt by $132 million or 43% despite the 5250

operational challenges posed by the pandemic and the $200

Russia-Ukraine conflict. As we look ahead to 2023 and beyond, $150

the macro fundamentals continue to support a growing energy $100

market and we expect the Company's financial performance to

improve. Upon reaching our targets in reducing the leverage ratio, ~ *°0

we would also expect to become more active in our share $0

repurchase program and begin considering an increase to the Jan-19 Jan-20 Jan-21 Jan-22
quarterly dividend.
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The Arabian Peninsula is renowned for having some of the
most significant and productive oil and gas reserves in the
world, with geologic systems ideal for forming supergiant
oilfields. As shown in Figure 3, the region’s stratigraphic column DANMAM
boasts a prolific shale that has sourced hundreds of billions of
barrels of oil, sustaining the economies of the Arabian Peninsula
countries for decades with conventional resources.

RUDHUMA
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However, with the natural decline of these conventional
resources and the increasing demand for energy, there has been
a shift towards exploring unconventional reservoir horizons,
including tight oil and gas sands, as well as fractured carbonates :
and shales. With nearly 20 years of experience in unconventional AR
reservoirs gained from our global portfolio of studies,

Core Laboratories is a valuable source of expertise and
proprietary analytical services for NOCs and regional operators.
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To facilitate unconventional exploration, Core Laboratories
developed a proprietary Shale Rock Quality Index through
the Global Shale joint Industry Project, providing insight
into reservoir evaluation and production potential from
analogous shale formations.
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Comparing geological parameters, including vertical

Each colored polygon represents a proven heterogeneity, formation thickness, total organic content,
unconventional resource. hydrocarbon maturity, and oil quality, can help identify the

most promising source rocks for exploration and
production.

As a trusted partner in unconventional exploration and
development, Core Laboratories expanded its operations
in the Arabian Peninsula in the last several years, as
described in the Opportunities Abound Section. With our
patented and proprietary technologies, we continue to
shorten the learning curve on unconventional exploration
and remain committed to sharing best practices and
expertise to improve the characterization and production
of complex reservoirs in the region.

Initial Production (MCFD)

Gas Shale Score Ranking

~ ARABIAN PENINSULA OPPORTUNITIES ABOUND 4
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Arabian Peninsula: Opportunities Abound

Reservoir Description

During 2022, Core's operations in the Arabian Peninsula were primarily performed by the Reservoir Description segment,
providing critical data and data management services for evaluating opportunities in both new and mature fields.
Leveraging best practices learned from our global portfolio of conventional and unconventional reservoir studies, we
initiated several comprehensive multi-well laboratory analysis programs using proprietary testing methodologies and
technologies.

In anticipation of growing demand in the region, Core Lab expanded its reservoir fluids testing capabilities in 2022,
introducing proprietary, industry-leading reservoir condition laboratory technologies into new markets. In 2022, the
Company was engaged by NOCs to conduct comprehensive reservoir fluid studies, which enabled the operators to
model reservoir performance, sustain current production levels, and optimize ultimate hydrocarbon recovery. CO,
minimum miscibility measurements were used to evaluate potential injection options for both large-scale Enhanced Qil
Recovery ("EOR") programs and Carbon Capture and Sequestration (“CCS") opportunities.

Injected CO, encounters €O, and oil mix Oil expands and moves
trapped oil towards producing well

In Kuwait, Core Lab’s team of expert Geologists, Reservoir Engineers, and Petrophysicists
conducted a week-long core and reservoir data analysis workshop for Kuwait Ol
Company (“KOC"). The focus was on understanding hydrocarbon potential and pay
recognition in both prospective unconventional and tight conventional reservoir targets.
The workshop was the culmination of a multi-year, multi-well analytical program that
included analysis of laboratory data, the use of our proprietary web-enabled RAPID™
database, and a detailed fracture analysis of core. Core developed advanced
petrophysical log models that included fluid flow and well productivity predictions, which
the KOC technical team incorporated into their day-to-day operational decisions. The
workshops and deliverables provided improved hydrocarbon mobility assessments and
allowed for pressure depletion effects to be incorporated into pressure maintenance
programs, thus supporting sustained long-term production.




Arabian Peninsula: Opportunities Abound - Cont.

Production Enhancement

In addition to Reservoir Description’s laboratory and data management solutions, NOCs in the region are also engaging
with Core's Production Enhancement segment to gain valuable quantitative information about their producing reservoirs.

SPECTRAFLOOD' Waterflood Performance

tracer allows for more
efficient programs

[ Low detection limit

Waterflood

Viscous Fingering

Birdseye View - 5 Spot Well

SpectraFlood™ chemical tracers are being utilized in a major
waterflood project in a giant oil field in the Arabian Peninsula
to determine the path of the injected fluid as it sweeps oil from
110 injection wells into 200 producing wells. The Company’s
analytical programs aided in better delineating sweep patterns,
allowing the NOC to target areas for future development. Core’s
ultra-low detection limit tracers provided significantly enhanced SpectraFlood Chemical Tracers: Profile of

H H f i i Injected Fluid Path to Production Well for
data resolution anq improved field economics to maximize Targeted Waterflood Performante Analysis.
long-term production.

As NOCs in the region lead this multi-year international recovery, Core Lab is focused on remaining a key strategic
partner. Core will continue to expand rock and fluid analytical capabilities, while developing technologies to allow more
efficient exploration and development of conventional reservoirs and effective exploration of unconventional reservaoirs.
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Core Lab Technologies for Optimization of
Arabian Peninsula Unconventional Oil Plays

With the increase in exploration for unconventional reservoirs, NOCs in the region are relying on Core Lab's proprietary
technologies and expertise to learn best practices and analytical techniques for characterizing and producing tight
reservoirs. Leveraging decades of global unconventional expertise, the Company provides insights into optimizing
production and increasing estimated ultimate hydrocarbon recovery.

Core's innovative technologies and workflows, such as its proprietary Petrophysical Reservoir Integrated Saturation
Measurement (“PRISM™"), allow for early-time assessment of mobile and non-mabile hydrocarbons. This technology
refines petrophysical models and improves estimates of recoverable hydrocarbon. PRISM™ brings together multiple
analytical technologies, including proprietary High Frequency Nuclear Magnetic Response (“HF-NMR"), X-Ray Diffraction,

and custom rate-controlled pyrolysis to quantify in-situ fluid saturations in tight pore structures.

Proprietary High Frequency NMR ‘

/7

Multi Heating Rate (MHR) Pyrolysis

[Immovable Water)

Core Lab’s RAPID™ database allows clients to analyze geological,
petrophysical, and engineering data in one platform. RAPID™ helps
users make informed decisions based on physically-measured
laboratory data, and improves prediction of reservoir behavior through
proprietary applications. Overall, RAPID™ is an essential tool for
optimizing data-driven decisions.




Arabian Peninsula: Core’s Expanding Technologies

Core Laboratories' history in the Arabian Peninsula dates to 1950 with the establishment of its first core
analysis laboratory in Saudi Arabia. Recognizing the global importance of the region as the largest oil and
natural gas producer, the Company has since expanded technologies and service offerings for both rock and
fluids across our facilities in Kuwait, Saudi Arabia, Qatar and the United Arab Emirates. To solidify our position
as the leading service provider in the region, the Company will continue to focus on developing innovative
technologies and forging new partnerships and collaborations.

As part of Core's ongoing commitment to capturing emerging opportunities in the region, reservoir and fluid
analytical capabilities have been expanded and completion diagnostic services have been introduced. The
Company completed the establishment of a new reservoir fluids laboratory in Saudi Arabia that utilizes
proprietary technologies including full visualization Pressure-Volume-Temperature (“PVT") cells. Technologies
specifically targeted at evaluating and completing unconventional reservoirs and CCS opportunities are also
being added to our regional portfolio of services and products.
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Bright Future

As NOCs and partnered IOCs in the region shift their focus from conventional to unconventional reservoirs to meet
growing energy demand, Core's extensive unconventional reservoir expertise, laboratory network and sustained
focus on developing new technologies makes the Company a key differentiator in the Arabian Peninsula.

In addition, with the volatility of energy reliability in Europe, the Arabian Peninsula has potential to become the major
source of distillates for the European Market. Core's established inspection and laboratory network in the region is
well-positioned to handle increases in shipments and exports.

As the world enters a new phase of energy development, the Arabian Peninsula will play a pivotal role in meeting the
world's demand for reliable energy. In addition, as the world shifts away from coal and towards a lower-carbon
economy, the region’s significance cannot be overstated. Furthermore, Core’s advanced laboratory capabilities for
both rocks and fluids will play a key role in the region as operators advance CCS projects.

Moving forward, Core remains committed to leading the charge towards a more sustainable future, empowering all
operators and partners to meet their sustainability goals with cutting-edge technology and unparalleled expertise.

p
Our commitment to be the best and most technologically advanced reservoir
optimization company in the world continues to be recognized through our high
ranking in numerous EnergyPoint Research Oilfield Products & Services
Customer Satisfaction Categories:
1st in Total Satisfaction for all Oilfield Services
1st in Downhole Completion Equipment
1st in Engineering & Design Satisfaction
1st in Performance and Reliability : OILFIELD SERVICES
1st in Technology '
1st in Core and Fluids Analysis ~_
1st in Digital and Big Data
Now in its 17th year, EnergyPoint Research'’s survey is comprised of more than 50 questions geared towards
identifying features and attributes that drive customer satisfaction. Survey rankings are based upon more than
3700 comprehensive evaluations by qualified respondents across global Exploration and Production
companies and other upstream professionals and organizations.
J
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PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS

General

Core Laboratories N.V. is a Netherlands limited liability company. We were established in 1936 and are one of the world’s leading pro-
viders of proprietary and patented reservoir description and production enhancement services and products to the oil and gas industry.
These services and products can enable our clients to evaluate and improve reservoir performance and increase oil and gas recovery
from their new and existing fields. We have over 70 offices in more than 50 countries and have approximately 3,600 employees.

On January 17, 2023, the Company announced its intention to reorganize the Company’s corporate structure, which will include redo-
mestication (the “Redomestication”) of the parent company from the Netherlands to the United States as Core Laboratories Inc., a
Delaware corporation. Following shareholder approval, the Redomestication will be completed through a series of steps, as follows:

(i)  Core Laboratories N.V. will merge with and into Core Laboratories Luxembourg S.A, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Core
Laboratories N.V., with Core Laboratories Luxembourg S.A. surviving, and

(i) As soon as practicable thereafter, Core Laboratories Luxembourg S.A. will migrate out of Luxembourg and redomesticate into the
state of Delaware, as Core Laboratories Inc., which will become the ultimate parent company.

Upon completion of the transaction, Core Laboratories N.V. shareholders will hold one share of common stock of Core Laboratories Inc.
for each common share of Core Laboratories N.V. owned immediately prior to the Redomestication. The Company’s shares will continue
to trade uninterrupted during and upon completion of the Redomestication.

The Redomestication requires a shareholder vote for approval, which will be conducted through an extraordinary general meeting of the
Company’s shareholders, anticipated to occur in late March of 2023. If shareholder approval is obtained, the transaction is expected to
become effective approximately 30 days following the date of the extraordinary general meeting.

References to “Core Lab”, “the Company”, “we”, “our”, and similar phrases are used throughout this Annual Report on Form 10-K (this
“Form 10-K”") and relate collectively to Core Laboratories N.V. and its consolidated affiliates.

Business Strategy

Our business strategy is to provide advanced technologies that improve reservoir performance by (i) continuing the development of pro-
prietary technologies through client-driven research and development, (i) expanding the services and products offered throughout our
global network of offices and (iii) acquiring complementary technologies that add key technologies or market presence and enhance
existing services and products.

Development of New Technologies, Services and Products

We conduct research and development to meet the needs of our clients who are continually seeking new services and technologies to
lower their costs of finding, developing and producing oil and gas. While the aggregate number of wells being drilled per year has fluc-
tuated relative to market conditions, oil and gas producers have, on a proportional basis, increased expenditures on technology services
to improve their understanding of the reservoir, increase production of oil and gas from their producing fields, and more recently, Car-
bon Capture and Sequestration (“CCS”) projects. We intend to continue concentrating our efforts on services and technologies that
improve reservoir performance, increase oil and gas recovery, CCS projects and other projects directed at the global objectives in
reducing carbon emissions.

International Expansion of Services and Products

Another component of our business strategy is to broaden the spectrum of services and products offered to our clients on a global
basis. We intend to continue using our worldwide network of offices to offer our services and products that have been developed inter-
nally or obtained through acquisitions. This global emphasis allows us to enhance our revenue through efficient utilization of our world-
wide network.



Acquisitions
We continually review potential acquisitions to add key services and technologies, enhance market presence or complement existing
business.

More information relating to any significant acquisitions is included in Note 3 — Acquisitions and Divestures of the Notes to the Con-
solidated Financial Statements.

Operations
We derive our revenue from services and product sales to clients primarily in the oil and gas industry.

We operate our business in two segments. These complementary operating segments provide different services and products and utilize
different technologies for evaluating and improving reservoir performance and increasing oil and gas recovery from new and existing
fields. Disclosure relating to the operations and financial information of these operating segments is included in Note 22 — Segment
Reporting and Other Disaggregated Information of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

e feservoir Description: Encompasses the characterization of petroleum reservoir rock, and reservoir fluids samples to increase pro-
duction and improve recovery of crude oil and natural gas from our clients’ reservoirs. We provide laboratory-based analytical and
field services to characterize properties of crude oil and crude oil-derived products to the oil and gas industry. We also provide pro-
prietary and joint industry studies based on these types of analyses and manufacture associated laboratory equipment. In addition,
we provide reservoir description capabilities that support various activities associated with energy transition projects, including
services that support carbon capture, utilization and storage, hydrogen storage, geothermal projects, and the evaluation and
appraisal of mining activities around lithium and other elements necessary for energy storage.

e Production Enhancement. Includes services and manufactured products associated with reservoir well completions, perforations,
stimulation, production and well abandonment. We provide integrated diagnostic services to evaluate and monitor the effectiveness
of well completions and to develop solutions aimed at increasing the effectiveness of enhanced oil recovery projects.

We offer our services worldwide through a global network of offices. Services accounted for 71%, 73% and 77% of our revenue from
continuing operations for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

We manufacture products primarily in five facilities for distribution on a global basis. Product sales accounted for 29%, 27% and 23%
of our revenue from continuing operations for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Reservoir Description

Commercial oil and gas fields consist of porous and permeable reservoir rocks that contain crude oil, natural gas and formation water.
Due to the density differences of the fluids, natural gas typically caps the field and overlies an oil layer, which overlies the water. We
provide services that characterize the porous reservoir rock, all three reservoir fluids and their derived products. Services relating to
these fluids include determining the quality and measuring the quantity of the reservoir fluids and their derived products, such as gaso-
line, diesel and biofuels. This includes determining the value of different crude oil and natural gases by analyzing the individual compo-
nents of complex hydrocarbons. Reservoir fluid analyses contribute approximately 65% to 70% of Reservoir Description revenue. We
also provide more advanced laboratory analyses which measure reservoir hydrocarbons at reservoir conditions to determine the
changes in the hydrocarbon’s physical properties with changing pressure and temperature.

We analyze samples of reservoir rocks for their porosity, which determines reservoir storage capacity, and for their permeability, which
defines the ability of the fluids to flow through the rock. These measurements are used to determine how much oil and gas are present in
a reservoir and the rates at which the oil and gas can be produced. We also use our proprietary services and technologies to correlate
the reservoir description data to wireline logs and other subsurface data.

The combined use of both the reservoir rock and fluid data are invaluable to oil companies to determine the most efficient method and
optimize the recovery, processing and refinement of these hydrocarbons. Early evaluations and key decisions about well performance
and viability are important for optimizing a reservoir. This is accomplished by using proprietary and patented laboratory methods,



including both traditional physical measurements and more recently introduced new technologies, such as Core Lab’s Non-Invasive
Technologies for Reservoir OptimizationSM (“NITROSM”) services. NITROSM services includes Dual Energy Computed Tomography
(“DECT”), Micro Computed Tomography, high and low frequency nuclear magnetic resonance, high-resolution gamma logging and
continuous high energy x-ray fluorescence, along with other Core Lab proprietary technologies.

Core Lab’s proprietary DECT scanner-based deliverables generate millimeter-scale three dimensional images and accompanying high-
resolution petrophysical logs on cored intervals by calibrating DECT information to the vast library of physical measurements in Core
Lab’s proprietary database. The DECT deliverables from Core Lab are more detailed than down-hole logs and provide better bed resolu-
tion as well as accurate information on rock properties such as lithology, porosity, density, rock strength and acoustic velocities.

DECT, when combined with Continuous Dual Gamma and Scanning X-ray Fluorescence (“CS-XRF”), allows Core Lab to assess contin-
uous high-resolution elemental composition of the cored intervals. A proprietary formation-specific “inversion” technique can be used
to convert the detailed elemental composition to a continuous mineral log enabling us to generate detailed lithologic descriptions of the
reservoir and to perform a comprehensive reservoir characterization.

Core Lab conducts a wide variety of physical laboratory measurements to measure and evaluate fluid flow through the rock, often at
in-situ reservoir temperatures and pressures. These are most commonly applied to conventional reservoirs. We have also developed
unique analytical processes to understand the flow characteristics and saturation profiles of unconventional reservoir systems including
(1) High Frequency Nuclear Magnetic Resonance measurements to gain insights into movable vs. non-movable fluid saturations of
these complex systems; and (2) Enhanced Qil Recovery of shale reservoirs by evaluating the effectiveness of gas cycling in nano-pore
structures to significantly increase long-term production rates and volumes.

Core Lab has been at the forefront of digital transformation technologies for more than two decades. Core Lab’s extensive, proprietary
databases and analog technologies, coupled with artificial intelligence (“Al”) and machine learning, help our clients improve efficiencies
and lower operating costs throughout the upstream value chain. The analysis and integration, of these critical datasets is enhanced
because of Core Lab’s proprietary RAPID™ database. Core Lab’s Digital Innovation Group works collaboratively with multiple interna-
tional and national oil companies on projects that utilize several of Core Lab’s proprietary digital technologies and services. Core Lab’s
proprietary Advanced Rock Typing technology combines Core Lab’s vast, comprehensive database of physical measurements, and
World Wide Rock Catalog™ with its proprietary image acquisition technology and innovative Al image recognition. Core Lab'’s proprie-
tary World Wide Rock Catalog™ provides a database and analog reference set for predicting properties when physical measurements are
unavailable. These technologies provide clients with analog data sets in situations where acquisition of new conventional core may not
be possible. High-resolution images of wellbore cuttings and sidewall cores are quickly and efficiently matched with analogs from Core
Lab’s proprietary database of samples from around the world. Physically measured data sets from the matching analogs are delivered to
our clients in time to make appraisal and development decisions.

Core Lab’s proprietary legacy portfolio of geological studies and rock and fluid property datasets on conventional reservoirs and seals,
accessible through Core Lab’s database platform, RAPID™, are being leveraged in energy transition projects as well, and are proving
invaluable to operators evaluating potential CCS sites in onshore and offshore Miocene and Oligocene reservoirs along the U.S. Gulf
Coast. These legacy studies, originally conducted to evaluate hydrocarbon reservoirs, provide critical data for reconnaissance, bench-
marking, and risk reduction ahead of new coring projects for CCS site assessment.

Core Lab’s Digital Innovation Group integrates results and interpretations into a comprehensive, web-enabled platform, RAPID™, for cli-
ent access. This allows our clients to gain insight into their core intervals at an accelerated pace, for both non-invasive technologies as
well as time-honored physical laboratory measurements. Through this integrated visually interactive platform, key reservoir performance
indicators are presented, evaluated and shared within client workgroups.

Core Lab also applies its rock fluid and data analytical capabilities to CO, and other gas and liquid projects. These projects may be for
enhanced oil recovery in mature fields, or for CO,-CCS projects.



Core Lab holds various patents, trade secrets, and proprietary designs for laboratory equipment required to analyze reservoir rocks as
well as the properties and phase behavior of reservoir fluids and derived products. We manufacture a wide range of ambient and reser-
voir condition rock and fluid analysis laboratory equipment for our own use throughout our international laboratory network. Among
these devices are complex, high-pressure, high temperature, reservoir condition, multi-phase flow systems and full visualization
Pressure-Volume-Temperature cells, along with the ancillary equipment required to support these laboratory programs. We also sell
equipment of this type to universities, government institutes, and client company research labs.

While recognizing the need to optimize the logistical chain of our clients, from producing well to retail sales of petroleum products, a
state-of-the-art IT platform CONNECT: was launched to efficiently acquire and optimize workflows of our field data, laboratory analysis,
and any other observations relevant to our client base. The system is designed for single data entry, and that data can be used for further
analysis and, more importantly, be shared with our clients by process flow dashboards with key performance indicators. The system can
also share real-time data on mobile devices, enabling our clients to make quick decisions. This methodology of sharing data has been
embraced by an increasing number of clients, as it has not only saved them costs, but, more importantly, the data can be used for trend
analysis in many ways, such as the ability to forecast bottlenecks, thus eliminating waste and increasing efficiency. Two experience cen-
ters have been set up, in the U.S. and Europe, where our clients can get acquainted with optimizing the flow of business as well as our
advanced systems for data analysis. All initiatives are meant to increase efficiency and add value to our client base. All data is being
made available through dashboard technology, which for internal purposes is being used to measure the efficiency of workflows
throughout the organization.

We added new modules to our suite of IT platforms in 2021 that enhance the distribution chain of our customers, with similar structure
of using dashboard technology, enabling the customer to monitor live progress as well as operational data.

We conduct numerous large-scale, multi-company reservoir management projects, applying proprietary and state-of-the-art techniques
from the earliest phases of a field development program until the last economic barrel of oil is recovered. We initiate and deliver a group
of international and U.S. based consortium studies to evaluate both conventional and unconventional reservoirs. These projects are of
increasing importance to oil companies as the incremental barrel is often the lowest cost and most profitable barrel in the reservoir. Pro-
ducing incremental barrels increases our clients’ cash flows which we believe will result in additional capital expenditures by our cli-
ents, and ultimately further opportunities for us.

These industry consortium projects provide critical reservoir information to a broad spectrum of clients in a cost effective manner. These
studies focus on regions of client interest across the globe, and include both conventional and unconventional reservoir targets. Studies
often run for several years and new studies are initiated in response of current or upcoming client activity in a region. Core Lab retains
rights of ownership to complete joint industry projects studies, which can be resold at a later date. Many of them examine unconven-
tional reservoirs, particularly in the U.S. and Canada. For example, our Permian Basin study evaluates the petrophysical, geochemical,
completion and production characteristics of this very active play in West Texas. Our clients use this information, not only to improve
their drilling and production activities, but also to evaluate potential acquisition and divestiture opportunities.

Our data bases, technology and analytical methods also allow us to assist our clients in other ways. Many of our clients have begun
investing in and developing other sources of energy, including renewables. Some of these initiatives include deployment of technolo-
gies associated with the assessment of strata to establish strategies tied to hydrogen storage and mining of elements such as lithium,
which are critical components of batteries for energy storage. Our measuring and analytical techniques may also be used to assist our
clients with reporting requirements associated with carbon emissions.

Production Enhancement

Core Lab’s Production Enhancement group provides products and diagnostic services to help optimize well completions, reservoir oper-
ations and field development strategies, in order to increase recoverable reserves in the most efficient way. These product offerings
include perforating technologies to establish communication between the wellbore and the reservoir. Diagnostic services are used to
assess well completions and field floods. Two commonly used production enhancement methods are (i) hydraulic fracturing of the res-
ervoir rock to improve flow and (ii) flooding a reservoir with water, carbon dioxide, nitrogen or hydrocarbon gases to drive more oil and
gas to the producing wellbores. Many oilfields today are hydraulically fractured and/or flooded to maximize oil and gas recovery.
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Although Core Lab is not a hydraulic fracturing company, Core Lab does provide services that are used by operators to develop and
optimize hydraulic fracturing and field flood projects and to evaluate the success of those projects. These services, products and exper-
tise play a key role in the success of both methodologies.

The hydraulic fracturing of a producing formation is achieved by pumping a fluid slurry containing a proppant material into the reservoir
zone at extremely high pressures. This fractures the rock and the proppant material “props” or holds the fracture open after the pressure
pumping is complete, so that reservoir fluids can flow through a highly conductive fracture into the production wellbore. Data on rock
type and strength generated in the Reservoir Description operating segment are critical for determining the proper design of the hydrau-
lic fracturing treatment. In addition, further testing indicates whether the fluid slurry is compatible with the reservoir rock so that damage
does not occur that would otherwise restrict production. Core Lab also provides testing of various propping agents and software to help
select the best propping agent based on net present value calculations of client investments. The proprietary and patented ZERO
WASH® tracer technology is used to confirm optimum cluster efficiency, stage spacing, stimulated reservoir volume and increased ulti-
mate recovery.

SPECTRACHEM®, a chemical frac water tracing service, is another proprietary and patented technology developed for optimizing hydrau-
lic fracture performance. SPECTRACHEM® is used to aid operators in determining the efficiency of the fracturing fluids used. SPECTRA-
CHEM® tracers enable operators to evaluate the quantity of fracturing fluid and reservoir fluid that returns to the wellbore after a hydraulic
fracturing event. This technology also enables clients to evaluate load recovery, gas breakthrough, fluid leak-off and breaker efficiency, all
of which are important factors for optimizing oil and/or natural gas production after the formation is hydraulically fractured.

The SPECTRACHEM® service is used for determining the effectiveness and efficiency of the hydraulic fracture stimulation of long,
multi-stage horizontal wells in oil- and gas-shale plays in unconventional reservoirs. SPECTRACHEM® data sets are used to determine
if and how effectively each frac stage is flowing. Frac stages with ineffective flows may warrant further stimulation or remedial actions,
while guiding improvements in future frac designs and flowback procedures.

Core Lab’s engineers have developed and implemented new applications for the proprietary SPECTRACHEM ® service to determine
whether horizontal wells are unobstructed and flowing through the entire length of a horizontal well. Leveraged by operators in the
Permian, Eagle Ford, Wolfcamp, Bakken and Haynesville plays, this technology can identify wellbore obstructions, often caused by
inter-well communication, wellbore fill, or dissolvable plug remnants. By applying this technology, clients can identify and remediate
well obstructions that can negatively impact well performance, reserve calculations and reserve-based lending.

Another unique completion monitoring system, COMPLETION PROFILER™, helps to determine flow rates from reservoir zones after they
have been hydraulically fractured. This provides clients with a baseline of early production information that can be compared to subse-
quent data later in the life of the well to see how hydrocarbon production from different reservoir layers or different quality rock varies
over time.

The FLOWPROFILER™ service, a proprietary hydrocarbon-based tracer technology, which is a further development of the patented
SPECTRACHEM® technology quantifies the hydrocarbon production from discrete segments in multi-stage horizontal well completions
in unconventional tight-oil or gas plays. This service incorporates both liquid and solid controlled-release, oil-soluble tracers for oil
reservoirs which are different from gas tracers used for gas reservoirs. FLOWPROFILER™ technology and the analytical methodology for
identifying the hydrocarbon-soluble tracers are the protected intellectual property of Core Lab.

The FLOWPROFILER™ technology employs unique hydrocarbon-soluble tracers and water-soluble tracers introduced into specific,
physically isolated stages via the stimulation proppant stream. The hydrocarbon-soluble tracers partition into the crude oil and gas
associated with each stage, while the water-soluble tracers remain in the stimulation fluid. When the well is flowed, oil, gas and water
samples are collected and analyzed in the laboratory to identify and quantify oil or gas flows from each stage as well as the cleanup of
the stimulation fluid. Stages not at optimum flow rates can be identified, precipitating remedial efforts to increase flow and recovery
rates, and providing valuable insights for future wells. This service is used to monitor offset well interference by sampling offset well oil,
gas and water production. The amount of tracer detected in offset wells is used to help clients optimize both horizontal and vertical well
spacing and the optimum amount of fracturing fluids for each stage.



There has been a broadening acceptance of FLOWPROFILER™EDS, a proprietary technology, which is an engineered delivery system
(“EDS”). The break-through EDS technology delivers time-released diagnostics for evaluating the crude-oil flow from each stage of a
hydraulically fractured completion. This technology comprises proprietary 40/70 or 100 mesh particles, chemically engineered to bond
specifically with proprietary oil tracers. This allows for precise placement of tracers in the propped fracture, thus providing accurate
identification of oil production by stage. Crude-oil production by stage is determined using this Core Lab-developed technology that
enables the diagnostic tracer to be absorbed and chemically bonded to durable, proppant-size particles that are injected with the frac
sand. The tracer will release from the engineered particles once they contact the reservoir’s crude oil, enabling Core Lab to assess which
stages are contributing to crude-oil production.

Core Lab also conducts dynamic flow tests of the reservoir fluids through reservoir rock, at actual reservoir pressure and temperature, to
realistically simulate the flooding of a producing zone. Patented technologies, such as Saturation Monitoring by the Attenuation of
X-rays (“SMAX™"), help in designing the enhanced recovery projects. After a field flood is initiated, Core Lab is often involved in moni-
toring the progress of the flood to ensure that the maximum amount of incremental production is achieved using the SPECTRAFLOOD™
technology, which was developed to optimize sweep efficiency during field floods.

Core Lab’s patented PACKSCAN® technology is used to evaluate gravel pack effectiveness in unconsolidated reservoirs. PACKSCAN®
measures density changes in the gravel pack annulus to verify the competency of the gravel pack without requiring any additional rig time.

In addition to Core Lab’s many patented reservoir diagnostic technologies, Production Enhancement has established itself as a global
leader in the manufacturing and distribution of high-performance perforating products. Core Lab’s unique understanding of complex
reservoirs supports our ability to supply perforating systems engineered to maximize well productivity by reducing, eliminating and
overcoming formation damage caused during the drilling and completion of oil and gas wells. This “systems” approach to the perfora-
tion of an oil or gas well has resulted in numerous patented products.

SuperHERO™ (High Efficiency Reservoir Optimization) and HERO-HR™ (Hard Rock) are examples of the patented perforating systems.
The SuperHERO™ charge evolved from the HERO™ charge technology and use a proprietary and patented design of powdered metal lin-
ers and explosives technology resulting in a deeper and cleaner perforating tunnel into the oil and gas reservoir. This allows greater flow
of hydrocarbons to the wellbore and helps to maximize hydrocarbon recovery from the reservoir. The more recent charge development
of the HERO-HR™ charges, resulted in Core Lab also having the deepest penetrating perforating charges on the market as certified by
AP testing.

HERO™PerFRAC leverages the HERO™ technology. In addition to the benefits of HERO™ technology, HERO™PerFRAC charges are
designed specifically for optimizing fracture stimulation well completions by providing low standard deviation which minimizes tortuos-
ity effects. This results in less required surface horsepower and less time which both translate into lower costs needed to complete the
fracturing operation. In addition to optimizing stimulation operations with faster, lower cost programs, well production is also enhanced
by not only the better well stimulations but the improved near debris free perforation tunnels as the well fluids come back into the casing
from the rock. Core Lab’s manufacturing operations in the United States and Canada continue to meet the global demand for our perfo-
rating systems through facility expansion in addition to gains in efficiency and productivity.

Consistent with the HERO™PerFRAC uniform hole size option, the ReFRAC product line was also introduced and has experienced
increasing client acceptance. The ReFRAC technology is utilized in mechanically isolated re-stimulation programs where the internal
string is used to isolate older, depleted stages in previously under-stimulated wells. The ReFRAC technology creates a uniform hole size
through two strings of casing. This re-completion method is gaining popularity because it allows operators to perforate, pump and stim-
ulate new rock between the original stages of the well, increasing hydrocarbon recovery without the expense of drilling and completing a
new well. Operators using Core Lab’s ReFRAC technology have reported they can now complete twice as many stages per day compared
to conventional perforating systems, reducing their operating costs and improving cash flow.

The HERO™ line of perforating charges, HERO™ PerFRAC, SuperHERO™, HERO-HR™ and ReFRAC charges can eliminate the ineffective
perforations that would otherwise limit daily oil and natural gas production and hinder the optimal fracture stimulation programs needed
for prolific production from the Permian Basin, Bakken, Eagle Ford, Marcellus, Niobrara and similar oil- and gas-shale formations.
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Core Lab’s proprietary downhole energetic solutions and instrumentation are designed to systemize, simplify, automate, and de-risk the
deployment of perforating systems, which are utilized by international oil and gas operators for well completions. The Ballistics Delivery
System (“BDS™”) provides a unique range of perforating tools and equipment, which have been developed to provide a number of
advantages over existing technology. The BDS™ tools facilitate perforation accuracy while addressing wellbore assurance concerns and
optimizing safety, thus alleviating some of the challenges encountered when perforating. It also assists with issues incurred with high
underbalanced perforating, running heavy/long assemblies, oriented perforating, depth control, reduction in fishing risk, and acquiring
wellbore pressure data as guns fire. Core Lab’s BDS™ and the GoFire Addressable Switch are key differentiators of Core Lab’s preas-
sembled GoGun™ Adaptive Perforating System. The GoGun™ Adaptive Perforating System provides an open architecture design. This
allows for optimal utilization of perforating energetics and, importantly, the onsite flexibility of altering completion designs for greater
wellsite efficiency and improved Stimulated Reservoir Volume.

Core Lab’s next generation, HERO™PerFRAC energetic technology, is available in combination with the new, patent pending Oriented
GoGun™. This new offering provides our clients with a technological solution for achieving: 1) extreme limited entry perforating capabil-
ity, 2) precisely aligned perforations, and 3) minimized connections and completion string length. Casing erosion around perforations
can occur when stimulating unconventional reservoirs. Larger perforating holes preferentially increase in size and take more frac fluid,
robbing stimulation from smaller perforating holes, which results in inconsistent breakdown of the formation. The consistent-sized
holes generated by the latest HERO™PerFRAC charges reduce this problem. Core Lab partnered with major U.S. operators to design
custom, consistent-hole-size charges that can be aligned in a specific orientation in order to achieve uniform breakdown across each
stage. By eliminating the need for reusable orientation subassemblies, the Oriented GoGun™ minimizes the number of connections and
saves time at the wellsite by not having to recapture and redress the orienting subs.

Core Lab’s Production Enhancement operating segment commissioned a cutting-edge, Reservoir Optimized Completions Lab (“ROC
Lab™") in Godley, Texas. The ROC Lab™ is designed to determine the best energetic solutions for a specific rock type, to maximize pro-
ductivity of an operator's reservoir. The ROC Lab™ features an industry-leading, Ultra High Pressure/High Temperature perforation test
vessel. The test vessel is paired with a proprietary flow system that uses highly specialized, internally developed and manufactured
pumps and flow controllers. Combined, these technologies create a proprietary flow loop capable of dynamically displacing oil, brine
and gas through rock samples that have been perforated with preselected energetics. Core Lab leverages its multi-decade expertise in
conducting multi-phase fluid flow tests through porous medium to optimize this technological investment.

Core Lab’s proprietary Plug and Abandonment Perforating System (“PAC™") is utilized to optimize a slot recovery process through a
lean casing recovery program. PAC™ allows for reduced rig time and efficient recovery of the interior casing, while eliminating risks and
creating opportunities for production from untapped reservoir sections.

Core Lab’s Production Enhancement team has experienced technical services personnel to support clients through our global network of
offices for the everyday use of our perforating systems and the rapid introduction of new products. Our personnel are capable of provid-
ing client training and on-site services in the completion of oil and gas wells. The patented X-SPAN® and GTX-SPAN® casing patches
are supported by our technical services personnel. Market applications in Canada’s steam-assisted gravity drainage environment have
resulted in an upgrade in temperature ratings to as much as 600°F. These systems are capable of performing in high temperature as
well as high pressure oil and gas environments and are used to seal non-productive reservoir zones from the producing wellbore.

Marketing and Sales

We market and sell our services and products through a combination of sales representatives, technical seminars, trade shows and print
advertising. Direct sales and marketing are carried out by our sales force, technical experts and operating managers, as well as by sales
representatives and distributors in various markets where we do not have offices. Our Business Development group manages a Large
Account Management Program to better serve our largest and most active clients by meeting with key personnel within their organiza-
tions to ensure the quality of our services and products are meeting their expectations and addressing any issues or needs in a timely
manner.



Research and Development

The market for our services and products is characterized by changing technology and frequent product introduction. As a result, our
success is dependent upon our ability to develop or acquire new services and products on a cost-effective basis and to introduce them
into the marketplace in a timely manner. Many of our acquisitions have allowed us to obtain the benefits of the acquired company’s
research and development projects without incurring significant costs if we had attempted to develop the services and products our-
selves. We incur costs as part of internal research and development, and these costs are charged to expense as incurred and reflected in
the operational results of the associated operating segment. We intend to continue committing financial resources and effort to the
development and acquisition of new services and products. Over the years, we have made a number of technological advances, includ-
ing the development of key technologies utilized in our operations. Substantially all of our new technologies are the result of requests
and guidance from our clients, particularly major oil companies.

Patents and Trademarks

We believe our patents, trademarks, technology, trade secrets and other intellectual property rights are an important factor in maintain-
ing our technological advantage, although no single one of these is considered essential to our success. Typically, we will seek to pro-
tect our intellectual property in all jurisdictions where we believe the cost of such protection is warranted. While we have patented some
of our key technologies, we do not patent all of our proprietary technology even where regarded as patentable. We protect our intellec-
tual property, including through the use of appropriate confidentiality agreements, legal enforcement proceedings and by other means.

International Operations

We operate facilities in more than 50 countries. Our non-U.S. operations accounted for 66%, 68% and 67% of our revenue from opera-
tions during the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively. We attribute service revenue to the country in which the
service was performed rather than where the reservoir or project is located, while we attribute product sales revenue to the country where
the product was shipped as we feel this gives a clearer view of our operations. We do, however, have significant levels of service reve-
nue performed and recorded in the U.S. that are sourced from projects on non-U.S. oilfields.

The following graphs and table summarize our reported revenue by geographic region for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021
and 2020:

2022

2021

2020

—
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Canada 6%

Former Soviet Union 6%
Latin/South America 6%
United States 34%

Europe/Africa/Middle East 41%
Asia Pacific 7%

Canada 6%

Former Soviet Union 7%
Latin/South America 5%
United States 32%

)

\\ Europe/Africa/Middle East 42%
Asia Pacific 8%

Canada 3%

Former Soviet Union 6%
Latin/South America 6%
United States 33%

=

L Europe/Africa/Middle East 43%
Asia Pacific 9%

Europe/Africa/ Former Latin/South
United States Middle East Asia Pacific Canada Soviet Union America Consolidated
2022 $ 166,701 $ 200,863 $ 32,688 $ 27,797 $ 29,514 $ 32,172 $ 489,735
2021 $ 148183 $ 199,798 $ 39308 $ 26,167 $ 33804 $ 22,992 $ 470,252
2020 $ 158,937 $ 208,862 $ 44440 $§ 16,616 $ 31498 $ 26,914 $ 487267




While we are subject to fluctuations and changes in currency exchange rates relating to our international operations, we attempt to limit
our exposure to foreign currency fluctuations by limiting the amount in which our foreign contracts are denominated in a currency other
than the U.S. dollar. However, the ultimate decision as to the proportion of the foreign currency component within a contract usually
resides with our clients. Consequently, we are not always able to eliminate our foreign currency exposure. We have not historically
engaged in and are not currently engaged in any significant currency hedging or trading transactions designed to compensate for
adverse currency fluctuations.

Environment and Climate

Governmental Laws and Regulations

We are subject to stringent governmental laws and regulations, both in the United States and other countries, pertaining to protection of
the environment. Compliance with environmental legal requirements in the United States at the federal, state or local levels may require
acquiring permits to conduct regulated activities, incurring capital expenditures to limit or prevent emissions, discharges and any unau-
thorized releases, and complying with stringent practices to handle, recycle and dispose of certain wastes. Failure to comply with these
laws and regulations may result in the assessment of administrative, civil and criminal penalties, the imposition of remedial or correc-
tive obligations, the occurrence of delays or cancellations in the permitting, performance or expansion of projects and the issuance of
injunctive relief in affected areas.

We have developed policies and procedures associated with the management, handling, recycling or disposal of chemicals and gases
and other materials and wastes resulting from our operations. In areas where environmental regulations do not exist, we have estab-
lished other policies and procedures in efforts to preserve the environment.

Additionally, our analytical and manufacturing processes involve the handling and use of numerous chemicals and gases as well as the
generation of wastes. Spills or other unauthorized releases of these chemicals, gases, and wastes at our facilities, whether by us or prior
owners or operators, or at offsite locations where we transport them for recycling or disposal, could subject us to environmental liability,
either from the applicable government agency or private landowners or other third parties. Such liabilities could be strict, joint and sev-
eral, as is applicable in the United States under such laws as the federal Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and
Liability Act and the federal Resource Conservation and Recovery Act and analogous state laws. This could also include costs of clean-
ing up chemicals and wastes released into the environment and for damages to persons, properties or natural resources. As a result of
such actions, we could be required to remove previously disposed wastes (including wastes disposed of or released by prior owners or
operators), remediate environmental contamination (including contaminated groundwater), and undertake measures to prevent future
contamination. We may be subject to claims alleging personal injury or property damage as a result of alleged exposure to hazardous
substances as well as damage to natural resources. We may not be able to recover some or any of these remedial or corrective costs
from insurance.

Environmental laws and regulations, and their interpretation, frequently change, and have tended to become more stringent over time.
New, modified or stricter enforcement of environmental laws and regulations could be adopted or implemented that significantly
increase our compliance costs, pollution mitigation costs, or the cost of any remediation of environmental contamination that may
become necessary, and these costs could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operation, or
cash flows.

Historically, our environmental compliance costs have not had a material adverse effect on our results of operations; however, there can
be no assurance that such costs will not be material in the future or that such future compliance will not have a material adverse effect
on our business or results of operations.

Our clients in the oil and gas industry are also subject to many of the same laws and regulations relating to environmental protection in
the United States and in foreign countries where we operate. In particular, we, our third-party vendors that supply us with goods and ser-
vices in support of our business, and our clients are subject to an increased governmental and public focus on risks associated with the
threat of climate change arising from the emission of greenhouse gases (“GHG”). Our and our clients’ compliance with such existing, or
any new or amended legal requirements that are placed into effect and applicable in areas where we or our clients conduct operations,
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could result in our or our clients” incurring significant additional expense and operating restrictions. Qur costs may not be fully recover-
able from our clients and, thus, could reduce net income. To the extent any such existing or future legal requirements result in increased
costs or restrictions or cancellation in the operation of our clients, such developments could reduce demand for our products and ser-
vices and have an indirect material adverse effect on our business.

In addition, we depend on the demand for our products and services from the oil and gas industry and, therefore, are affected by chang-
ing taxes, price controls, tariffs and trade restrictions, and other laws and regulations relating to the oil and gas industry in general,
including those specifically directed to hydraulic fracturing, onshore production, air pollution, and climate change.

Access to capital is another risk that may be impacted by climate change policies as shareholders, bondholders and institutional lenders
currently invested in fossil-fuel energy companies or supporting entities such as ours but concerned about the potential effects of cli-
mate change may elect in the future to shift some or all of their investments into non-fossil fuel energy related sectors.

Consequently, to the extent one or more of these climate-related events are incurred by us, our third party vendors, or our clients, any of
us could incur increased costs, we could incur disruptions to our operations as a result of our vendor’s inability to supply us with goods
and services, and our clients in particular could elect to delay, restrict or cancel drilling, exploration or production programs, which
could reduce demand for our products and services, any of which developments could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows.

Climate Related Initiatives

We are committed to reducing our physical risks and environmental footprint associated with climate change while improving our per-
formance and sustainability in line with the global transition toward lower carbon sources of energy. Core Lab has demonstrated its
transparency and accountability vital to tracking progress by disclosing its environmental impact through the Carbon Disclosure Project
(a non-profit that runs the world’s leading environmental disclosure platform, “CDP”) annual survey since 2014.

Physical Risk Analysis

In 2020, Core Lab conducted a physical risk assessment with the aid of a third-party sustainability data company for 100 of our loca-
tions to understand the exposure of our facilities and capital assets to climate change physical impacts under future climate change sce-
narios. Physical risks evaluated were water stress, flooding, heatwave, cold wave, hurricane, wildfire, and sea level rise using three
climate scenarios over time periods of 2020 (baseling), 2030 and 2050. Overall, we face moderate physical risk with our greatest expo-
sure to water stress and cold wave. Our overall exposure stays consistent throughout the scenarios, although exposure to cold wave
does show decline through the scenarios. These physical risks could result in loss of revenue, increase in our costs, including insur-
ance premiums, or affect the availability of insurance against such risks.

We do not have locations that are in a natural, rural environment. Before opening a new location, potential impacts to the environment
and community are considered by executive management. In the event we close a particular location, we ensure that the land and build-
ing are properly returned to a suitable condition. We also take steps to ensure that any potential environmental conditions have been
remediated as required by local regulation and standards.

GHG Emissions
Core Laboratories maintains a sustainability management system that tracks our consumption of non-renewable resources. We also
have engaged a third-party sustainability data company to quantify the impact of emissions categorized as:

e Scope 1 (direct GHG emissions that occur from sources that we control or own),
e Scope 2 (indirect GHG emissions associated with the purchase of electricity, steam, heat, or cooling) or

e Scope 3 (indirect emissions that occur upstream or downstream in our value chain)

This system assists us in setting science-based targets for our Scope 1 and Scope 2 emissions. Science-based targets aim to help com-
panies work towards limiting the increase in global average temperatures to below 2°C, a limit agreed upon by leading climate scientists
and governments to ensure long-term sustainability and profitability. These tools focus the Company’s efforts on reducing our environ-
mental footprint and provide the data needed to create other climate targets and goals.
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Our operational footprint is primarily from our office buildings and laboratories and their related electricity consumption (Scope 2 emis-
sion) and use of natural gas heating (Scope 1 emission). In our efforts to reduce GHG emissions, we choose responsible alternative
sources of electricity, such as renewable sources or low-carbon emission natural gas when there are options available. We also con-
sume fuel to operate field vehicles (Scope 1 emission), however, this is limited to our staff working in the field and is not a significant
emission component of our total operations. Most of the value chain emissions (Scope 3 emissions) occur upstream from our opera-
tions and are from purchased goods and services.

Occupational Safety and Health Regulations

Our operations in the United Sates are subject to stringent occupational safety and health laws and regulations, which are intended to
protect worker health and safety, including the federal Occupational Safety and Health Act, which establishes requirements to protect the
health and safety of workers. The U.S. Occupational Safety and Health Administration (“OSHA”) hazard communication standard, the
Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”) community right-to-know regulations under Title Il of the federal Superfund Amendment and
Reauthorization Act and comparable state statutes require maintenance of information about hazardous materials used or produced in
operations and provision of this information to employees, state and local government authorities and citizens. The federal Bureau of
Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives (“ATF”) establishes requirements for the safe use and storage of explosives. Substantial
fines and penalties can be imposed and orders or injunctions limiting or prohibiting certain operations may be issued in connection
with any failure to comply with these laws and regulations. Foreign countries in which we conduct operations may also have analogous
controls that regulate our worker safety-related activities, which controls may impose additional, or more stringent requirements. Con-
sistent with our quality assurance and control principles, we have established proactive worker safety policies in the United States and
foreign countries, which meet or exceed applicable worker safety legal requirements.

As discussed above, our processes involve the handling and use of numerous chemicals and gases as well as the generation of waste
which could cause harm to our employees. Such work is performed in an industrial or laboratory setting, or at our clients’ worksite
which would also require travel. These types of conditions are susceptible to workplace accidents.

Historically, our worker safety compliance costs have not had a material adverse effect on our results of operations; however, there can
be no assurance that such costs will not be material in the future or that such future compliance will not have a material adverse effect
on our business or results of operations.

Competition

The business in which we engage is competitive. Some of our competitors are divisions or subsidiaries of companies that are larger and
have greater financial and other resources than we have. While no one company competes with us in all of our service and product
lines, we face competition in these lines, primarily from independent regional companies and internal divisions of major integrated oil
and gas companies. We compete in different service and product lines to various degrees on the basis of price, technical performance,
availability, quality and technical support. Our ability to compete successfully depends on elements both within and outside of our con-
trol, including successful and timely development of new services and products, performance and quality, client service, pricing, indus-
try trends and general economic trends.

Reliance on the 0il and Gas Industry

Our business and operations are substantially dependent upon the condition of the global oil and gas industry. Future downturns in the
oil and gas industry, or in the oilfield services business as well as the adoption and implementation of legislation, executive orders, and
other regulatory initiatives that seek to combat climate change by restricting fossil fuel activities, limiting GHG emissions, certain meth-
ods of extraction of oil and gas, or the locations in which such activities may be conducted, may have a material adverse effect on our
financial position, results of operations or cash flows. This risk factor is perhaps amplified given recent pronouncements and actions
taken by the executive and/or legislative branches of the U.S. government in an uncertain and shifting political environment.

The oil and gas industry is highly cyclical and has been subject to significant economic downturns at various times as a result of numer-
ous factors affecting the supply of and demand for oil and natural gas, including the level of capital expenditures of the oil and gas indus-
try, the level of drilling activity, the level of production activity, market prices of oil and gas, economic conditions existing in the world,
interest rates and the cost of capital, environmental regulations, tax policies, political requirements of national governments, coordination
by the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries (*“OPEC”), cost of producing oil and natural gas, and technological advances.
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The success of our business has been underpinned by developing industry leading technologies used in evaluating and improving res-
ervoir performance, increasing oil and gas recovery from new and existing fields, as well as evaluating potential CCS sites in the sub-
surface both onshore and offshore. Many of these technologies have been developed to meet the needs of our clients, which continue to
evolve with demands in both traditional energy sources and with energy transition. As energy transition continues to evolve, our busi-
ness may become more dependent on the continued innovation and adoption of our industry leading technologies.

Human Capital

We are primarily a service provider in the oilfield services industry, so our workforce includes employees who are highly skilled profes-
sionals, including engineers and geologists, and other technical personnel, in addition to our administrative employees. As of
December 31, 2022, we had approximately 3,600 employees. We do not have any material collective bargaining agreements and con-
sider relations with our employees to be good.

Our Core Values: (1) Safety Awareness, (2) Honesty & Integrity, (3) Customer Focus, (4) Building Trust and (5) Employee Development,
define us as a company and are the framework that unite us on the path toward achieving our goals and propelling Core Lab forward.
These values represent and establish the foundation by which we treat each other, conduct our business and simply define “how we do
things around here”. By embedding our Core Values into our operating strategies, we ensure that our company culture and mission also
drive our Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) sustainability efforts. We keep our employees informed of major business
developments through CoreConnect, a communication initiative to drive connection and engagement between employees and executive
leadership and through contact by extended leadership teams, periodic emails, quarterly newsletters, quarterly reports, and annual
gvents.

Core Lab values its employees and is committed to providing resources that engage employees, enhance their work experience, and
develop them for the future. To assist in this pledge, Core Lab has created its talent management strategy based on the employee life
cycle. To ensure we have a diverse employee population reflective of our communities and client base, we've implemented recruiting
practices that support and encourage the hiring and retention of diverse talent. Our total rewards approach is aligned to our business
strategy and country-specific market influences. We offer competitive compensation and benefit programs in each country where we
operate. Qur approach not only encompasses competitive compensation and benefits, but also personal and professional growth oppor-
tunities within a global performance culture.

We develop our employees through performance management processes, competency-based development plans and training both in
leadership and functional areas while also offering educational assistance programs. Recently, we expanded our talent assessment pro-
cess to identify emerging technical and leadership talent across the Company. Our annual performance management cycle is an
ongoing process that enables managers and employees to collaborate throughout the year to set performance goals and development
objectives that align to business objectives. This process is designed to help employees understand where they add value to the organi-
zation, provide focus on and discussion around career aspirations, and reward employees for high performance.

We aspire to attract a diverse group of employees and create an inclusive work culture where differences are valued. We recognize the
unique perspectives and thoughts that all people bring to our environment stimulates innovation and generates out-of-the-box solutions
that benefit our employees, clients and industry. We promote a culture-centric focus on the health and safety of our employees and the
environment with a pro-active approach towards identifying and managing risks through recognition, evaluation, and education. We
empower our employees by fostering a sense of responsibility for managing their own work environment through open communication,
and a management-supported “zero accident” culture.

Web Site Access to Our Periodic SEC Reports

Our primary internet address is http.//www.corelab.com. We file or furnish Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Annual Reports on Form
10-K, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and any amendments to those reports with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”).
These reports are available free of charge through our web site as soon as reasonably practicable after they are filed or furnished elec-
tronically with the SEC. We may from time to time provide important disclosures to investors by posting them in the investor relations
section of our web site, as allowed by SEC rules.
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The SEC maintains an internet website at http.//www.sec.gov that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other infor-
mation regarding our company that we file electronically with the SEC. References to the Company’s website in this Form 10-K are pro-
vided as a convenience and do not constitute, and should not be deemed, an incorporation by reference of the information contained on,
or available through, the website, and such information should not be considered part of this Form 10-K.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Our forward-looking Statements are based on assumptions that we believe to be reasonable but that may not prove to be accurate. All of
our forward-looking information is, therefore, subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from
the results expected. All known, material risks and uncertainties are discussed below.

Risk factors associated with the industry in which we operate

Events beyond Core Lab’s control, including a global or domestic health crisis, have resulted and may continue to result
in unexpected adverse operating and financial results.

The COVID-19 pandemic has significantly reduced demand for our services, and has had, and is likely to continue to have, a material
adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. The effects of the COVID-19 pandemic have resulted in a
significant and swift reduction in international and U.S. economic activity. The reduced demand for oil caused by this unprecedented
global health and economic crisis, coupled with an oversupply of oil, led to a decrease of oil prices. Government reaction to the pan-
demic and restrictions and limitations applied by governments, continued widespread growth in infections, travel restrictions, quaran-
tines, or site closures as a result of the virus could, among other things, impact the ability of Core Lab’s employees and contractors to
perform their duties, cause increased technology and security risk due to extended and company-wide telecommuting, lead to disrup-
tions in Core Lab’s logistics and negatively affect customer relationships as a result. All of these factors may impact the timing of the
recognition of revenue and results of operations for a particular quarter.

The extent to which our operating and financial results will continue to be affected by COVID-19 will depend on various factors and con-
sequences beyond our control, which will depend on numerous evolving factors and future developments that we are not able to predict,
including, but not limited to, the following:

e the length of time that the pandemic continues;

e its effect on the demand for oil and natural gas;

e the response of the overall economy and the financial markets;

e the effect of governmental actions taken in response to the pandemic; and

e the speed and effectiveness of responses to combat the virus, including vaccine development and distribution.

Any of those outcomes could have a material adverse effect on Core Lab’s business, financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows and could perhaps amplify risk factors described in this Form 10-K.

Any cost reduction initiatives that Core Lab undertakes may not deliver the results it expects, and these actions may
adversely affect its business.

In response to the financial risks presented by COVID-19, Core Lab implemented a variety of cost-cutting measures which began in
March 2020, continued in 2021 and were partially restored in 2022. As business conditions change the Company may need to imple-
ment additional cost-cutting measures that may adversely affect its business. These cost-cutting measures have included reductions in
the quarterly dividend, base salaries of senior executives and employees, annual capital expenditures, implementation of temporary
employee furloughs, and workforce reductions, among other reductions of corporate and operating costs.

In addition, these initiatives could result in disruptions to Core Lab’s operations. Any cost-cutting measures could also negatively
impact Core Lab’s business by delaying the introduction of new products or technologies, interrupting service of additional products, or
impacting employee retention. There can be no assurance that additional costs will not offset any such reductions of its operations. If
Core Lab’s operating costs are higher than expected, or if it does not maintain adequate control of its costs and expenses, Core Lab’s
results of operations will suffer. If Core Lab is unable to mitigate these or other potential risks related to its cost cutting initiatives, it may
disrupt Core Lab’s business or could have a material adverse effect on its financial condition and results of operations.
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Downturns in the oil and gas industry, or in the oilfield services business, may have a material adverse effect on our
financial condition or results of operations.

The oil and gas industry is highly cyclical and demand for the majority of our oilfield services and products is substantially dependent
on the level of expenditures by the oil and gas industry for the exploration, development and production of crude oil and natural gas
reserves, which are sensitive to oil and natural gas prices and generally dependent on the industry’s view of future oil and gas prices.
There are numerous factors affecting the supply of and demand for our services and products, which are summarized as:

e general and economic business conditions, including market prices of oil and gas and expectations about future prices;
e the adoption of legal requirements or taxation;

e changes in existing laws, regulations or other governmental actions;

e cost of producing and the ability to deliver oil and natural gas;

e the level of drilling and production activity;

e financial condition of our client base and their ability to fund capital expenditures;

e coordination by the OPEC;

e civil unrest or political uncertainty in oil producing or consuming countries;

e |evel of consumption of oil, gas and petrochemicals by consumers;

e availability of services and materials for our clients to grow their capital expenditures and to deliver product to market; and
e availability of materials and equipment from key suppliers.

The oil and gas industry has historically experienced periodic downturns, which have been characterized by diminished demand for our
oilfield services and products and downward pressure on the prices we charge. A significant downturn in the oil and gas industry could
result in a reduction in demand for oilfield services and could adversely affect our operating results.

Changes in macro-economic factors impacting the oil and gas industry may negatively affect our ability to accurately
predict client demand, which could cause us to hold excess or obsolete inventory and experience a reduction in gross
margins and financial results.

We cannot accurately predict which or what level of our services and products our clients will need in the future. Orders are placed with
our suppliers based on forecasts of client demand and, in some instances, we may establish buffer inventories to accommodate antici-
pated demand. Our forecasts of client demand are based on multiple assumptions, each of which may introduce errors into the esti-
mates. In addition, many of our suppliers require a longer lead time to provide products than our clients’ demand for delivery of our
finished products. If we overestimate client demand, we may allocate resources to the purchase of materials or manufactured products
that we may not be able to sell when we expect to, if at all. As a result, we could hold excess or obsolete inventory, which would reduce
gross margin and adversely affect financial results. Conversely, if we underestimate client demand or if insufficient manufacturing
capacity is available, we could miss revenue opportunities and potentially lose market share and damage our client relationships. In
addition, any future significant cancellations or deferrals of service contracts or product orders could materially and adversely affect
profit margins, increase product obsolescence and restrict our ability to fund our operations.

We are subject to the physical effects of climate change, which may adversely affect our business and results of
operations.

Core Laboratories operates from locations around the globe and provides services in coastal regions and coastal cities and services
related to marine shipping activities of our clients. These locations and activities are susceptible to the physical effects of climate
change, such as increased frequency or severity of tropical storm systems, hurricanes, droughts, floods, extreme winter weather, or geo-
logic/geophysical conditions that may result in:

e decreased or lost production capacity;

e |oss of or reduced supply chain availability;

e temporary closure of locations due to electricity outages, damages or disruptions caused by extreme weather events;
e (displacement of employees; and

e increase in premium for or reduced ability to obtain insurance for property, business interruption and liability.
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Risk factors associated with our international presence

We depend on the results of our international operations, which expose us to risks inherent in doing business abroad.
We conduct our business in over 50 countries. Our operations, and those of our clients, are subject to the various laws, regulations and
other legal requirements of those respective countries as well as various risks peculiar to each country, which may include, but are not
limited to:

e global economic conditions;

e political actions and requirements of national governments including trade restrictions, embargoes, seizure, detention, nationaliza-
tion and expropriation of assets;

e interpretation of tax statutes and requirements of taxing authorities worldwide, including the United States, routine examination by
taxing authorities and assessment of additional taxes, penalties and/or interest;

e trade and economic sanctions, tariffs or other restrictions imposed by the European Union, the United Kingdom, the United States
or other countries;

e civil unrest;

® acts of terrorism;

e fluctuations and changes in currency exchange rates (see section below);

e the impact of inflation;

e (ifficulty in repatriating foreign currency received in excess of the local currency requirements;

e current conditions in oil producing countries such as Venezuela, Nigeria, Libya, Iran and Iraq considering their potential impact on
the world markets; and

e geopolitical conflicts in the countries or regions we operate in, including the Russia-Ukraine conflict.

Historically, economic downturns and political events have resulted in lower demand for our services and products in certain markets.
The continuing instability in the Middle East, North Africa and Ukraine, and the potential for activity from terrorist groups that the U.S.
government has cautioned against have further heightened our exposure to international risks. The global economy is highly influenced
by public confidence in the geopolitical environment and the situation in the Middle East, North Africa, Russia and Ukraine continues to
be highly fluid; therefore, we expect to experience heightened international risks.

From time to time, certain geopolitical conflicts may lead to imposition of economic sanctions and associated export controls applicable
to our operations. These sanctions may be imposed against certain countries, companies and individuals that may restrict or prohibit
transactions involving the countries, companies and individuals identified, which may also further restrict or prohibit us in conducting
sales and maintaining operations in any of these jurisdictions.

Our operations may be adversely affected by sanctions, export controls, and similar measures targeting Russia and
other countries and territories as well as other responses to Russia’s military conflict in Ukraine.

The recent geopolitical conflict between Russia and Ukraine has resulted in the U.S. government, European Union, the United Kingdom
and other countries imposing broad-ranging and coordinated economic sanctions and export control measures against Russia, Belarus,
the Crimea Region of Ukraine, the so-called Donetsk People’s Republic and the so-called Luhansk People’s Republic, including, among
others:

e aprohibition on doing business with certain Russian companies, large financial institutions, officials and oligarchs;
e aprohibition on commercial activities in the so-called Donetsk People’s Republic and the so-called Luhansk People’s Republic;

e a3 commitment by certain countries and the European Union to remove selected Russian banks from the Society for Worldwide
Interbank Financial Telecommunications (“SWIFT”), the electronic banking network that connects banks globally;

e aban on imports of Russian crude oil and certain refined petroleum products originating in or exported from Russia to the
European Union, subject to limited exceptions;
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e aban on imports of Russian crude oil, liquefied natural gas and coal to the United States;
e aban on new investment in the Russian energy sector; and

e enhanced export controls and trade sanctions targeting Russia’s importation of certain goods and technology, including restrictive
measures on the export and re-export of dual-use goods, stricter licensing policy with respect to issuing export licenses, and
increased use of “end-use” controls to block or impose licensing requirements on exports.

Due to the international scope of our operations, the Company is subject to various laws and regulations, including regulations issued
by the U.S. Department of Treasury, the U.S. Department of State, the Bureau of Industry and Security and Office of Foreign Asset Con-
trol, as well as the counterparts of these agencies in foreign countries. The Company actively monitors changes in these regulations as
they pertain to the goods and services we provide and their impact on our business, including our business partners and customers.

As the conflict in Ukraine continues, these sanctions may change and be expanded, which could further hinder the Company’s ability to
do business in Russia or with certain Russian entities, which could have an adverse impact on the Company’s financial condition and
results of operations. Furthermore, in retaliation against new international sanctions and as part of measures to stabilize and support the
volatile Russian financial and currency markets, Russian authorities imposed significant currency control measures aimed at restricting
the outflow of foreign currency and capital from Russia, imposed various restrictions on transacting with non-Russian parties, banned
exports of various products and other economic and financial restrictions.

The Company routinely screens existing business partners globally against Specially Designated National / Restricted Persons lists. All
new engagements with business partners are screened prior to the beginning of any business relationship. Individuals or entities that
become subject to applicable sanctions are immediately blocked from further commercial activity with the Company until confirmed by
the Company’s legal counsel whether permissible to proceed pursuant to a general or special license or other exemption, or a change in
facts.

Furthermore, while we have policies, procedures and internal controls in place designed to ensure compliance with applicable sanctions
and trade restrictions, and though the current effects from the Russia-Ukraine conflict have, thus far, not resulted in a material adverse
impact to the Company’s financial condition or results of operations, our employees, contractors, and agents may take actions in viola-
tion of such policies and applicable law and we could be held ultimately responsible. We rely on our employees to adhere to the poli-
cies, procedures and internal controls we have established to maintain compliance with evolving sanctions and export controls. To that
end, we have implemented training programs, both in person and online, to educate our employees on applicable sanctions and export
controls laws. If we are held responsible for a violation of U.S. or other countries’ sanctions laws, we may be subject to various penal-
ties, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Should future sanctions require us to cease or wind down our Russian operations, our assets located there may be impacted and could
become subject to impairment. As of December 31, 2022, the Company'’s fixed assets in Russia were $4.1 million, or approximately 4%
of the Company’s total fixed assets and less than 1% of the Company’s total assets. Additionally, the Company leases its operating
facilities in Russia, and as of December 31, 2022, the contractual obligation to exit these leased facilities is approximately $1.0 million.
For the year ended December 31, 2022, revenue attributable to our operations in Russia was $22.9 million, representing less than 5% of
the Company’s total revenue. Additionally, for the year ended December 31, 2022, we released $0.6 million of accrued withholding tax
associated with $12.0 million of undistributed earnings from our Russian subsidiary, which are not expected to be distributed in the
foreseeable future. Also, cessation of our Russian operations resulting from future sanctions may cause us to incur employee severance
and other associated costs statutorily required under local labor laws.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, revenue attributable to the Company’s Ukraine operations and fixed assets located in
Ukraine, were not significant to the Company’s total revenue and total fixed assets.

We are actively monitoring the situation in Ukraine and assessing its impact on our operations in the region, including our business
partners and customers. We have not experienced any material interruptions in our infrastructure, supplies or networks needed to sup-
port our operations. However, the situation is rapidly evolving and the United States, the European Union, the United Kingdom and other
countries may implement additional sanctions, export controls or other measures against Russia, Belarus and other countries, regions,
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officials, individuals or industries in the respective territories. We have no way to predict the progress or outcome of the conflict in
Ukraine or its impacts in Ukraine, Russia or Belarus as the conflict, and any resulting government responses, are fluid and beyond our
control.

The Russia-Ukraine conflict may also heighten many other risks, any of which could materially and adversely affect our business and
results of operations. Such risks include, but are not limited to, adverse effects on global macroeconomic conditions, including
increased inflation; increased volatility in the price and demand of oil and natural gas, increased exposure to cyberattacks; limitations in
our ability to implement and execute our business strategy; risks to employees and contractors that we have in the region; disruptions in
global supply chains; exposure to foreign currency fluctuations and potential nationalizations and assets seizures in Russia, constraints
or disruption in the capital markets and our sources of liquidity; our potential inability to service our remaining performance obligations
and potential contractual breaches and litigation.

Our results of operations may be significantly affected by foreign currency exchange rate risk.

We are exposed to risks due to fluctuations in currency exchange rates. By the nature of our business, we derive a substantial amount of
our revenue from our international operations, where certain of our customer contracts are in foreign currencies that subject us to risks
relating to fluctuations in currency exchange rates.

Our results of operations may be adversely affected because our efforts to comply with applicable anti-corruption laws
such as the United States’ Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (the “FCPA”) and the United Kingdom’s Anti-Bribery Act (the
“ABA”) could restrict our ability to do business in foreign markets relative to our competitors who are not subject to
these laws.

We operate in many parts of the world that have experienced governmental corruption to some degree and, in certain circumstances,
strict compliance with anti-bribery laws may conflict with local customs and practices. We may be subject to competitive disadvantages
to the extent that our competitors are able to secure business, licenses or other preferential treatment by making payments to govern-
ment officials and others in positions of influence or through other methods that we are prohibited from using.

We are subject to the regulations imposed by the FCPA and the ABA, which generally prohibits us and our intermediaries from making
improper payments to foreign officials for the purpose of obtaining or keeping business. In particular, we may be held liable for actions
taken by our strategic or local partners even though our partners are not subject to these laws. Any such violations could result in sub-
stantial civil and/or criminal penalties and might adversely affect our business, results of operations or financial condition. In addition,
our ability to continue to work in these parts of the world discussed above could be adversely affected if we were found to have violated
certain laws, including the FCPA and the ABA.

Because we are a Netherlands company, it may be difficult for you to take legal action against our supervisory directors
or us and it may not be possible to obtain or enforce judgments against us.

Although we are a Netherlands company, our assets are located in a variety of countries. In addition, not all members of our Board of
Supervisory Directors (the “Supervisory Board”) are residents of the same countries as other supervisory directors. As a result, it may
not be possible for you to effect service of process within certain countries upon our supervisory directors, or to enforce against our
supervisory directors or use judgments of courts of certain countries predicated upon civil liabilities under a country’s federal securities
laws. Because there is no treaty between certain countries and the Netherlands providing for the reciprocal recognition and enforcement
of judgments, some countries’ judgments are not automatically enforceable in the Netherlands or in the United States, where the princi-
pal market for our shares is located. In addition, there is doubt as to whether a court in one country would impose civil liability on us or
on the members of the Supervisory Board in an original action brought against us or our supervisory directors in a court of competent
jurisdiction in another country and predicated solely upon the federal securities laws of that other country.

Risk factors associated with technology advancement

If we are not able to develop or acquire new services or products or our services and products become technologically
obsolete, our results of operations may be adversely affected.

The market for our services and products is characterized by changing technology and product introduction. As a result, our success is
dependent upon our ability to develop or acquire new services and products on a cost-effective basis and to introduce them into the
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marketplace in a timely manner. While we intend to continue committing substantial financial resources and effort to the development or
acquisition of new services and products, we may not be able to successfully differentiate our services and products from those of our
competitors. Our clients may not consider our proposed services and products to be of value to them; or if the proposed services and
products are of a competitive nature, our clients may not view them as superior to our competitors’ services and products. In addition,
we may not be able to adapt to evolving markets and technologies, develop or acquire new services or products, or achieve and main-
tain technological advantages.

If we are unable to continue developing or acquiring competitive services and products in a timely manner in response to changes in
technology, our business and operating results may be materially and adversely affected. In addition, continuing development or acqui-
sition of new products inherently carries the risk of inventory obsolescence with respect to our older products.

If we are unable to obtain patents, licenses and other intellectual property rights covering our services and products, our
operating results may be adversely affected.

Our success depends, in part, on our ability to obtain patents, licenses and other intellectual property rights covering our services and
products. To that end, we have obtained certain patents and intend to continue to seek patents on some of our inventions, services and
products. While we have patented some of our key technologies, we do not patent all of our proprietary technology, even when regarded
as patentable. The process of seeking patent protection can be long and expensive. There can be no assurance that patents will be
issued from currently pending or future applications or that, if patents are issued, they will be of sufficient scope or strength to provide
meaningful protection or any commercial advantage to us. In addition, effective copyright and trade secret protection may be unavailable
or limited in certain countries. Litigation, which could demand significant financial and management resources, may be necessary to
enforce our patents or other intellectual property rights. Also, there can be no assurance that we can obtain licenses or other rights to
necessary intellectual property on acceptable terms.

Our operations are subject to the risk of cyber-attacks that could have a material adverse effect on our consolidated
results of operations and consolidated financial condition.

Our information technology systems are subject to possible breaches and other threats that could cause us harm. Although we devote
significant resources to protect our systems, there can be no assurance that our systems will prevent or limit the effects of cyber-attacks
or will be sufficient to prevent or detect, or to avoid a material adverse impact on our systems when such attacks do occur. If our sys-
tems for protecting against cyber-attacks prove not to be sufficient, we could be adversely affected by loss or damage of intellectual
property, proprietary information, client data, our reputation, interruption of business operations, or additional costs to prevent, respond
to, or mitigate cyber-attacks. These risks could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and financial con-
dition.

Risk factors associated with our supply chain, resources, liquidity and capital management

We are subject to the risk of supplier concentration.

Certain of our product lines depend on a limited number of third party suppliers and vendors available in the marketplace. As a result of
this concentration in some of our supply chains, our business and operations could be negatively affected if our key suppliers were to
experience significant disruptions affecting the price, quality, availability or timely delivery of their products. For example, we have a
limited number of vendors for our manufactured product lines. The partial or complete loss of any one of our key suppliers, or a signifi-
cant adverse change in the relationship with any of these suppliers, through consolidation or otherwise, would limit our ability to manu-
facture and sell certain of our products.

There are risks relating to our acquisition strategy. If we are unable to successfully integrate and manage businesses
that we have acquired and any businesses acquired in the future, our results of operations and financial condition could
be adversely affected.

One of our key business strategies is to acquire technologies, operations and assets that are complementary to our existing business.
There are financial, operational and legal risks inherent in any acquisition strategy, including:

e increased financial leverage;

e ability to obtain additional financing;
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e increased interest expense; and
e (ifficulties involved in combining disparate company cultures and facilities.

The success of any completed acquisition will depend on our ability to effectively integrate the acquired business into our existing oper-
ations. The process of integrating acquired businesses may involve unforeseen difficulties and may require a disproportionate amount
of our managerial and financial resources. In addition, possible future acquisitions may be larger and for purchase prices significantly
higher than those paid for earlier acquisitions. No assurance can be given that we will be able to continue to identify additional suitable
acquisition opportunities, negotiate acceptable terms, obtain financing for acquisitions on acceptable terms or successfully acquire
identified targets. Our failure to achieve consolidation savings, to incorporate the acquired businesses and assets into our existing oper-
ations successfully or to minimize any unforeseen operational difficulties could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition
and results of operation.

We may be unable to attract and retain skilled and technically knowledgeable employees, which could adversely affect
our business.

Our success depends upon attracting and retaining highly skilled professionals and other technical personnel. A number of our employ-
ees are highly skilled engineers, geologists and highly trained technicians, and our failure to continue to attract and retain such individ-
uals could adversely affect our ability to compete in the oilfield services industry. In periods of high utilization, there may be a shortage
of skilled and technical personnel available in the market, potentially compounding the difficulty of attracting and retaining these
employees. As a result, our business, results of operations and financial condition may be materially adversely affected.

We require a significant amount of cash to service our indebtedness, make capital expenditures, fund our working
capital requirements and pay our dividend, and our ability to generate cash may depend on factors beyond our control.
Our ability to make payments on and to refinance our indebtedness, to fund planned capital expenditures, and pay our dividend
depends, in part, on our ability to generate cash in the future. This ability is, to a certain extent, subject to general economic, financial,
competitive, legislative, regulatory and other factors that are beyond our control.

No assurance can be given that we will generate sufficient cash flows from operations or that future borrowings will be available to us in
an amount sufficient to enable us to service and repay our indebtedness or to fund our other liquidity needs. If we are unable to satisfy
our debt obligations, we may have to undertake alternative financing plans, such as refinancing or restructuring our indebtedness, sell-
ing assets, reducing or delaying capital investments or seeking to raise additional capital. We cannot assure that any refinancing or debt
restructuring would be possible or, if possible, would be completed on favorable or acceptable terms, that any assets could be sold or
that, if sold, the timing of the sales and the amount of proceeds realized from those sales would be favorable to us or that additional
financing could be obtained on acceptable terms.

Disruptions in the capital and credit markets could adversely affect our ability to refinance our indebtedness, including our ability to
borrow under our existing revolving credit facility. Banks that are party to our existing revolving credit facility may not be able to meet
their funding commitments to us if they experience shortages of capital and liquidity or if they experience excessive volumes of borrow-
ing requests from us and other borrowers within a short period of time.

Risk factors associated with health, safety and the environment

We are subject to a variety of environmental and occupational safety and health laws and regulations, which may result
in increased costs and significant liability to our business.

We are subject to a variety of stringent governmental laws and regulations, both in the United States and foreign countries relating to
protection of the environment, and occupational health and safety. Certain of these laws and regulations may impose joint and several,
strict liability for environmental liabilities, such as the remediation of historical contamination or recent spills, and failure to comply with
such laws and regulations could result in the assessment of damages, fines and penalties, the imposition of remedial or corrective
action obligations, the occurrence of delays or cancellations in permitting or development of projects, or the suspension or cessation of
some or all of our operations. These stringent laws and regulations could require us to acquire permits or other authorizations to con-
duct regulated activities, install and maintain costly equipment and pollution control technologies, impose specific safety and health
standards addressing work protection, or to incur costs or liabilities to mitigate or remediate pollution conditions caused by our opera-
tions or attributable to former owners or operators.

20



Additionally, our clients are also subject to many of the same laws and regulations relating to environmental protection and occupa-
tional safety and health in the United States and in foreign countries where we operate. To the extent existing environmental laws and
regulations or any new or more stringently enforced environmental legal requirements significantly increase our clients’ compliance
costs, pollution mitigation costs or remedial costs, our clients could elect to delay, restrict or cancel drilling, exploration or production
programs, which could reduce demand for our products and services and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial con-
dition, results of operations, or cash flows. See Part I, ltem 1, “Environment and Climate” for more discussion on these matters.

Legislative and regulatory initiatives relating to oil and gas development and the potential for related litigation could
result in increased costs and additional operating restrictions or delays for our clients, which could reduce demand for
our products or services.

Environmental laws and regulations could limit our clients” exploration and production activities. For example, hydraulic fracturing con-
tinues to attract considerable public and governmental attention, both in the United States and in foreign countries, resulting in various
controls applied to fracturing activities or locations where such activities may be performed. Although we do not directly engage in dril-
ling or hydraulic fracturing activities, we provide products and services to operators in the oil and gas industry.

Hydraulic fracturing is a process used by oil and gas exploration and production operators in the completion of certain oil and gas wells
whereby water, sand or other proppants and chemical additives are injected under pressure into subsurface formations to stimulate gas

and, to a lesser extent, oil production. Some countries outside the United States, such as Bulgaria, the Czech Republic and France, cur-
rently have imposed moratoria on hydraulic fracturing while other countries, such as Canada, allow fracturing activities but those activ-

ities are not as widely pursued as they are in the United States. In the United States, the fracturing process is typically regulated by state
oil and gas commissions, but several federal agencies have asserted regulatory authority over certain aspects of the process.

A growing number of states have adopted, and other states are considering adopting, legal requirements that could impose more strin-
gent disclosure, permitting and/or well construction requirements on hydraulic fracturing operations, and local governments may also
seek to adopt ordinances within their jurisdictions regulating the time, place and manner of hydraulic fracturing activities.

If new or more stringent U.S. or foreign federal, regional, state or local legal restrictions related to the hydraulic fracturing process are
adopted in areas where our exploration and production clients operate, those clients could incur potentially significant added costs to
comply with such requirements and experience delays, curtailment or cancellation in the pursuit of exploration, development or produc-
tion activities, which could reduce demand for our products and services.

See “Environment and Climate” and “Occupational Safety and Health Regulations”, under Item 1 of this Form 10-K for further discus-
sion on environmental and worker safety and health matters.

We are subject to compliance with governmental requlations associated with climate change, energy conservation
measures, or initiatives that stimulate demand for alternative forms of energy that could result in increased costs, limit
the areas in which our clients’ oil and natural gas production may occur and reduce demand for our services, which may
aaversely affect our business and results of operations.

Climate change continues to attract considerable public, political and scientific attention in the United States and in foreign countries.
See Part |, Item 1, “Environment and Climate” for more discussion on the risks associated with attention to the threat of climate change
and restriction of GHG emissions. New or amended legislation, executive actions, regulations or other regulatory initiatives that impose
more stringent oil and gas sector requirements or fees on GHG emissions or restrict the areas in which this sector may produce oil and
natural gas or generate GHG emissions could result in increased compliance costs or costs of producing fossil fuels. Additionally, polit-
ical, financial and litigation risks may result in our clients restricting, delaying or canceling operational or production activities, incur-
ring liability for infrastructure damages as a result of climatic changes, restricting access to capital, or impairing the ability to continue
to operate in an economic manner, which could reduce demand for our products and services. Fuel conservation measures, alternative
fuel requirements and increasing consumer demand for, or legislative incentives supporting, alternative energy sources (such as wind,
solar, geothermal and tidal) could also reduce demand for oil and natural gas. The occurrence of one or more of these developments
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operation.
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Increasing attention to environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) matters may impact our business.

The European Union (“EU”), regulations associated with ESG and sustainability have been, and are being implemented and we anticipate
that these regulatory requirements will continue to expand in the EU, the United States and globally. As a result, numerous regulatory
initiatives have been made, and are likely to continue to be made, at the international, national, regional and state levels of government
to monitor and limit existing emissions of GHGs or implement laws, policies or regulatory initiatives that may contribute to energy con-
servation measures, stimulate demand for alternative forms of energy or limit areas where fossil fuel production may occur, which may
translate into reduced demand for our services.

Investor and societal expectations regarding voluntary ESG disclosures, and consumer demand for alternative forms of energy may result
in increased costs, reduced demand for our services, reduced profits, increased risks of governmental investigations and private party liti-
gation, and negative impacts on our stock price and access to capital markets. Our managerial ESG Steering Team is the primary group
for overseeing and managing our ESG initiatives. Team members review the implementation and effectiveness of our ESG programs and
policies and report on these matters to the Board of Supervisory Directors. While we have sought voluntary aspirational goals for GHG
emission reductions from base year 2018, we note that even with our governance oversight in place, we may not be able to adequately
identify or manage ESG-related risks and opportunities, which may include failing to achieve ESG-related aspirational goals. We have
published voluntary disclosures regarding ESG matters under an annual Sustainability Report and the Global Reporting Initiative, an inter-
national independent standards organization. From time to time, statements in those voluntary disclosures may be based on aspirational
expectations and assumptions that may or may not be representative of current or actual risks or events or forecasts of expected risks or
events, including the costs associated therewith. Such expectations and assumptions may be prone to error or subject to misinterpretation
given the lack of an established single approach to identifying, measuring and reporting on many ESG matters.

Risk factors associated with the Redomestication

The expected benefits of the Redomestication may not be realized.

There can be no assurance that all of the anticipated benefits of the Redomestication will be achieved. Achieving the anticipated benefits
of the Redomestication is subject to a number of risks and uncertainties, including factors that we do not and cannot control. In addi-
tion, if the expected benefits of the Redomestication do not meet expectations of investors or securities analysts, the price of our com-
mon stock following completion of the Redomestication may decline.

If the Redomestication does not qualify as a “reorganization” under Section 368(a) of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of
1986, as amended, Core Lab Shareholders may be required to pay U.S. federal income taxes.

It is intended that the steps in the Redomestication qualify as a form of “reorganization” within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the U.S.
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”). Although Vinson & Elkins L.L.P., Core Lab’s U.S. tax counsel, is currently of
the opinion that the Redomestication should qualify as a form of reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code, and
Core Lab, Core Laboratories Luxembourg S.A. and Core Laboratories Inc. intend to file tax returns consistent with this intended tax
treatment, this tax treatment is not free from doubt. Your tax advisor may not agree with our intended tax treatment and the IRS may
assert, or a court may sustain, a contrary position.

If the Redomestication did not qualify as a form of reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code, Core Lab Share-
holders would generally recognize taxable gain or loss upon their exchange of stock pursuant to the Redomestication, as applicable.

Core Lab will allocate time and resources to effecting the Redomestication and incur non-recurring costs related to the

Redomestication.

Core Lab and its management has allocated and will continue to be required to allocate time and resources to effecting the completion

of the Redomestication and related and incidental activities. There is a risk that the challenges associated with managing these various

initiatives may have a business impact and that consequently the underlying businesses will not perform in ling with expectations. This
could have an adverse effect on the business, financial condition and reputation of Core Laboratories Inc.

In addition, Core Lab expects to incur a number of non-recurring costs associated with the Redomestication, including legal fees,
accountants’ fees, proxy solicitor fees, filing fees, mailing expenses and financial printing expenses. There can be no assurance that the
actual costs will not exceed those estimated and the actual completion of the Redomestication may result in additional and unforeseen
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expenses. Most of these costs will be payable whether or not the Redomestication is completed. While it is expected that benefits of the
Redomestication achieved by Core Laboratories Inc. will offset these transaction costs over time, this net benefit may not be achieved in
the short-term or at all, particularly if the Redomestication is delayed or does not happen at all. These combined factors could adversely
affect the business, operating profit and overall financial condition of Core Laboratories Inc.

Core Lab may choose to defer or abandon the Redomestication.

Even if Core Lab Shareholder approval has been obtained and other conditions required to complete the Redomestication have been sat-
isfied, Core Lab may decide to defer or abandon the Redomestication at any time prior to the Effective Time of the Redomestication and
in such case Core Lab will have incurred costs and will have directed attention and resources relating to the Redomestication, but will
not realize any of the anticipated benefits of the Redomestication.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Currently, we have over 70 offices (totaling approximately 2.2 million square feet of space) in more than 50 countries. In these loca-
tions, we lease approximately 1.3 million square feet and own approximately 0.9 million square feet. We serve our worldwide clients
through six Advanced Technology Centers (“ATCs”) that are located in Aberdeen, Scotland; Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates; Calgary,
Canada; Houston, Texas; Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia; and Rotterdam, The Netherlands. The ATCs provide support for our more than 50
regional specialty centers located throughout the global energy producing provinces. In addition, our more significant manufacturing
facilities are located in Godley, Texas, Red Deer, Alberta, Canada and Pyle, Wales which are included in our Production Enhancement
operating segment. Our facilities are adequate for our current operations; however, expansion into new facilities or the replacement or
modification of existing facilities may be required to accommodate future growth.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

See Note 13 — Commitments and Contingencies of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
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PART Il
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Price Range of Common Shares
Our common shares trade on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”") under the symbol “CLB". Our common shares also traded on the
Euronext Amsterdam Stock Exchange until our voluntary delisting effective December 3, 2022.

On February 3, 2023, the closing price, as quoted by the NYSE, was $26.17 per share and there were 46,633,934 common shares
issued and outstanding held by approximately 211 record holders. These amounts exclude shares held by us as treasury shares.

See Part Il “ltem 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters” for discus-
sion of equity compensation plans.

Performance Graph

The following performance graph compares the performance of our common shares to the Standard & Poor’s 500 Index and the
Philadelphia Oil Service Index (“0SX”) for the period beginning December 31, 2017 and ending December 31, 2022. Core Lab is now
an established member of the OSX which includes a greater concentration of our most direct peers.

The graph assumes that the value of the investment in our common shares and each index was $100 at December 31, 2017 and that all
dividends were reinvested. The stockholder return set forth below is not necessarily indicative of future performance. The following
graph and related information is “furnished” and shall not be deemed “soliciting material” or to be “filed” with the SEC, nor shall such
information be incorporated by reference into any future filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended (the “Exchange Act”) except to the extent that Core Laboratories specifically incorporates it by reference into such filing.

Comparison of Five-Year Cumulative Total Return Among Core Laboratories,
S&P 500 Index and Philadelphia 0il Service Index (0SX)
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Share Repurchases in the Fourth Quarter of 2022
The following table provides information about our purchases of equity securities that are registered by us pursuant to Section 12 of the
Exchange Act during the three months ended December 31, 2022:

Total Number Of Shares | Maximum Number Of
Purchased As Part Of A Shares That May Be
Total Number Of Shares | Average Price Paid Per Publicly Announced Purchased Under The
Period Purchased Share Program Program @
QOctober 1, 2022 to
QOctober 31,2022 ) 11,654 $ 13.51 — 4,562,471
November 1, 2022 to
November 30, 2022 () 689 $ 19.70 — 4,564,602
December 1, 2022 to
December 31, 2022 (1) 69,948 $ 20.32 — 4,602,742
Total 82,291 $ 19.35 —

(1) During the quarter, 82,291 shares were surrendered to us by participants in a Stock-based compensation plan to settle any personal tax liabilities which may result from the award.
(2) During the quarter, 124,717 treasury shares were distributed relating to stock-based awards, including 38,293 in October, 2,820 in November and 83,604 in December.

In connection with our initial public offering in September 1995, our shareholders authorized our Management Board to repurchase up
to 10% of our issued share capital, the maximum allowed under Dutch law at the time, for a period of 18 months. This authorization was
renewed at subsequent annual or special shareholder meetings. At our annual shareholders” meeting on May 19, 2022, our shareholders
authorized an extension until November 19, 2023 to purchase up to 10% of our issued share capital. The repurchase of shares in the
open market is at the discretion of management pursuant to this shareholder authorization.

From the activation of the share repurchase program through December 31, 2022, we have repurchased 40,265,843 shares for an
aggregate purchase price of approximately $1.7 billion, or an average price of $41.35 per share. At December 31, 2022, we held 67,168
shares in treasury and have the authority to repurchase 4,602,742 additional shares under our stock repurchase program as described
in the preceding paragraph.

ITEM 6. [RESERVED]
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Core Laboratories N.V. is a Netherlands limited liability company. We were established in 1936 and are one of the world’s leading pro-
viders of proprietary and patented reservoir description and production enhancement services and products to the oil and gas industry,
primarily through client relationships with many of the world’s major, national and independent oil companies.

We operate our business in two segments. These complementary operating segments provide different services and products and utilize
different technologies for evaluating and improving reservoir performance and increasing oil and gas recovery from new and existing fields:

e Reservoir Description: Encompasses the characterization of petroleum reservoir rock and reservoir fluids samples to increase pro-
duction and improve recovery of crude oil and natural gas from our clients’ reservoirs. We provide laboratory-based analytical and
field services to characterize properties of crude oil and crude oil-derived products to the oil and gas industry. We also provide pro-
prietary and joint industry studies based on these types of analyses and manufacture associated laboratory equipment. In addition,
we provide reservoir description capabilities that support various activities associated with energy transition projects, including
services that support carbon capture, utilization and storage, hydrogen storage, geothermal projects, and the evaluation and
appraisal of mining activities around lithium and other elements necessary for energy storage.

e Production Enhancement: Includes services and manufactured products associated with reservoir well completions, perforations,
stimulations, production and well abandonment. We provide integrated diagnostic services to evaluate and monitor the effective-
ness of well completions and to develop solutions aimed at increasing the effectiveness of enhanced oil recovery projects.

General Overview

We provide services as well as design and produce products which enable our clients to evaluate and improve reservoir performance
and increase oil and gas recovery from new and existing fields. These services and products are generally in higher demand when our
clients are investing capital in their field development programs that are designed to increase productivity from existing fields or when
exploring for appraising and developing new fields. Our clients’ investment in capital expenditure programs tends to correlate over the
longer term to oil and natural gas commodity prices. During periods of higher, stable prices, our clients generally invest more in capital
expenditures and, during periods of lower or volatile commodity prices, they tend to invest less. Consequently, the level of capital
expenditures by our clients impacts the demand for our services and products.

The following table summarizes the annual average and year-end worldwide and U.S. rig counts for the years ended December 31, 2022,
2021 and 2020, as well as the annual average and year-end spot price of a barrel of WTI crude, Europe Brent crude and an MMBtu of
natural gas:

2022 2021 2020
Baker Hughes Worldwide Average Rig Count () 1,747 1,362 1,351
Baker Hughes U.S. Average Rig Count ( 721 475 436
Baker Hughes U.S. Land-based Average Rig Count 706 461 420
Baker Hughes Worldwide Year-End Rig Count @ 1,835 1,563 1,095
Baker Hughes U.S. Year-End Rig Count ) 780 579 339
Baker Hughes U.S. Land-based Year-End Rig Count @ 763 565 324
Average Crude Qil Price per Barrel WTI @) $ 94.90 $ 68.14 $ 39.17
Average Crude Qil Price per Barrel Brent ) $ 100.93 $ 70.86 $ 41.96
Average Natural Gas Price per MMBtu © $ 6.45 $ 3.89 $ 2.02
Year-end Crude Qil Price per Barrel WTI @) $ 80.16 $ 75.33 $ 48.35
Year-end Crude Qil Price per Barrel Brent ¢4) $ 82.82 $ 77.24 $ 51.22
Year-end Natural Gas Price per MMBtu ©) $ 3.52 $ 3.82 $ 2.36

(1) Twelve month average rig count as reported by Baker Hughes — Worldwide Rig Count.

(2) Year-end rig count as reported by Baker Hughes — Worldwide Rig Count.

(3) Average daily and year-end West Texas Intermediate (“WTI”) crude spot price as reported by the U.S. Energy Information Administration (“EIA”).
(4) Average daily and year-end Europe Brent crude spot price as reported by the EIA.

(5) Average daily and year-end Henry Hub natural gas Spot price as reported by the EIA.
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The events associated with the COVID-19 pandemic that began in 2020 continued in 2021 and began to subside in 2022. Certain inter-
national countries continued mandated shut-downs, home sheltering and social distancing policies that initially caused uncertainty in
the demand for crude oil and associated products; however demand for these products has recovered more quickly than global produc-
tion causing crude-oil commodity prices to increase significantly. Although U.S. land drilling and completion activities continued to
show improvement during 2021 and strengthened in 2022, activity still remains well below pre-pandemic levels. Additionally, in the first
half of 2022, international activity continued to be adversely impacted by increasing infection rates associated with new variant strains of
the COVID-19 virus during 2021 and 2022, which has continued to cause business disruptions associated with government mandated
shut-downs, travel restrictions, quarantine protocols and worksite closures in various international regions. These disruptions started to
ease during second half of 2022.

The prices for both WTI and Brent crude oil decreased significantly at the end of the first quarter of 2020 and remained low throughout
most of 2020. Crude-oil prices subsequently recovered in 2021 with more significant improvement during the second half of 2021, and
the average price was 71% higher than in 2020, as growth in production was not keeping pace with the resurgence in consumer
demand. The geopolitical conflict between Russia and Ukraine that erupted in February 2022, has also resulted in disruptions to tradi-
tional supply chains associated with the movement of crude oil, primarily reducing the level of crude oil sourced from Russia and being
imported into various European ports. These disruptions have caused another sharp increase in the price of crude oil throughout the
majority of 2022, which resulted in the average price being 41% higher in 2022 compared to 2021. However, in order to reduce oil
prices in 2022, the United States government also released approximately 1 million barrels of oil per day from its Strategic Petroleum
Reserve (“SPR”) during most of 2022, reducing the United States SPR by approximately 220 million barrels.

In general, activities associated with the exploration of oil and gas in the U.S. onshore market are more sensitive to changes in the
crude-oil commodity prices, as opposed to larger international and offshore projects which take multiple years to plan and develop, and
once announced and started, will continue through completion, despite changes in the current price of crude oil. Activity levels in the
U.S. onshore market also responded immediately to the changes in demand, decreasing significantly to historically low levels in 2020,
which bottomed in the summer of 2020, and subsequently began to recover in the second half of 2020 and into 2021. However, the
growth in production has not kept pace with the resurgence in demand for energy produced from oil and gas, coupled with an adverse
impact from global supply-chain challenges especially during the latter part of 2021. Crude-oil commodity prices remain volatile and
continued to increase significantly during 2022, as a result of the Russia-Ukraine geopolitical conflict and the additional uncertainty in
supply of crude oil and natural gas. The activities associated with the production of oil and gas increased throughout 2022; however,
growth moderated due to limitations in personnel, equipment, supply chain disruptions, as well as the allocation of capital resources by
oil and gas producing companies.

Information published by the EIA, shows that the inventory of wells drilled but uncompleted (a “DUC” well) in the United States, was
7,737 as of December 31, 2020, and declined to 5,099 and 4,577 at end of 2021 and 2022, respectively. This data indicates that during
the period of higher activity prior to 2020, operators were drilling wells but not completing them as the DUC inventory grew. The activity
levels began to decline in 2020 as operators began to drill fewer new wells and were completing some of the wells that had been previ-
ously drilled. As drilling and completing activity levels began to recovery in the second half of 2021 and 2022, the number of wells
completed continued to outpace the number of new wells drilled during these periods.

Inthe U.S., the average land-based rig count increased approximately 10% from 2020 to 2021 as drilling activity began to recover from
the disruptions caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. The growth in U.S. land drilling activity continued and the pace accelerated in 2022,
as the U.S. average land-based rig count increased approximately 53% in 2022. Demand for product sales increased in tandem with the
increase in the rig count and the increase in drilling and completing well activity. Demand for services has also improved and partially
recovered but at a slower pace than demand for completion products. Activities on development projects and producing fields in U.S.
unconventional reservoirs showed an increase when the commodity price strengthened, and demand for both services and product sales
to this market responded accordingly.

Outside of the U.S., activities associated with the exploration for, and production of, oil also showed a decline in 2021 primarily due to
the prolonged impact from the global pandemic as reflected by a decrease of 3% in the average number of active rigs outside the United
States. In 2022, activity in most international regions increased which is reflected by an increase of 16% in the average number of active
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rigs outside the U.S. Long-term international and offshore projects which are commonly announced through Final Investment Decisions
and subsequently initiated are not as susceptible or at-risk to delay or suspension due to short-term volatility in crude-oil commodity
prices.

In response to market conditions in 2020, the Company implemented cost reduction initiatives, which included (i) corporate and operat-
ing cost reductions; (ii) reduction in annual capital expenditures, and (iii) eliminating all non-essential costs. The corporate and operat-
ing cost reductions included reductions in workforce and reduction of senior executive and employee compensation. These initiatives
continued in 2021. Following increased activity levels during the second half of 2021, the Company progressively reinstated certain
employee costs, and in January 2022, temporary salary reduction measures were fully reinstated. Certain employee benefit plans have
been partially reinstated beginning April 2022, and the Company will continue to evaluate the reinstatement of those benefits as the
market for oilfield service companies continues to more fully recover and stabilize. The Company has also maintained its annual capital
expenditures between $10 million and $13.5 million during the years 2020, 2021 and 2022, which is significantly reduced from average
annual capital expenditures in years prior to 2020.

Results of Operations Revenue, Operating Income and Operating Income Margin

$600

Operating Results for the Year Ended December 31,
2022 Compared to the Years Ended December 31,
2021 and 2020

We evaluate our operating results by analyzing revenue, oper-
ating income and operating income margin (defined as oper- ~ $ 400
ating income divided by total revenue). Since we have a

relatively fixed cost structure, decreases in revenue generally

translate into lower operating income results. Results for the

years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 are summa- ~ $ 200
rized in the following chart. The year ended December 31,

2020, operating loss includes approximately $132.6 million

of charges associated with impairment of goodwill, intangible

assets and inventory write-downs. $0

$-200
2022 2021 2020
. Revenue . Operating Income Operating Income
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Results of operations as a percentage of applicable revenue for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 are as follows (in
thousands, except for per share information):

% Change
2022 / 2021/
2022 2021 2020 2021 2020

REVENUE:
Services $346,974 70.8% | $344,342 732% | $376,421 77.3% 0.8% (8.5)%
Product sales 142,761 29.2% | 125910 26.8% 110,846 22.7% 13.4% 13.6%
Total revenue 489,735  100.0% | 470,252  100.0% 487,267  100.0% 41% (3.5)%
OPERATING EXPENSES:
Cost of services™ (1) 274,297 79.1% | 267,641 77.7% 279,281 74.2% 2.5% (4.2)%
Cost of product sales™ (1 119,358 83.6% | 100,255 79.6% 95,486 86.1% 19.1% 5.0%
Total cost of services and product

sales 393,655 80.4% | 367,896 78.2% 374,767 76.9% 7.0% (1.8)%
General and administrative expense (1) 38,117 7.8% 44173 9.4% 34,033 70% | (13.71)% 29.8%
Depreciation and amortization 17,161 3.5% 18,516 3.9% 20,867 4.3% (73)%  (11.3)%
Impairments and other charges — — — — 122,204 251% NM NM
Inventory write-down — — — — 10,375 2.1% NM NM
Other (income) expense, net (722) (0.1)% (5,595) (1.2)% 1,826 0.4% NM NM
OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) 41,524 8.5% 45,262 9.6% (76,805)  (15.8)% (8.3)% NM
Interest expense 11,570 2.4% 9,152 1.9% 14,372 2.9% 26.4%  (36.3)%
Income (loss) from continuing

operations before income taxes 29,954 6.1% 36,110 7.7% 91177y (18.1% | (17.0)% NM
Income tax expense (benefit) 10,296 2.1% 15,891 3.4% 5,896 12% | (35.2)%  169.5%
Income (loss) from continuing

operations 19,658 4.0% 20,219 4.3% (97,073)  (19.9)% (2.8)% NM
Income (loss) from discontinued

operations, net of income taxes — — — — (424)  (0.1)% NM NM
Net income (l0ss) 19,658 4.0% 20,219 4.3% (97,497)  (20.0)% (2.8)% NM
Net income (loss) attributable to

non-controlling interest 205 — 492 0.1% 140 — NM NM
Net income (loss) attributable to

Core Laboratories N.V. $ 19,453 4.0% | $ 19,727 42% | $(97,637) (20.0)% (1.4)% NM
Diluted earnings (loss) per share from

continuing operations $ 0.42 $ 043 $ (2.18) (2.3)% NM
Diluted earnings (loss) per share

attributable to Core LaboratoriesN.V. $§  0.42 $ 042 $ (2.20) 0.0% NM
Diluted weighted average common

shares outstanding 46,813 46,690 44 477
Other Data:
Current ratio @ 2.05:1 2.08:1 1.85:1
Debt to EBITDA ratio ®) 2.68:1 2.70:1 NM
Debt to Adjusted EBITDA ratio 4 2.29:1 2.08:1 2.82:1

* Percentage based on applicable revenue rather than total revenue.

‘NM” means not meaningful.

(1) Excludes depreciation.

(2) Current ratio is calculated as follows: current assets divided by current liabilities.

(3) Debt to EBITDA ratio is calculated as follows: debt less cash divided by the sum of consolidated net income plus interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization.

(4) Debt to Adjusted EBITDA ratio is calculated as follows: debt less cash divided by the sum of consolidated net income plus interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization, Severance, and
certain non-cash adjustments.
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Service Revenue

Service revenue is primarily tied to activities associated with the exploration, production, movement and refinement of oil, gas and
derived products outside the U.S. Service revenue for the year ended December 31, 2022 of $347.0 million was relatively flat compared
to 2021. Disruptions resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic started to ease, and demand for crude oil progressively increased during
2022, however, the growth was offset by the disruptions to the movement and trading patterns of crude oil exported out of Russia and
into various European ports caused by the Russia-Ukraine geopolitical conflict. New logistical patterns associated with the supply lines
of crude oil and derived products, coming out of Russia and primarily coming into Europe, continue to realign. Additionally, as over
70% of service revenue is generated from international markets, though our customer contracts substantially are denominated in U.S.
Dollars, there are certain customer contracts denominated in foreign currencies. Therefore, the devaluation of most major currencies
against the U.S. Dollar, primarily the Euro and British Pound, adversely impacted the growth of service revenue during the year ended
December 31, 2022. Service revenue for the year ended December 31, 2021 was $344.3 million down from $376.4 million in 2020, pri-
marily due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic beginning in March 2020 and continuing throughout most of 2021, resulting in
delays of exploration and production projects in both the offshore and international markets, as well as the U.S. market.

We continue to focus on large-scale core analyses and reservoir fluids characterization studies in the Eagle Ford, the Permian Basin and
the Gulf of Mexico, along with Guyana, Surinam, Malaysia and other international locations such as offshore South America, Australia,
and the Middle East, including Kuwait and the United Arab Emirates. Analysis of crude oil and crude oil-derived products also occurs in
gvery major producing region of the world.

Product Sales Revenue

Product sales revenue, which is equally tied to the completion of onshore wells in the U.S. and international activities, for the year
ended December 31, 2022 was $142.8 million, an increase of 13% compared to 2021. The increase in product sales, which primarily
include differentiated well completion products and specialized laboratory instrumentation, was attributable to growth in both the U.S.
and international markets. Supply chain and logistical challenges continued throughout 2022 which have caused some delays in deliv-
ery of our products to certain international locations. Product sales revenue for the year ended December 31, 2021 was $125.9 million,
an increase of 14% compared to 2020.

Cost of Services, excluding depreciation

Cost of services for the year ended December 31, 2022 was $274.3 million, or an increase of 2% compared to 2021, which corre-
sponded with the change in revenue. The restoration of substantially all employee compensation and benefit costs during 2022 resulted
in a higher employee compensation cost, however operating expenses outside the U.S., and paid in local currencies, were lower when
translated into U.S. Dollars, as the U.S. Dollar strengthened against most foreign currencies during 2022. Cost of services for the year
ended December 31, 2021 was $267.6 million, or a decrease of 4% compared to 2020, corresponding to the changes in revenue and
the full benefit derived from the implementation of various employee compensation and cost reduction initiatives that began after April
2020. Cost of services expressed as a percentage of services revenue increased to approximately 79% in 2022 primarily due to the
effect of restoration of employee compensation costs as discussed above. Cost of services expressed as a percentage of service revenue
increased to approximately 78% in 2021 from 74% in 2020, due to the subsequent restoration of certain cost reduction initiatives in the
second half of 2021, and how our fixed cost structure is absorbed by revenue.

Cost of Product Sales, excluding depreciation

Cost of product sales for the year ended December 31, 2022 was $119.4 million, increased 19% compared to 2021, which increased
slightly higher than the change in revenue. The restoration of substantially all employee compensation and benefit costs during 2022
resulted in a higher employee compensation costs as discussed above. In addition, inflation and global supply chain challenges
impacted our raw materials and shipping costs also resulted in increased costs of product sales. Cost of product sales for the year
ended December 31, 2021 was $100.3 million, increased 5% compared to 2020, corresponding to the changes in revenue, offset by
improved manufacturing productivity and the full year benefit derived from the implementation of various employee compensation and
cost reduction initiatives that began after April 2020. Cost of product sales expressed as a percentage of product sales revenue
increased to approximately 84% in 2022 as a result of elevated inflation and increased employee compensation as discussed above.
Cost of product sales expressed as a percentage of product sales revenue decreased to 80% in 2021 from 86% in 2020 was primarily
due to improved manufacturing productivity and absorption of fixed costs on a higher revenue base.
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General and Administrative Expense, excluding depreciation

General and administrative (“G&A”) expense includes corporate management and centralized administrative services that benefit our
operations. G&A expense was $38.1 million in 2022, decreased 14% compared to 2021. The decrease is primarily due to changes in
compensation expense during the period and include accelerated stock compensation expense recorded for retirement eligible employ-
ees of $3.9 million in 2022 compared to $7.2 million in 2021. Additionally, in 2022, $5.0 million of previously recognized compensa-
tion expense associated with performance share awards was reversed, to align the compensation expense with the vesting level of those
performance share awards and revalue the awards. However, the adjustments to reduce stock compensation expense in 2022 were par-
tially offset by the restoration of employee compensation and benefit costs during 2022. G&A expenses were $44.2 million in 2021, an
increase of approximately $10.1 million, compared to 2020. The variance is primarily due to changes in compensation expense during
the period. In 2020, as a result of a modification in the methodology of measuring performance conditions associated with certain long-
term employee stock-based compensation awards, these awards were revalued, and $11.3 million of previously recognized stock com-
pensation expense was reversed in 2020. See Note 77 — Stock-Based Compensation of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements for further details.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization expense for the year ended December 31, 2022 was $17.2 million decreased from $18.5 million and
$20.9 million in 2021 and 2020, respectively, as capital expenditures have also decreased over the same period as a result of our cost
reduction initiatives.

Impairments, Inventory Write-down and Other Charges

The geopolitical contflict between Russia and Ukraine, which began in February 2022 and continued through December 31, 2022, has
resulted in disruptions to our operations in Russia and Ukraine. The Company’s operations and assets in Ukraine are immaterial. As of
December 31, 2022, all laboratory facilities, offices, and locations in Russia continued to operate and remained profitable and no spe-
cific asset losses were identified.

For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, there were no triggering events during the year, and, based on our assessment, we
determined there was no impairment for any of our reporting units or asset groups, which included long-lived assets in Russia and
Ukraine, and no impairment has been recorded in 2022 or 2021.

We completed our annual impairment assessment of goodwill for our reporting units as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, by performing
a qualitative assessment, which indicated it was not more likely than not that there was an impairment and therefore no quantitative test
was required.

In 2020, the events associated with the COVID-19 pandemic and the resulting sharp decrease in the consumption and demand for crude
oil, which caused a sharp decrease in the price of crude oil, was identified as a triggering event in March 2020. In response to the trig-
gering event, the Company updated its analysis associated with future cash flows and the valuation of assets and potential impairment
of goodwill and intangible assets. Our updated analysis resulted in the Company recording a total charge of $122.2 million for impair-
ment of goodwill and intangible assets in March 2020 in our Production Enhancement operating segment. In addition, the Company
recorded a charge of $10.4 million associated with the devaluation and obsolescence of inventory, primarily in our Production Enhance-
ment operating segment. See Note 78 — Impairments and Other Charges and Note 19 — Inventory Write-down of the Notes to the Con-
solidated Financial Statements for further details.
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Other (Income) Expense, net
The components of other (income) expense, net are as follows (in thousands):

For the Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020

Gain on sale of assets $ (1,068) | $ 42n | $ (1,254)
Results of non-consolidated subsidiaries (294) (62) (125)
Foreign exchange (gain) loss, net 229 (228) 1,160
Rents and royalties (709) (571) (466)
Return on pension assets and other pension costs (545) (306) (1,502)
Gain on sale of business — (1,012) —
Insurance and other settlements (669) (2,236) —
Loss on lease abandonment — — 504
Severance and other charges 3,332 — 3,943
Other, net (998) (753) (434)

Total other (income) expense, net $ (722) | $ (5,59) | $ 1,826

In 2022, the Company sold its ownership interest of mineral rights in certain properties for a net gain of $0.7 million which is included
in gain on sale of assets. We incurred property and other losses in a fire incident in 2020 that we received full and final insurance settle-
ment of $0.6 million in 2021. The North America mid-continent winter storm in February 2021 caused business interruptions and prop-
erty losses to certain facilities, and we received insurance settlements of $0.7 million and $1.6 million in 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Foreign exchange (gain) loss, net is summarized in the following table (in thousands):

For the Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020

British Pound $ 212 $ 86 $ 653
Canadian Dollar 238 77 590
Colombian Peso (430) (281) (331)
Euro (382) (450) 458
Indonesian rupiah 379 123 (96)
Other currencies, net 212 217 (114)

Foreign exchange (gain) loss, net $ 229 $ (228) | $ 1,160

Interest Expense

Interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2022 was $11.6 million compared to $9.2 million in 2021. Interest expense in 2021,
was lower by $1.4 million, associated with a net gain recognized upon the settlement and restructuring of our interest rate swap agree-
ments, as described in Note 75 — Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
In 2022, the Company reduced its average outstanding debt by approximately 12%, when compared to 2021, however the decrease in
debt outstanding was offset by a substantial increase in interest rates. Interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2021 was

$9.2 million compared to $14.4 million in 2020. Interest expense in 2021 was lower than 2020 dug to the following: 1) 2021 interest
expense includes a $1.4 million net gain recorded for the settlement and restructuring of our interest rate swap agreements as discussed
above, 2) the outstanding balance of our aggregated variable rate debt was reduced by $56.0 million, and 3) the balance of our long-
term fixed rate debt was reduced by $15.0 million. See Note 77 — Long-term Debt, net of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial State-
ments for further detail.
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Income Tax Expense

Income tax expense was $10.3 million in 2022 and resulted in an effective tax rate of 34.4%. The 2022 tax expense was primarily
impacted by taxable gains in local jurisdictions associated with foreign currency revaluation of U.S. denominated receivables, primarily
in the U.K. and Turkey as well as certain non-deductible stock compensation expense in the United States. Income tax expense was
$15.9 million in 2021 and resulted in an effective tax rate of 44.0%. The 2021 tax expense was primarily impacted by taxable gains in
local jurisdictions associated with foreign currency revaluation of U.S. dollar denominated receivables, primarily in Turkey, and certain
non-deductible stock compensation expense in the United States. The financial results for 2020 include a goodwill impairment of
$114.0 million and resulted in a loss before income taxes. However, the goodwill impairment was mostly non-deductible for income tax
purposes, and as a result income tax expense was $5.9 million in 2020.

See Note 70 — Income Taxes of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further detail of income tax expense.

Segment Analysis
The following charts and tables summarize the annual revenue and operating results as a percentage of applicable revenue for our two
complementary operating segments.

Segment Revenue
2022 2021 2020
Reservoir Description 63%

Reservoir Description 67% Reservoir Description 73%

— Production Enhancement 37% —— Production Enhancement 33% — Production Enhancement 27%
% Change
2022/ | 2021/
2022 2021 2020 2021 2020
REVENUE:
Reservoir Description $307,691 62.8% $ 313609 66.7% | $ 355041 72.9% (1.9% (11.7)%
Production Enhancement 182,044 37.2% 156,643  33.3% 132226 271% 16.2% 18.5%
Total revenue $489,735 100.0% | $ 470,252 100.0% | $ 487,267 100.0% 41% (3.5)%
OPERATING INCOME (LOSS):
Reservoir Description* $ 22,902 7.4% $ 28958 92% | $ 55044 155% (20.9)% (47.4)%
Production Enhancement* 16,351 9.0% 15,163 9.7% | (133,449) (100.9)% 7.8% NM
Corporate and other () 2,271 0.5% 1141 0.2% 1,600 0.3% NM NM
Operating Income (loss) $ 41,524 8.5% $ 457262 96% | $ (76,805) (15.8)% (8.3)% NM

*

Percentage, which represents operating margin, is based on operating income (loss) divided by applicable revenue rather than total revenue.
‘NM” means not meaningful.
(1) “Corporate and other” represents those items that are not directly relating to a particular operating segment.
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Reservoir Description

Reservoir Description’s operations are heavily exposed to international and offshore project activity levels, with approximately 80% of
its revenue sourced from producing fields, development projects and movement of crude oil products outside the U.S. The Company
continues to see improvement in international projects across several international regions; however, increases in project activity were
offset by disruptions caused by the Russia-Ukraine geopolitical conflict, the COVID-19 pandemic and the devaluation of most curren-
cies against the U.S. Dollar, primarily the Euro and British Pound, in 2022 as previously discussed.

Revenue from the Reservoir Description operating segment was $307.7 million in 2022 and down slightly when compared to

$313.6 million in 2021 primarily due to the factors discussed above. Revenue from the Reservoir Description operating segment in

2021 of $313.6 million compared to $355.0 million in 2020, decreased approximately 12% primarily due to the impact of the COVID-19
pandemic, which began March 2020 and continued throughout 2021. The COVID-19 pandemic resulted in reduced activity associated
with the exploration and production of oil and gas, as well as delays and disruptions to project workflows that slowed the progress on
long term international and offshore projects. In addition, various weather events, such as the North America mid-continent winter storm
and major named storms in the Gulf of Mexico caused a significant disruption to crude oil production and supply activities during 2021.

We continue to focus on large-scale core analysis and reservoir fluids characterization studies in the Asia-Pacific region, offshore
Europe and Africa, offshore South America, North America, and the Middle East. We are also engaged on both newly developed fields
and brownfield extensions in offshore areas such as Australia, Brazil, Guyana, the Gulf of Mexico, the Middle East and the North Sea.
Analysis of crude oil derived products also occurs in every major producing region of the world. In particular, we anticipate increased
demand for our proprietary laboratory technological services in the Middle East as a result of several factors, including Core Lab’s com-
pletion of a comprehensive reservoir fluid laboratory in Doha, Qatar, resumption of production from the Wafra oilfield located within the
onshore Partitioned Neutral Zone in the southern part of Kuwait, as well as expansion of the North Gas Field in Qatar. Additionally, in
2022, Core Lab, under the direction of The CarbonNet Project commenced the second phase of advanced rock property analysis of con-
ventional core extracted from the Gular-1 appraisal well, which is associated with the assessment of a large prospective geologic sub-
surface structure located in the Gippsland Basin offshore the southeast coast of Australia which could be used for carbon capture and
sequestration.

Operating income of $22.9 million in 2022 decreased from $29.0 million in 2021. Operating margins decreased to 7.4% in 2022 com-
pared to 9.2% in 2021. The decrease in operating income and operating margin in 2022, correlates to the decrease in revenue and the
decrease in operating margins reflect the increase in costs during 2022, associated with the Company restoring employee compensation
costs and benefits. Operating income of $29.0 million in 2021 significantly decreased compared to $55.0 million in 2020. Operating
margins decreased to 9.2% in 2021 compared to 15.5% in 2020. The decrease in operating income and operating margin in 2021 cor-
relates to the decrease in revenue and reflects additional costs associated with disruptions and damage to facilities caused by weather
events during 2021 as discussed above. In addition, 2020 includes and adjustment of $7.6 million to reverse previously recognized
stock compensation expense for certain employees’ performance share awards. See Note 77 — Stock-Based Compensation of the Notes
to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further detail.

Production Enhancement

Production Enhancement’s operations are largely focused on complex completions in unconventional, tight-oil reservoirs in the U.S. as
well as conventional projects across the globe. Drilling and completion activity levels in the U.S. onshore market began to significantly
decrease starting in March of 2020 due to the global pandemic and bottomed out at a historically low level in May of 2020. Activity lev-
els in the U.S. onshore market began to recover in the second half of 2020, and activity levels for both the U.S. onshore and interna-
tional markets continued to strengthen in 2021 and 2022. However, the pace of growth in the U.S. onshore market was slower in 2022
compared to 2021.

Revenue from the Production Enhancement operating segment of $182.0 million in 2022 increased 16% compared to 2021. The
increase was driven by both an increase in the drilling and completion of onshore wells in the U.S. and improved activity in international
markets. International sales continue to be impacted by the challenges in the global supply chains and logistical challenges that caused
delays in delivery of our products to certain international locations. Revenue from the Production Enhancement operating segment of
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$156.6 million in 2021 increased approximately 19% compared to 2020 primarily driven by a significant increase in the drilling and
completion of wells in the U.S. onshore market. The U.S. average onshore rig count increased approximately 53% in 2022 and 10% in
2021 compared to 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Operating income of $16.4 million in 2022 compared to $15.2 million in 2021. The increase in operating income correlates to the
increase in revenue, however, operating costs in 2022 increased due to the restoration of employee compensation and benefit costs and
the inflationary impact on our raw materials and shipping costs. Operating margin of 9.0% in 2022 decreased from 9.7% in 2021 pri-
marily due to the increase in costs as discussed above. Operating income of $15.2 million in 2021 compared to an operating loss of
$133.4 million in 2020. In 2020, we recorded non-cash charges of $132.6 million for impairment of goodwill, intangible assets and
inventory write-down and other charges. See Note 78 — Impairments and Other Charges and Note 19 — Inventory Write-down of the
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further details. This was partially offset by the benefit of cost reduction initiatives
implemented during 2020 and reversal of previously recognized stock compensation expense associated with certain employees’ long-
term stock-based performance awards of $3.6 million. Operating income (loss) in 2020, after excluding these net non-cash charges was
a loss of $0.8 million. The increase in operating income in 2021 compared to 2020, correlates to the increase in revenue. Operating
margin was 9.7% in 2021, compared to a negative margin of 100.9% in 2020. The increased operating margin in 2021 compared to
2020 was primarily driven by the effect of non-cash charges recorded in 2020, as well as improved operating efficiencies associated
with increased activity levels in 2021, as discussed above. The operating margin for 2020 was breakeven, when excluding the non-cash
charges associated with the goodwill impairment, intangible assets and inventory write down.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

General

We have historically financed our activities through cash on hand, cash flows from operations, bank credit facilities, equity financing
and the issuance of debt. Cash flows from operating activities provide the primary source of funds to finance operating needs, capital
expenditures and our dividend and share repurchase programs. We believe our future cash flows from operations, supplemented by our
borrowing capacity under our Amended Credit Facility and the ability to issue additional equity and debt, should be sufficient to fund
our debt requirements, capital expenditures, working capital, dividend payments and future acquisitions. The Company will continue to
monitor and evaluate the availability of debt and equity markets.

In response to market conditions, Core Lab’s Supervisory Board approved a plan to reduce the Company’s quarterly dividends to $0.01
per share beginning with the second quarter of 2020 and to focus excess free cash flow on debt reduction. In 2020, the Company imple-
mented cost reduction initiatives, which included: (i) corporate and operating cost reductions; (ii) reduction in annual capital expendi-
tures, and (iii) eliminating all non-essential costs. The corporate and operating cost reductions included reductions in workforce and
reduction of senior executive and employee compensation. These initiatives continued in 2021.

Following increased activity levels during the second half of 2021, the Company progressively reinstated certain employee costs, and in
January 2022, employee salaries were fully reinstated. Certain employee benefit plans have been partially reinstated beginning April
2022, and the Company will continue to evaluate the reinstatement of those benefits in 2023. Additionally, the Company has maintained
its reduced dividend plan that was approved and implemented from second quarter of 2020, and excess free cash flow continues to pri-
marily be used towards reducing debt.

On July 25, 2022, we, along with our wholly owned subsidiary Core Laboratories (U.S.) Interests Holdings, Inc. entered into an Eighth
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (as amended, the “Amended Credit Facility”) modifying and extending the existing credit
facility for an aggregate borrowing commitment of $135 million with a $50 million “accordion” feature. The Amended Credit Facility
provided, among other things, a temporary increase to the maximum leverage ratio permitted under the Amended Credit Facility through
September 30, 2022. See Note 77 — Long-term Debt, net of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional
information.

On December 17, 2020, we entered into an Equity Distribution Agreement with Wells Fargo Securities, LLC for the issuance and sale of
up to $60.0 million of our common shares. Under terms of the Equity Distribution Agreement, sales of our common shares could be
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made by any method deemed to be an “at-the-market offering” as defined in Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the
#2020 ATM program”). In March 2021, we completed the sale of 1,658,012 common shares under the agreement at an average price of
$36.19 per share, which generated aggregate proceeds of $59.1 million, net of commission and other associated costs. Proceeds were
used to reduce debt on the Company’s credit facility in 2021.

OnJune 9, 2022, we entered into an Equity Distribution Agreement with certain banks (the “2022 Equity Distribution Agreement”) for the
issuance and sale of up to $60.0 million of our common shares. Under the terms of the 2022 Equity Distribution Agreement, sales of our
common shares may be made by any method deemed to be an “at-the-market offering” as defined in Rule 415 under the Securities Act
of 1933 (the “2022 ATM program”). For the year ended December 31, 2022 and through February 9, 2023, the Company has not sold
any shares under the 2022 Equity Distribution Agreement. See Note 74 — Equity of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for additional information.

On January 12, 2021, the Company issued the 2021 Senior Notes with aggregate principal amount of $60 million in a private place-
ment. The net proceeds from the 2021 Senior Notes were used exclusively to reduce outstanding debt under the Company’s Credit
Facility, which increased the available borrowing capacity and liquidity for the Company. See Note 77 — Long-term Debt, net of the
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.

On September 30, 2021, the Company retired $75 million in Series A of the 2011 Senior Notes. Series A of the 2011 Senior Notes were
retired using a combination of cash on hand and $55 million in proceeds drawn from our Credit Facility. We intend to maintain suffi-
cient borrowing capacity under the Credit Facility to both retire maturing debt obligations and provide additional liquidity, should the
company require it for other purposes.

As we are a Netherlands holding company, we conduct substantially all of our operations through subsidiaries. Our cash availability is
largely dependent upon the ability of our subsidiaries to pay cash dividends or otherwise distribute or advance funds to us and on the
terms and conditions of our existing and future credit arrangements. There are no restrictions preventing any of our subsidiaries from
repatriating earnings, and there are no restrictions or income taxes associated with distributing cash to the parent company through
loans or advances. As of December 31, 2022, $9.4 million of our $15.4 million of cash was held by our foreign subsidiaries, including
the U.S.

Cash Flows
The following table summarizes cash flows (in thousands):

For the Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities $ 24,956 | $ 36579 | $ 57,868
Investing activities (3,856) (10,223) 7,851
Financing activities (23,375) (22,459) (63,005)
Net change in cash and cash equivalents $ (2,275) | $ 3,897 $ 2,714

Cash provided by operating activities in 2022, decreased approximately $11.6 million compared to 2021 due to a small decrease net
income in 2022 compared to 2021, however, cash operating expenses and cash taxes paid increased in 2022, and these cash operating
expenses and cash taxes paid were offset by a significant reduction in non-cash stock compensation expense during 2022. The increase
in cash operating expenses during 2022 is primarily related to inflation and restoration of employee benefits in 2022. Cash provided by
operating activities in 2021, decreased $21.3 million primarily due to increased working capital requirements of $21.0 million as market
conditions and activity levels improved in the second half of 2021.

Cash used by investing activities was $3.9 million in 2022 compared to $10.2 million in 2021. The decrease was primarily due to lower
capital expenditure of $3.3 million and higher proceeds from sale of assets and net proceeds from company-owned life insurance poli-
cies of $1.2 million and $2.3 million, respectively, in 2022. Cash used by investing activities was $10.2 million in 2021 compared to
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cash provided by investing activities of $7.9 million in 2020. The variance was primarily due to higher capital expenditures of

$13.5 million in 2021 compared to $11.9 million in 2020 and additional distribution received from company-owned life insurance poli-
cies of $20.4 million in 2020, partially offset by total proceeds of approximately $1.6 million from sale of business and insurance recov-
ery in 2021.

Cash used in financing activities in 2022 of $23.4 million compared to $22.5 million in 2021, increased $0.9 million primarily due to
higher debt issuance costs in 2022 associated with renewing the Amended Credit Facility in 2022 as discussed above. Cash used in
financing activities in 2021 decreased $40.5 million compared to 2020 as a result of: 1) a reduction of $10.6 million in dividends paid,
and 2) net proceeds of $59.1 million raised in 2021 by issuing common shares through the 2020 ATM program. These decreases in
cash used were offset by 1) $71.0 million of net reduction in long-term debt during 2021 compared to $46.0 million in 2020, and 2) the
repurchase of our common shares of $8.3 million in 2021 compared to $2.8 million in 2020.

During 2022, we repurchased 174,348 shares of our common stock for an aggregate amount of $3.9 million, or an average price of
$22.39 per share, including rights to 102,067 shares valued at $2.1 million surrendered to us pursuant to the terms of a stock-based
compensation plan in consideration of the participants’ tax burdens resulting from the issuance of common shares under that plan. See
Note 74 — Equity of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information. We believe our share repurchase pro-
gram has been beneficial to our shareholders over the longer term. Our share price has increased from $4.03 per share in 2002, when
we began to repurchase shares, to $20.27 per share on December 31, 2022, an increase exceeding 400%.

We utilize the non-GAAP financial measure of free cash flow to evaluate our cash flows and results of operations. Free cash flow is
defined as net cash provided by operating activities (which is the most directly comparable U.S. GAAP measure) less cash paid for capi-
tal expenditures. Management believes that free cash flow provides useful information to investors regarding the cash that was available
in the period that was in excess of our needs to fund our capital expenditures and operating activities. Free cash flow is not a measure of
operating performance under U.S. GAAP, and should not be considered in isolation nor construed as an alternative to operating profit,
net income (loss) or cash flows from operating, investing or financing activities, each as determined in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Free
cash flow does not represent residual cash available for distribution because we may have other non-discretionary expenditures that are
not deducted from the measure. Moreover, since free cash flow is not a measure determined in accordance with U.S. GAAP and thus is
susceptible to varying interpretations and calculations, free cash flow, as presented, may not be comparable to similarly titled measures
presented by other companies. The following table reconciles this non-GAAP financial measure to the most directly comparable mea-
sure calculated and presented in accordance with U.S. GAAP (in thousands):

For the Years Ended December 31,

Free Cash Flow Calculation 2022 2021 2020

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 24,956 $ 36,579 $ 57,868
Less: cash paid for capital expenditures (10,216) (13,539) (11,880)

Free cash flow $ 14,740 $ 23,040 $ 45,988

The decrease in free cash flow in 2022 compared to 2021 was primarily due to decreased cash provided by operating activities as dis-
cussed above, partially offset by a decrease of $3.3 million in capital spending in 2022 The decrease in free cash flow in 2021 compared
to 2020 was primarily due to decreased cash provided by operating activities as discussed above, additionally, increased capital spend-
ing of $1.6 million in 2021, which were elevated by facility repair costs for damages caused by the 2021 winter storm in North America.

Senior Notes, Credit Facility and Available Future Liquidity

We have three series of senior notes outstanding with an aggregate principal amount of $135 million that were issued through private
placement transactions. Series B of the senior notes issued in 2011 (*2011 Senior Notes”) consists of $75 million in aggregate principal
amount and bears interest at a fixed rate of 4.11% and is due in full on September 30, 2023. Interest on Series B of the 2011 Senior
Notes is payable semi-annually on March 30 and September 30. We intend to repay the 2011 Senior Notes Series B with borrowings
under our existing long-term Amended Credit Facility; therefore, we continue to classify them as long-term debt.
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Series A and Series B of the 2021 Senior Notes were issued and funded on January 12, 2021 (the “2021 Senior Notes” and together
with the 2011 Senior Notes, the “Senior Notes”). Series A of the 2021 Senior Notes consists of $45 million in aggregate principal
amount that bear interest at a fixed rate of 4.09% and is due in full on January 12, 2026. Series B of the 2021 Senior Notes consists of
$15 million in aggregate principal amount that bears interest at a fixed rate of 4.38% and is due in full on January 12, 2028. Interest on
each series of the 2021 Senior Notes is payable semi-annually on June 30 and December 30.

On July 25, 2022, we, along with our wholly owned subsidiary Core Laboratories (U.S.) Interests Holdings, Inc. (“CLIH") entered into an
Eighth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (as amended, the “Amended Credit Facility”) modifying and extending the existing
credit facility for an aggregate borrowing commitment of $135 million with a $50 million “accordion” feature. The Amended Credit
Facility is secured by first priority interests in (1) substantially all of the tangible and intangible personal property, and equity interest of
CLIH and certain of the Company’s U.S. and foreign subsidiary companies; and (2) instruments evidencing intercompany indebtedness
owing to the Company, CLIH and certain of the Company’s U.S. and foreign subsidiary companies. Under the Amended Credit Facility,
the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) plus 2.00% to SOFR plus 3.00% will be applied to outstanding borrowings. Any out-
standing balance under the Amended Credit Facility is due at maturity on July 25, 2026, subject to springing maturity on July 12, 2025,
if the Company’s liquidity does not equal or exceed the principal amount of the 2021 Senior Notes Series A outstanding on such date.
The available capacity at any point in time is reduced by outstanding borrowings and outstanding letters of credit which totaled approxi-
mately $9 million at December 31, 2022, resulting in an available borrowing capacity under the Amended Credit Facility of approxi-
mately $86 million. In addition to indebtedness under the Amended Credit Facility, we had approximately $6 million of outstanding
letters of credit and performance guarantees and bonds from other sources as of December 31, 2022. The Amended Credit Facility does
not substantially alter the calculation of the net leverage or interest coverage ratios. Pursuant to the terms of the Amended Credit
Facility, the maximum leverage ratio permitted is as follows:

Maximum leverage

Quarter ending ratio permitted
June 30, 2022 and September 30, 2022 2.75
December 31, 2022 and thereafter 250

The terms of the Amended Credit Facility and Senior Notes require us to meet certain covenants, including, but not limited to, an inter-
est coverage ratio (calculated as consolidated EBITDA divided by interest expense) and a leverage ratio (calculated as consolidated net
indebtedness divided by consolidated EBITDA), where consolidated EBITDA (as defined in each agreement) and interest expense are
calculated using the most recent four fiscal quarters. The Amended Credit Facility and Senior Notes include a cross-default provision,
whereby a default under one agreement may trigger a default in the other agreements. The Amended Credit Facility has more restrictive
covenants with a minimum interest coverage ratio of 3.00 to 1.00 and permits a maximum leverage ratio as described above. The
Amended Credit Facility allows non-cash charges such as impairment of assets, stock compensation and other non-cash charges to be
added back in the calculation of consolidated EBITDA. The terms of our Amended Credit Facility also allow us to negotiate in good faith
to amend any ratio or requirement to preserve the original intent of the agreement if any change in accounting principles would affect the
computation of any financial ratio or covenant of the Amended Credit Facility. In accordance with the terms of the Amended Credit
Facility, our leverage ratio is 2.29, and our interest coverage ratio is 6.03, each for the year ended December 31, 2022. We believe that
we are in compliance with all covenants contained in our Amended Credit Facility and Senior Notes. Certain of our material, wholly-
owned subsidiaries, are guarantors or co-borrowers under the Amended Credit Facility and Senior Notes.

In March 2021, we entered into a new forward interest rate swap agreement for a notional amount of $60 million and carried the fair value
of the terminated 2014 and 2020 Variable-to-Fixed Swaps into the new agreement in a “blend and extend” structured transaction. The
purpose of this forward interest rate swap agreement is to fix the underlying risk-free rate, that would be associated with the anticipated
issuance of new long-term debt by the Company in future periods. On April 8, 2022, the forward interest rate swap agreement was termi-
nated and settled for a net gain of $0.6 million which is included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). See Note 75 —
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities for additional information.

In addition to our repayment commitments under our Amended Credit facility and our Senior Notes, we have non-cancellable operating
lease arrangements under which we lease office and lab space, machinery, equipment and vehicles. We also have employer contribution
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commitments related to our Dutch pension plan with amounts payable in the future based upon workforce factors that cannot be esti-
mated beyond one year. These material future contractual obligations are discussed in Note 7 — Leases, Note 77 — Long-term Debt, net
and Note 12— Pension and Other Postretirement Benefit Plans of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

We have no significant purchase commitments or similar obligations outstanding at December 31, 2022. We also have uncertain tax
positions of $3.5 million that we have accrued for at December 31, 2022; the amounts and timing of payment, if any, are uncertain. See
Note 70— Income Taxes of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further detail of this amount.

At December 31, 2022, we had tax net operating loss carry-forwards in various jurisdictions of $55.6 million. Although we cannot be
certain that these net operating loss carry-forwards will be utilized, we anticipate that we will have sufficient taxable income in future
years to allow us to fully utilize the carry-forwards that are not subject to a valuation allowance as of December 31, 2022. If unused,
those carry-forwards which are subject to expiration may expire during the years 2023 through 2036. During 2022, no material net oper-
ating loss carry-forwards, which carried a full valuation allowance, expired unused.

We expect our investment in capital expenditures to track with client demand for our services and products. Given the uncertain trend in
industry activity levels, we have not determined, at this time, the level of investment that will be made in 2022. We will, however, con-
tinue to invest in the purchase or replacement of obsolete or worn-out instrumentation, tools and equipment, to consolidate certain
facilities to gain operational efficiencies, and to increase our presence where requested by our clients.

Outlook

The events associated with the COVID-19 pandemic that began in 2020 continued in 2021 and 2022. Certain international countries
continued mandated shut-downs, home sheltering and social distancing policies that initially caused uncertainty in the demand for
crude oil and associated products; however demand for these products has recovered more quickly than global production causing
crude-oil commodity prices to increase significantly. Although U.S. onshore drilling and completion activities improved during 2021
and strengthened in 2022, activity still remains well below pre-pandemic levels. Additionally, international activity continued to be
adversely impacted by increasing infection rates associated with new variant strains of the COVID-19 virus during 2021 and 2022,
which has continued to cause business disruptions associated with government mandated shut-downs, travel restrictions, quarantine
protocols and worksite closures in various international regions. These disruptions started to ease during the second half of 2022.

The geopolitical contflict between Russia and Ukraine that erupted in February 2022, has also resulted in disruptions to traditional sup-
ply chains associated with the movement of crude oil, primarily impacting crude oil sourced from Russia and imported into various
European ports. However, the supply chains associated with the movement of crude oil continue realigning to new logistical patterns, as
we expect Europe will find new suppliers of crude oil to import into the region. These events have caused energy prices to increase
throughout the world but even more so in Europe, as the current global demand for crude oil and natural gas has remained at a high
level. Core Lab expects supply lines to realign, and the Company’s volume of associated laboratory services to increase commensurate
with the trading and movement of crude-oil into Europe and across the globe. Additionally, European countries have begun elevating the
level of LNG imports to offset the loss of natural gas sourced from Russia. The Company provides some laboratory analytical services
associated with the movement of LNG products, which may offer some additional opportunities for the Company in this region. In March
2022, completion product sales delivered through our Production Enhancement operating segment into Ukraine were temporarily sus-
pended and continue to be impacted by disruptions in freight transport services.

The situation continues to evolve and the United States, the European Union, the United Kingdom and other countries may implement
additional sanctions, export controls or other measures against Russia, Belarus and other countries, regions, officials, individuals or
industries in the respective territories. We have no way to predict the progress or outcome of the conflict in Ukraine or its impacts in
Ukraine, Russia or Belarus as the conflict, and any resulting government responses, are fluid and beyond our control.

Crude-oil commodity prices remain volatile and increased significantly throughout most of 2022. It is anticipated that crude-oil commod-
ity prices for the near-to-mid-term will remain elevated and supported by increasing demand with only moderate growth in production
levels. As such, activities associated with the production of oil and gas continued to increase in 2022, are expected to continue increasing
moderately in 2023. The oil and gas industry continues to face limitations in personnel, equipment, and supply chain disruptions, which
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may moderate future growth, as well as the allocation of capital resources by oil and gas producing companies. Our clients’ activities
associated with the energy markets are also expected to increase in 2023, but may be impacted by the outlook for the global economy,
decisions by OPEC nations associated with the production and supply of crude oil to the market, the pace of China’s recovery from the
COVID-19, and considerations associated with the Russia-Ukraine geopolitical conflict.

Our major clients continue to focus on capital management, return on invested capital (“ROIC”), free cash flow, and returning capital to
their shareholders, as opposed to a focus on production growth. The companies adopting value versus volume metrics tend to be the
more technologically sophisticated operators and form the foundation of Core Lab’s worldwide client base. As oil and gas commodity
prices are expected to remain elevated in the near to mid-term, the Company expects our clients’ activities associated with increasing oil
and gas reserves and production levels will continue to increase in the coming years. Additionally, some of our major clients have
begun investing and developing other sources of energy, including renewables, and focusing on emission reduction initiatives. Some of
these initiatives include deployment of technologies associated with hydrogen or lithium-based batteries, and carbon capturing and
sequestration. Considering a longer-term strategy, we expect to be well positioned as our clients continue their focus on employing
higher technological solutions in their efforts to optimize production and estimated ultimate recovery in the most cost efficient and envi-
ronmentally responsible manner.

We believe oil and gas operators will continue to manage their capital spending within free cash flow and maintain their focus on
improving and maintaining a stronger balance sheet, which could constrain future growth in activities associated with the production of
oil and gas.

Core Laboratories expects that 2023 capital and operating budgets of oil and gas operators will expand over 2022 levels but also
include a higher allocation of capital towards energy transition activities. Some of our major clients have begun actively investing and
developing other renewable sources of energy and focusing on emission reduction initiatives. Core Laboratories is participating in some
of these initiatives, which include deployment of technologies and new projects associated with hydrogen or lithium-based batteries,
and CCS. In 2022, there has been moderate improvement in international activity levels, as the international rig count increased to
1,055 as we exited the year and is up approximately 7% from the end of 2021. We continue to work with clients and discuss the pro-
gression of longer-term international projects. Additionally, the reservoir fluids analysis performed on projects associated with current
producing fields continues to be critical and has been less affected by lower commodity prices for crude oil.

As part of our long-term growth strategy, we continue to expand our market presence by opening or expanding facilities in strategic
areas and realizing synergies within our business lines consistent with client demand and market conditions. More recently, we have
expanded our laboratory capabilities in Qatar, Saudi Arabia and Brazil. We believe our market presence in strategic areas provides us a
unique opportunity to serve our clients who have global operations, whether they are international oil companies, national oil compa-
nies, or independent oil companies.

Core Lab believes continued assessment of market conditions, will allow Core Lab, as it has for over 85 years, to navigate through these
challenging times. Core Lab remains focused on preserving the quality of service for its clients and producing returns for its shareholders.

Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP requires us to make certain estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. We evaluate our estimates on an ongoing basis and determine
the adequacy of our estimates based on our historical experience and various other assumptions that we believe are reasonable under
the circumstances. By nature, these judgments are subject to an inherent degree of uncertainty. We consider an accounting estimate to
be critical if it is highly subjective and if changes in the estimate under different assumptions would result in a material impact on our
financial condition and results of operations. The following transaction types require significant judgment and, therefore, are considered
critical accounting policies as of December 31, 2022.
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Income Taxes

Our income tax expense includes income taxes of the Netherlands, the U.S. and other foreign countries as well as local, state and pro-
vincial income taxes. We recognize deferred tax assets or liabilities for the differences between the financial statement carrying amount
and tax basis of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the years in which the asset is expected to be recovered or the
liability is expected to be settled. We estimate the likelihood of the recoverability of our deferred tax assets (particularly, net operating
loss carry-forwards). Any valuation allowance recorded is based on estimates and assumptions of taxable income into the future and a
determination is made of the magnitude of deferred tax assets which are more likely than not to be realized. Valuation allowances of our
net deferred tax assets aggregated to $9.3 million and $7.4 million at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. If these estimates and
related assumptions change in the future, we may be required to record additional valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets
and our effective tax rate may increase which could result in a material adverse impact on our financial position, results of operations
and cash flows. We record a liability for unrecognized tax benefits resulting from uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be taken in
our tax return. We also recognize interest and penalties, if any, related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense.

Long-Lived Assets, Intangibles and Goodwill

Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation. Major renewals and improvements are capitalized while
maintenance and repair costs are charged to expense as incurred. They are depreciated using the straight-line method based on their
individual estimated useful lives, except for leasehold improvements, which are depreciated over the remaining lease term, if shorter.
We estimate the useful lives and salvage values of our assets based on historical data of similar assets. When long-lived assets are sold
or retired, the remaining costs and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or 0ss is
included in income. These capitalized long-lived assets could become impaired if our operating plans or business environment
changes.

Intangible assets, including patents, trademarks and technology, are carried at cost less accumulated amortization. Intangibles with
determinable lives are amortized using the straight-line method based on the estimated useful life of the intangible. Intangibles with
indeterminable lives, which consist primarily of corporate trade names, are not amortized, but are tested for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that impairment is possible.

We review our long-lived assets (“LLA”), including definite-lived intangible and right-of-use assets, for impairment when events or
changes in circumstances indicate that their net book value may not be recovered over their remaining service lives. Indicators of possi-
ble impairment may include significant declines in activity levels in regions where specific assets or groups of assets are located,
extended periods of idle use, declining revenue or cash flow or overall changes in general market conditions.

Whenever possible impairment is indicated, we compare the carrying value of the assets or asset group to the sum of the estimated
undiscounted future cash flows expected from use, plus salvage value, less the costs of the subsequent disposition of the assets. If
impairment is still indicated, we compare the fair value of the assets to the carrying amount and recognize an impairment loss for the
amount by which the carrying value exceeds the fair value.

We did not record impairment charges relating to our long-lived assets and intangible assets during the years ended December 31,
2022 and 2021. We recorded an impairment charge of $8.2 million for certain intangible assets during the year ended December 31,
2020.

The geopolitical contflict between Russia and Ukraine, which began in February 2022 and has continued through December 31, 2022,
has resulted in disruptions to our operations in Russia and Ukraine. The Company evaluated LLA in Russia and Ukraine as part of our
assessment of our assets group and did not identify triggering events as of December 31, 2022. The Company’s operation, assets and
facilities in Ukraine are immaterial. As of December 31, 2022, all laboratory facilities, offices, and locations in Russia continued to oper-
ate and remained profitable and no specific asset losses were identified.

We record goodwill as the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net assets acquired in acquisitions accounted for under
the purchase method of accounting. Goodwill is not subject to amortization and is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate goodwill is more likely than not impaired. We assess goodwill for impairment either by
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performing a qualitative assessment or a quantitative test. The qualitative assessment is to determine whether the existence of events or
circumstances leads to a determination that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying
amount, including goodwill. If it is concluded that it is more-likely-than not that an impairment exists, a quantitative test is required
which compares the estimated fair value of a reporting unit to its carrying value. If the estimated fair value of a reporting unit is less than
its carrying value, then there is an impairment loss limited to the amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit. Our reporting units
are the same as our two operating segments. Significant judgments and assumptions are inherent in our estimate of future cash flows
used to determine the estimate of the reporting unit’s fair value which include assumptions regarding future revenue growth rates, dis-
count rates and expected margins.

We completed our annual impairment assessment of goodwill for our reporting units as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, by performing
a qualitative assessment, which indicated it was not more likely than not that there was an impairment and therefore no quantitative test
was required. We performed detailed quantitative test and recorded an impairment charge of $114.0 million for goodwill of our Produc-
tion Enhancement reporting units during the year ended December 31, 2020.

Any subsequent impairment loss could result in a material adverse effect upon our financial position and results of operations.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any off-balance sheet financing arrangements such as securitization agreements, liquidity trust vehicles or special pur-
pose entities. As such, we are not materially exposed to any financing, liquidity, market or credit risk that could arise if we had engaged
in such financing arrangements.

Forward-Looking Statements

This Form 10-K and the documents incorporated in this Form 10-K by reference contain forward-looking statements within the meaning
of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Exchange Act. These “forward-looking statements” are based on an
analysis of currently available competitive, financial and economic data and our operating plans. They are inherently uncertain and
investors should recognize that events and actual results could turn out to be significantly different from our expectations. By way of
illustration, when used in this document, words such as “anticipate”, “believe”, “expect”, “intend”, “estimate”, “project”, “will”, “should”,
‘could”, “may”, “predict” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. You are cautioned that actual
results could differ materially from those anticipated in forward-looking statements. Any forward-looking statements, including state-
ments regarding the intent, belief or current expectations of us or our management, are not guarantees of future performance and involve
risks, uncertainties and assumptions about us and the industry in which we operate, including, among other things:

e our ability to continue to develop or acquire new and useful technology;

e the realization of anticipated synergies from acquired businesses and future acquisitions;

e our dependence on one industry, oil and gas, and the impact of commodity prices on the expenditure levels of our clients;
e competition in the markets we serve;

e the risks and uncertainties attendant to adverse industry, political, economic and financial market conditions, including stock
prices, government regulations, interest rates and credit availability;

e unsettled political conditions, war, civil unrest, currency controls and governmental actions in the numerous countries in which we
operate;

e changes in the price of oil and natural gas;

e major outbreak of global pandemic and restricting mobilization of field personnel;
e weather and seasonal factors;

e integration of acquired businesses; and

e the effects of industry consolidation.

Our business depends, to a large degree, on the level of spending by oil and gas companies for exploration, development and production
activities. Therefore, a sustained increase or decrease in the price of natural gas or oil, which could have a material impact on exploration,
development and production activities, could also materially affect our financial position, results of operations and cash flows.
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The above description of risks and uncertainties is by no means all-inclusive, but is designed to highlight what we believe are important
factors to consider. For a more detailed description of risk factors, please see “ltem 1A. Risk Factors” in this Form 10-K and our reports
and registration statements filed from time to time with the SEC.

All forward-looking statements in this Form 10-K are based on information available to us on the date of this Form 10-K. We do not
intend to update or revise any forward-looking statements that we may make in this Form 10-K or other documents, reports, filings or
press releases, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, unless required by law.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Pronouncements Adopted

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12 (“Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes”) which affects general principles
within Topic 740, Income Taxes. The amendment removes exceptions related to the incremental approach for intraperiod tax allocation,
the recognition of a deferred tax liability for equity method investments in a foreign subsidiary, and the methodology for calculating
income taxes in an interim period. The standard also simplifies the accounting for franchise taxes, transactions that result in a step-up
in the tax basis of goodwill, the effect of an enacted change in tax laws on the tax rate computation in interim periods, and specifying
that an entity is not required to allocate consolidated tax expense to a legal entity not subject to tax in its separate financial statements.
This standard is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2020. We adopted
this standard on January 1, 2021, and there has been no significant impact on our consolidated financial statements or on our account-
ing policies and processes.

In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-04 (“Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting”) which pro-
vides temporary optional guidance to ease the potential burden in accounting for reference rate reform. The new guidance provides
optional expedients and exceptions for applying generally accepted accounting principles to contract modifications and hedging rela-
tionships, subject to meeting certain criteria, that reference LIBOR or another reference rate expected to be discontinued. The ASU is
intended to help stakeholders during the global market-wide reference rate transition period. During the year ended December 31, 2022,
we elected to apply the optional expedient for hedging relationships affected by reference rate reform upon the Company’s amending its
existing credit facility that included a change in the reference rate. Accordingly, no outstanding balance on the Amended Credit Facility
will preclude cash flow hedging with existing hedging instruments. See Note 77 — Long-term Debt, netand Note 75 — Derivative Instru-
ments and Hedging Activities.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Market Risk
We are exposed to market risk, which is the potential loss arising from adverse changes in market prices and rates. We do not believe
that our exposure to market risks, which are primarily related to interest rate changes, is material.

Interest Rate Risk
We maintain certain debt instruments at a fixed rate whose fair value will fluctuate based on changes in interest rates and market percep-
tion of our credit risk. The fair value of our debt at December 31, 2022 and 2021 approximated the book value.

Under the Amended Credit Facility, the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) plus 2.00% to SOFR plus 3.00% will be applied to
outstanding borrowings. At December 31, 2022, we had an outstanding borrowings of $40 million. A 10% change in interest rates
would not have a material impact on our results of operations or cash flows.

Foreign Currency Risk

We operate in a number of international areas which exposes us to foreign currency exchange rate risk. We do not currently hold or
issue forward exchange contracts or other derivative instruments for hedging or speculative purposes. Foreign exchange gains and
losses are the result of fluctuations in the U.S. dollar (“USD”) against foreign currencies and are included in other (income) expense, net
in the consolidated statements of operations. We recognize foreign exchange losses in countries where the USD weakens against the
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local currency and we have net monetary liabilities denominated in the local currency, as well as in countries where the USD strength-
ens against the local currency and we have net monetary assets denominated in the local currency. We recognize foreign exchange
gains in countries where the USD strengthens against the local currency and we have net monetary liabilities denominated in the local
currency, as well as in countries where the USD weakens against the local currency and we have net monetary assets denominated in
the local currency.

Credit Risk

Our financial instruments that potentially subject us to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents and
accounts receivable. Substantially all cash and cash equivalents are on deposit at commercial banks or investment firms. Our trade
receivables are with a variety of domestic, international and national oil and gas companies. Management considers this credit risk to be
limited due to the creditworthiness and financial resources of these financial institutions and companies.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

For the financial statements and supplementary data required by this Iltem 8, see Part IV “ltem 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement
Schedules.”

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, under the supervision of and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has eval-
uated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures, as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the
Exchange Act, as of the end of the period covered by this report. Our disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide rea-
sonable assurance that the information required to be disclosed by us in our reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is accu-
mulated and communicated to management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow
timely decisions regarding required disclosure and is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified
in the rules and forms of the SEC. Based on such evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that
our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2022 at the reasonable assurance level.

Our management does not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures or our internal control over financial reporting will prevent
all errors and all fraud. Further, the design of disclosure controls and internal control over financial reporting must reflect the fact that
there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations
in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any,
within a company have been detected.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as that term is
defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act. Our internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to pro-
vide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external pur-
poses in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of

any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in con-
ditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
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Our management, under the supervision of and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, con-
ducted an evaluation of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022. In making this assessment, management
used the criteria set forth in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission. Based on this assessment using these criteria, our management determined that our internal control over finan-
cial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2022.

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022, has been audited by KPMG LLP, an indepen-
dent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which appears herein.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There was no change in our system of internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)
under the Exchange Act, during our fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2022 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to mate-
rially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.

ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT
INSPECTIONS

None.
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PART lil

The information required by Part Il (Items 10 through 14) is incorporated by reference from our definitive proxy statement (the “2023
Proxy Statement”) to be filed in connection with our 2023 annual meeting of shareholders pursuant to Regulation 14A under the
Exchange Act. We expect to file our definitive proxy statement with the SEC within 120 days after the close of the year ended

December 31, 2022. The 2023 Proxy Statement will be filed either by Core Laboratories N.V. or Core Laboratories Inc. as the successor
registrant depending on the completion of the Redomestication.

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Incorporated by reference to the definitive Proxy Statement for the 2023 Annual Megting of Shareholders.

Core Lab has a Code of Ethics and Corporate Responsibility that applies to all of its directors, officers and employees, including its
principal executive, financial and accounting officers, or persons performing similar functions. Core Lab’s Code of Ethics and Corporate
Responsibility is posted on its website at www.corelab.com/cr/cms/docs/CodeofBusinessConduct.pdf.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
The information set forth under the captions “Compensation Discussion and Analysis,” “Information About our Named Executive Offi-
cers and Executive Compensation” in Core Lab’s 2023 Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information under the captions “Ownership of Securities—Security Ownership by Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” and
“Compensation Discussion and Analysis—2022 Compensation Program Details” in Core Lab’s 2023 Proxy Statement is incorporated
herein by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

The information under the captions “Information About our Supervisory Directors and Director Compensation—Supervisory Director
Independence” and “Information About our Supervisory Directors and Director Compensation—Related Person Transactions” in Core
Lab’s 2023 Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
Our independent registered public accounting firm is KPMG LLP, Houston, TX, Auditor Firm ID: 185.

The information under the caption “Information About our Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” in Core Lab’s 2023 Proxy
Statement is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) Financial Statements

1. The following reports, financial statements and schedules are filed herewith on the pages indicated:

Page

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm-KPMG LLP .................. ... ... ... ... ......... 53
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,2022 and 2021 ... ... ... o 54
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31,2022, 2021and 2020 ..................... 55
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the Years Ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 . ... .. 56
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 ............... 57
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 .................... 59
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements . . .. ... .. o 61
2. Financial Statement Schedule

Schedule Il - Valuation and Qualifying ACCount . .. ... o 87

(b) Exhibits
The exhibits listed in the accompanying “Index to Exhibits” are incorporated by reference to the filing indicated or are filed herewith.

ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY
Not applicable.
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Incorporated by Reference from the

Exhibit No.  Exhibit Title Following Documents
3.1 Articles of Association of the Company, as amended on May 18, 2017 (including Form 10-K, February 12, 2018
English translation) (File No. 001-14273)
4.1 Description of Share Capital Filed Herewith
10.1 Core Laboratories N.V. 2020 Long-Term Incentive Plan (1) Appendix A to Definitive Proxy
Statement dated March 20, 2020 for
Annual Meeting of Shareholders
(File No. 001-14273)
10.2 Core Laboratories N.V. 2014 Nonemployee Director Stock Incentive Plan (as Proxy Statement dated March 19, 2014
amended and restated effective as of May 12, 2014) (1) for Annual Meeting of Shareholders
(File No. 001-14273)
10.3 Core Laboratories Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan effective as of January 1, Form 10-K, March 31, 1998
1998 (1) (File No. 000-26710)
10.4 Amendment to Core Laboratories Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, effective Form 10-Q, August 16, 1999
July 29,1999 (1) (File No. 001-14273)
10.5 Amendment to Core Laboratories Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, effective Form 10-Q, May 15, 2003
February 28, 2003 (1) (File No. 001-14273)
10.6 Amendment to Core Laboratories Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan dated as Form 10-Q, May 12, 2008
of March 5, 2008 (1) (File No. 001-14273)
10.7 Form of Restricted Share Award Program Agreement (1) Form 10-K, February 20, 2007
(File No. 001-14273)
10.8 Form of Core Laboratories 2011 Non-Employee Director Restricted Share Award Form 10-Q, April 22, 2011
Program Agreement (1) (File No. 001-14273)
10.9 Form of Core Laboratories 2017 Performance Share Award Program Agreement Form 10-K, February 11, 2019
(ROIC Based) (1) (File No. 001-14273)
10.10 Eighth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of July 25, 2022, among Form 8-K, July 27, 2022
Core Laboratories, N.V., and Core Laboratories (U.S.) Interests Holdings, Inc., and (File No. 001-14273)
the lenders party thereto and Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent and
Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as syndication agent and Comerica Bank, as documentation
agent.
10.11 Master Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of September 30, 2011 Form 8-K, September 30, 2011
(File No. 001-14273)
10.12 Employment Agreement between Gore Laboratories N.V. and Lawrence V. Bruno, Form 8-K, March 6, 2019
dated March 1,2019 (1) (File No. 001-14273)
1013 Employment Agreement between Core Laboratories N.V. and Christopher S. Hill, Form 8-K, March 6, 2019
dated March 1,2019 (1) (File No. 001-14273)
10.14 Employment Agreement between Core Laboratories N.V. and Gwendolyn Y. Form 10-K, February 8, 2021
Schreffler, Dated March 1, 2019 (1) (File No. 001-14273)
10.15 Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of October 16, 2020. Form 8-K, October 16, 2020
(File No. 001-14273)
10.16 Amendment No. 1 to Credit Agreement, by and among Core Laboratories N.V., Core Form 8-K, June 23, 2020
Laboratories (U.S.) Interests Holding, Inc., and the lenders party thereto and Bank of (File No. 001-14273)
America, N.A., as administrative agent, dated June 22, 2020.
1017 Amendment to Employment Agreement, by and between Core Laboratories N.V. and Form 8-K, March 5, 2020
Lawrence V. Bruno, dated March 1, 2020 (1). (File No. 001-14273)
10.18 Amendment and Restated Employment Agreement, by and between Core Form 8-K, October 19, 2021
Laboratories N.V. and Lawrence V. Bruno, dated October 18, 2021 (1) (File No. 001-14273)
10.19 Amendment and Restated Employment Agreement, by and between Core Form 8-K, October 19, 2021

Laboratories N.V. and Christopher S. Hill, dated October 18, 2021 (1)

(File No. 001-14273)
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Incorporated by Reference from the
Exhibit No.| Exhibit Title Following Documents
10.20 Amendment and Restated Employment Agreement, by and between Core Form 8-K, October 19, 2021
Laboratories N.V. and Gwendolyn Y. Schreffler, dated October 18, 2021 (1) (File No. 001-14273)
10.21 Employment Agreement, by and between Core Laboratories N.V. and Mark D. Form 8-K, October 19, 2021
Tattoli, dated October 18, 2021 (1) (File No. 001-14273)
211 Significant Subsidiaries of the Registrant Filed Herewith
23.1 Consent of KPMG LLP Filed Herewith
31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14 of the Securities Filed Herewith
Exchange Act of 1934, As Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-OxIey
Act of 2002
312 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14 of the Securities Filed Herewith
Exchange Act of 1934, As Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002
32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, As Filed Herewith
Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, As Filed Herewith
Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document- the instance document does not appear in the Filed Herewith
Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL
document.
101.5CH Inline XBRL Schema Document Filed Herewith
101.CAL Inline XBRL Calculation Linkbase Document Filed Herewith
101.LAB Inline XBRL Label Linkbase Document Filed Herewith
101.PRE Inline XBRL Presentation Linkbase Document Filed Herewith
101.DEF Inline XBRL Definition Linkbase Document Filed Herewith
104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document). Filed Herewith

(1) Management contracts or compensatory plans or arrangements.

49



SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

CORE LABORATORIES N.V.
By its sole managing director,
Core Lahoratories International B.V.

Date: February 9, 2023 By: /s/ JACOBUS SCHOUTEN

Jacohus Schouten
Managing Director of Core Laboratories
International B.V.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on
behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities indicated, on the 9th day of February 2023.

Signature Title
/s/ LAWRENCE BRUNO Chief Executive Officer, Chairman,
Lawrence Bruno President and Supervisory Director
/s/ CHRISTOPHER S. HILL Senior Vice President and
Christopher S. Hill Chief Financial Officer
/s/ KEVIN G. DANIELS Vice President, Treasurer and
Kevin G. Daniels Chief Accounting Officer
/s/ MARTHA Z. CARNES Supervisory Director

Martha Z. Carnes

/s/ KATHERINE A. MURRAY Supervisory Director
Katherine A. Murray

/s/ MONIQUE VAN DIJKEN EEUWIJK Supervisory Director
Monique van Dijken Eeuwijk

/s/ HARVEY KLINGENSMITH Supervisory Director
Harvey Klingensmith

/s/ MICHAEL STRAUGHEN Supervisory Director
Michael Straughen

/s/ KWAKU TEMENG Supervisory Director
Kwaku Temeng
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Shareholders and Board of Directors Core Laboratories N.V.:

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Core Laboratories N.V. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of
December 31, 2022 and 2021, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (10ss), changes in equity, and
cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2022, and the related notes and financial statement sched-
ule Il (collectively, the consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the results of its operations and its
cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2022, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted account-
ing principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB),
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022, based on criteria established in /nternal Control —
Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, and our report dated
February 9, 2023 expressed an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opin-
ion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error
or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial state-
ments, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a
test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the con-
solidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements
that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are
material to the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The
communication of a critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a
whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on
the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

The impact of the Company’s organizational structure on its income tax provision

As discussed in note 1 and note 10 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company is domiciled in the Netherlands and has
international operations requiring the evaluation of income taxes across many tax jurisdictions. The Company recorded deferred tax
assets of $86.3 million and deferred tax liabilities of $31.3 million as of December 31, 2022, and income tax expense of $10.3 million
for the year then ended.

We identified the evaluation of the impact of the Company’s organizational structure on its income tax provision as a critical audit mat-
ter. Specifically, the evaluation of the identification, interpretation, and application of tax laws in certain jurisdictions, which can be com-
plex and subject to change, and their impact on the Company’s income tax provision required a high degree of auditor judgment and
specialized skills and knowledge.
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The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We evaluated the design and tested the
operating effectiveness of certain internal controls related to the (i) identification, interpretation and application of tax laws and

(ii) impact of the organizational structure in certain jurisdictions. We inspected the Company’s legal entity organization chart to identify
changes in structure. We evaluated the application of tax laws in certain jurisdictions and assessed current applicability by inspecting
the Company’s correspondence and agreements with certain tax authorities and intercompany agreements. We involved income tax pro-
fessionals with specialized skills and knowledge who assisted, for certain jurisdictions, in (i) assessing the Company’s application of tax
laws, including statutes, regulations, and case law and (ii) evaluating the impact on the tax provision.

/s/ KPMG LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2015.

Houston, Texas
February 9, 2023
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors Core Laboratories N.V.:

Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited Core Laboratories N.V. and subsidiaries’ (the Company) internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2022, based on criteria established in /nternal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organiza-
tions of the Treadway Commission. In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2022, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB),
the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, the related consolidated statements
of operations, comprehensive income (loss), changes in equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2022, and the related notes and financial statement schedule Il (collectively, the consolidated financial statements), and
our report dated February 9, 2023 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of
the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control
over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based
on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Com-
pany in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Com-
mission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our
audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assess-
ing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based
on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the mainte-
nance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company;

(2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with
authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detec-
tion of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in con-
ditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Houston, Texas
February 9, 2023
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CORE LABORATORIES N.V.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
December 31, 2022 and 2021

(In thousands, except share and per share data) 2022 2021
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 15,428 17,703
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for credit losses of
$2,214 and $3,225 at 2022 and 2021, respectively 106,913 96,830
Inventories 60,445 45,443
Prepaid expenses 15,665 14,059
Income taxes receivable 8,190 9,911
Other current assets 5,061 5,109
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 211,702 189,055
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, net of accumulated depreciation of
$314,737 and $306,461 at 2022 and 2021, respectively 105,028 110,952
RIGHT OF USE ASSETS 52,379 61,387
INTANGIBLES, net of accumulated amortization and impairment of
$17.475 and $17,540 at 2022 and 2021, respectively 7,483 8,139
GOODWILL 99,445 99,445
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS, net 68,570 70,462
OTHER ASSETS 33,747 41,413
TOTAL ASSETS $ 578,354 580,853
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable $ 45,847 29,726
Accrued payroll and related costs 23,431 20,833
Taxes other than payroll and income 4,822 5,931
Unearned revenues 5,942 7,765
Operating lease liabilities 11,699 12,342
Income taxes payable 3,034 6,502
Other current liabilities 8,360 7,683
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 103,135 90,782
LONG-TERM DEBT, net 172,386 188,636
LONG-TERM OPERATING LEASE LIABILITIES 38,305 49,286
DEFERRED COMPENSATION 31,814 39,101
DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES, net 22,877 24,336
OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 20,883 27,711
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
EQUITY:
Preference shares, EUR 0.02 par valug;
6,000,000 shares authorized, none issued or outstanding — —
Common shares, EUR 0.02 par value; 200,000,000 shares authorized,
46,699,102 issued and 46,631,934 outstanding at 2022 and
46,454,264 issued and 46,349,397 outstanding at 2021 1,194 1,188
Additional paid-in capital 102,254 101,120
Retained earnings 85,949 68,349
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (3,777) (10,133)
Treasury shares (at cost), 67,168 at 2022 and 104,867 at 2021 (1,362) (4,075)
Total Core Laboratories N.V. shareholders’ equity 184,258 156,449
Non-controlling interest 4,696 4,552
TOTAL EQUITY 188,954 161,001
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY $ 578,354 580,853

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CORE LABORATORIES IN.V.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

For the Years Ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020

(In thousands, except per share data) 2022 2021 2020
REVENUE:

Services $ 346,974 $ 344342 $ 376,421

Product sales 142,761 125,910 110,846
Total revenue 489,735 470,252 487,267
OPERATING EXPENSES:

Cost of services, exclusive of depreciation expense shown below 274,297 267,641 279,281

Cost of product sales, exclusive of depreciation expense, impairment

and other charges and inventory write-down shown below 119,358 100,255 95,486
General and administrative expense, exclusive of depreciation
expense shown below 38,117 44173 34,033

Depreciation 16,476 17,754 19,727

Amortization 685 762 1,140

Impairments and other charges — — 122,204

Inventory write-down — — 10,375

Other (income) expense, net (722) (5,595) 1,826
OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) 41,524 45,262 (76,805)
Interest expense 11,570 9,152 14,372
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes 29,954 36,110 (91,177)
Income tax expense (benefit) 10,296 15,891 5,896
Income (loss) from continuing operations 19,658 20,219 (97,073)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of income taxes — — (424)
Net income (l0ss) 19,658 20,219 (97,497)

Net income (loss) attributable to non-controlling interest 205 492 140
Net income (l0ss) attributable to Core Laboratories N.V. $ 19,453 $ 19,727 $ (97,637)
EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE INFORMATION:
Basic earnings (loss) per share from continuing operations $ 0.42 $ 0.44 $ (2.18)
Basic earnings (loss) per share from discontinued operations $ — $ — $ (0.01)
Basic earnings (l0ss) per share attributable to Core Laboratories N.V. $ 0.42 $ 0.43 $ (2.20)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share from continuing operations $ 0.42 $ 0.43 $ (2.18)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share from discontinued operations $ — $ — $ (0.01)
Diluted earnings (l0ss) per share attributable to Core Laboratories N.V. $ 0.42 $ 0.42 $ (2.20)
WEIGHTED AVERAGE COMMON SHARES OUTSTANDING:
Basic 46,334 46,009 44 477
Diluted 46,813 46,690 44 477

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CORE LABORATORIES N.V.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

For the Years Ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020

(In thousands) 2022 2021 2020
Net income (loss) $ 19,658 $ 20,219 $ (97,497)
Other comprehensive income (10ss):
Interest rate swaps:
Gain (loss) on fair value of interest rate swaps 6,015 (3,252) (2,1006)
Interest rate swap amount reclassified to net income (loss) 998 (82) 669
Income tax expense (benefit) on interest rate swaps reclassified to net income
(loss) (1,144) 621 302
Total interest rate swaps 5,869 (2,7113) (1,135)
Pension and other postretirement benefit plans:
Adjustment of unrecognized pension actuarial gain (l0ss) 603 (293) 351
Income tax expense (benefit) on pension and other postretirement benefit plans
reclassified to net income (loss) (116) 73 (86)
Total pension and other postretirement benefit plans 487 (220) 265
Total other comprehensive income (10ss) 6,356 (2,933) (870)
Comprehensive income (10ss) 26,014 17,286 (98,367)
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to non-controlling interests 205 492 140
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to Core Laboratories N.V. $ 25,809 $ 16,794 $ (98,507)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.

56



CORE LABORATORIES N.V.
GCONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the Years Ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020

(In thousands, except share and per share data) 2022 2021 2020

Common Shares

Balance at Beginning of Period $ 1,188 1,148 1,148
New share issuance 6 40 —

Balance at End of Period $ 1,194 1,188 1,148

Additional Paid-In Capital

Balance at Beginning of Period $ 101,120 41,184 51,872
Stock-based compensation 1,140 837 (10,688)
New share issuance (6) 59,099 —

Balance at End of Period $ 102,254 101,120 41184

Retained Earnings

Balance at Beginning of Period $ 68,349 50,456 160,539
Dividends paid (1,853) (1,834) (12,446)
Net income (loss) attributable to Core Laboratories N.V. 19,453 19,727 (97,637)

Balance at End of Period $ 85,949 68,349 50,456

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Balance at Beginning of Period $ (10,133) (7,200) (6,330)
Pension and other postretirement benefit plans, net of income taxes 487 (220) 265
Interest rate swaps, net of income taxes 5,869 (2,713) (1,135)

Balance at End of Period $ (3,777) (10,133) (7,200)

Treasury Shares

Balance at Beginning of Period $ (4,075) (14,075) (29,364)
Stock-based compensation 6,616 18,256 18,082
Repurchase of common shares (3,903) (8,256) (2,793)

Balance at End of Period $ (1,362) (4,075) (14,075)

Non-Controlling Interest

Balance at Beginning of Period $ 4,552 4,060 4275
Non-controlling interest dividends (61) — (355)
Net income (loss) attributable to non-controlling interest 205 492 140

Balance at End of Period $ 4,696 4552 4,060

Total Equity

Balance at Beginning of Period $ 161,001 75,573 182,140
Stock-based compensation 1,756 19,093 7,394
Repurchase of common shares (3,903) (8,256) (2,793)
Dividends paid (1,853) (1,834) (12,446)
Non-controlling interest dividends (61) — (355)
New share issuance — 59,139 —
Pension and other postretirement benefit plans, net of income taxes 487 (220) 265
Interest rate swaps, net of income taxes 5,869 (2,713) (1,135)
Net income (l0ss) 19,658 20,219 (97,497)

Balance at End of Period $ 188,954 161,001 75,573

Cash Dividends per Share $ 0.04 0.04 0.28

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CORE LABORATORIES N.V.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (continve

For the Years Ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020

(In thousands, except share and per share data) 2022 2021 2020

Common Shares—Number of shares issued

Balance at Beginning of Period 46,454,264 44,796,252 44,796,252
New share issuance 244,838 1,658,012 —

Balance at End of Period 46,699,102 46,454,264 44,796,252

Treasury Shares—Number of shares

Balance at Beginning of Period (104,867) (223,451) (330,690)
Stock-based compensation 212,047 419,152 208,168
Repurchase of common shares (174,348) (300,568) (100,929)

Balance at End of Period (67,168) (104,867) (223,451)

Common Shares—Number of shares outstanding

Balance at Beginning of Period 46,349,397 44 572 801 44 465,562
New share issuance 244,838 1,658,012 —
Stock-based compensation 212,047 419,152 208,168
Repurchases of common shares (174,348) (300,568) (100,929)

Balance at End of Period 46,631,934 46,349,397 44 572 801

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CORE LABORATORIES IN.V.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Years Ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020

(In thousands) 2022 2021 2020
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Income (loss) from continuing operations $ 19,658 20,219 (97,073)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of income taxes — — (424)
Net income (l0ss) 19,658 20,219 (97,497)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:
Stock-based compensation 7,756 19,093 7,394
Depreciation and amortization 17,161 18,516 20,867
Impairments, inventory write-down and other charges — — 132,579
Changes in value of life insurance policies 5,069 (2,672) (894)
Deferred income taxes 433 6,012 (12,216)
Realization of pension obligation 451 (234) 188
Net provision for credit losses (6) (256) 1,618
Gain on sale of business —_ (1,012) —
(Gain) loss on sale of discontinued operations — — 573
Other non-cash items (547) (2,524) (683)
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effects of acquisitions and divestures:
Accounts receivable (10,078) (13,522) 46,421
Inventories (14,860) (4,547) 1,471
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (76) 1,845 (2,296)
Other assets (1,369) (523) (1,905)
Accounts payable 15,374 6,568 (12,838)
Accrued expenses (1,302) (8,759) 602
Unearned revenue (1,823) 2,308 (7,924)
Other liabilities (10,885) (3,933) (17,592)
Net cash provided by operating activities 24,956 36,579 57,868
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Capital expenditures (10,216) (13,539) (11,880)
Patents and other intangibles (29) (318) (498)
Distribution received from life insurance policies —_ — 20,443
Proceeds from sale of assets 1,889 678 1,734
Proceeds from sale of business, net of cash sold 240 873 —
Proceeds from insurance recovery 583 726 —
Proceeds (payment) from sale of discontinued operations — — (225)
Net proceeds (premiums) on life insurance policies 3,677 1,357 (1,723)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (3,856) (10,223) 7,851
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Repayment of long-term debt (131,000) (226,000) (102,000)
Proceeds from long-term debt 116,000 155,000 56,000
Proceeds from issuance of common shares — 60,000 —
Transaction costs on equity distribution program (411) (861) —
Debt issuance costs (2,206) — (1,536)
Dividends paid (1,853) (1,834) (12,446)
Repurchase of common shares (3,903) (8,256) (2,793)
Other financing activities (2) (508) (230)
Net cash used in financing activities (23,375) (22,459) (63,005)
NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (2,275) 3,897 2,714
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, beginning of year 17,703 13,806 11,092
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, end of year $ 15,428 17,703 13,806

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CORE LABORATORIES N.V.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (continuea

For the Years Ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020

(In thousands) 2022 2021 2020
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:

Cash payments for interest $ 9,300 $ 10,477 $ 11,669

Cash payments for income taxes $ 14,078 $ 9,066 $ 21,325
Non-cash investing and financing activities:

Capital expenditures incurred but not paid for as of the end of the year $ 1,157 $ 1,361 $ 1,064

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.

60



CORE LABORATORIES IN.V.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEVIBER 31, 2022

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Core Laboratories N.V. (“Core Laboratories”, “Core Lab”, “the Company”, “we”, “our” or “us”) is a Netherlands limited liability com-
pany. We were established in 1936 and are one of the world’s leading providers of proprietary and patented reservoir description and
production enhancement services and products to the oil and gas industry. These services and products can enable our clients to evalu-
ate and improve reservoir performance and increase oil and gas recovery from their new and existing fields. We have over 70 offices in
more than 50 countries and have approximately 3,600 employees.

Subsequent to the year end, on January 17, 2023, the Company announced its intention to reorganize the Company’s corporate struc-
ture, which will include redomestication of the parent company from the Netherlands to the United States as Core Laboratories Inc., a
Delaware corporation. See Note 23 — Subsequent Events.

We operate our business in two segments: (1) Reservoir Description and (2) Production Enhancement. These complementary operating
segments provide different services and products and utilize different technologies for evaluating and improving reservoir performance
and increasing oil and gas recovery from new and existing fields. For a description of the types of services and products offered by
these operating segments, see Note 22 — Segment Reporting and Other Disaggregated Information.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Core Laboratories and its subsidiaries for which we have a
controlling voting interest and/or a controlling financial interest. These financials have been prepared in accordance with United States
generally accepted accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP”). We use the equity method of accounting for investments in which we have less
than a majority interest and do not exercise control but do exert significant influence. Non-controlling interest have been recorded to
reflect outside ownership attributable to consolidated subsidiaries that are less than 100% owned. All inter-company transactions and
balances have been eliminated in consolidation.

Certain reclassifications were made to prior period amounts in order to conform to the current period presentation. These reclassifica-
tions had no impact on the reported net income or cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Pronouncements Adopted

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12 (“Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes”) which affects general principles
within Topic 740, Income Taxes. The amendment removes exceptions related to the incremental approach for intraperiod tax allocation,
the recognition of a deferred tax liability for equity method investments in a foreign subsidiary, and the methodology for calculating
income taxes in an interim period. The standard also simplifies the accounting for franchise taxes, transactions that result in a step-up
in the tax basis of goodwill, the effect of an enacted change in tax laws on the tax rate computation in interim periods, and specifying
that an entity is not required to allocate consolidated tax expense to a legal entity not subject to tax in its separate financial statements.
This standard is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2020. We adopted
this standard on January 1, 2021, and there has been no significant impact on our consolidated financial statements or on our account-
ing policies and processes.

In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-04 (“Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting”) which pro-
vides temporary optional guidance to ease the potential burden in accounting for reference rate reform. The new guidance provides
optional expedients and exceptions for applying generally accepted accounting principles to contract modifications and hedging rela-
tionships, subject to meeting certain criteria, that reference LIBOR or another reference rate expected to be discontinued. The ASU is
intended to help stakeholders during the global market-wide reference rate transition period. During the year ended December 31, 2022,
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we elected to apply the optional expedient for hedging relationships affected by reference rate reform upon the Company’s amending its
existing credit facility that included a change in the reference rate. Accordingly, no outstanding balance on the Amended Credit Facility
will preclude cash flow hedging with existing hedging instruments. See Note 77 — Long-term Debt, netand Note 15 — Derivative Instru-
ments and Hedging Activities.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and
the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. We evaluate our estimates on an ongoing basis and utilize
our historical experience, as well as various other assumptions that we believe are reasonable in a given circumstance, in order to make
these estimates. Actual results could differ from our estimates, as assumptions and conditions change.

The following accounts, among others, require us to use estimates and assumptions:
e allowance for credit losses;

e obsolete inventory;

e (epreciation and amortization;

e |ong-lived assets, intangibles and goodwill;

e income taxes;

e pensions and other postretirement benefits;

e stock-based compensation; and

® |eases.

Accounting policies relating to these accounts and the nature of these estimates are further discussed under the applicable caption. For
gach of these critical estimates it is at least reasonably possible that changes in these estimates will occur in the short term which may
impact our financial position or results of operations.

Foreign Currencies

Our functional currency is the U.S. Dollar (“USD”). All inter-company financing, transactions and cash flows with our subsidiaries are
transacted in USD. Revenue and expenses denominated in other currencies are measured at the applicable month-end exchange rate
which approximates the average exchange rate. We remeasure monetary assets and liabilities denominated in other currencies to USD at
year-end exchange rates. Non-monetary items, depreciation, amortization and certain components of cost of sales are measured at his-
torical rates. Remeasurement and settlement difference are included in other (income) expense, net in the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations. See Note 20 — Other (Income) Expense, net.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Our financial instruments that potentially subject us to concentrations of credit risk relate primarily to cash and cash equivalents and
trade accounts receivable. All cash and cash equivalents are on deposit at commercial banks or investment firms with significant finan-
cial resources. Our trade receivables are with a variety of domestic, international and national oil and gas companies. We had no clients
who provided more than 10% of our revenue for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020. We consider our credit risk
related to trade accounts receivable to be limited due to the creditworthiness and financial resources of our clients. We apply the
expected credit losses methodology for measurement of credit losses on financial assets measured at amortized cost basis. We evaluate
our estimate for credit losses on an on-going basis throughout the year.

Concentration of Interest Rate Risk

We are exposed to interest rate risk on our revolving credit facility debt, which carries a variable interest rate. We are exposed to interest
rate risk on our Senior Notes which carry a fixed interest rate, but whose fair value will fluctuate based on changes in interest rates and
market perception of our credit risk. See Note 77 — Long-term Debt, net.
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Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include all short-term, highly liquid instruments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less.
These items are carried at cost, which approximates fair value.

Accounts Receivable

Trade accounts receivable are recorded at their invoiced amounts and do not bear interest. We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our
clients, monitor collections and payments, consider our historical collection experience and our current aging of client receivables out-
standing, in addition to client’s representations and our understanding of the economic environment in which our clients operate. Based
on our review we establish or adjust allowances for credit losses for specific clients and the accounts receivable, as a whole, and recog-
nize expense. When an account is determined to be uncollectible, we charge the receivable to our allowance for credit losses. The net
carrying value of accounts receivable approximates fair value.

Contract Assets and Liabilities
Contract assets and liabilities arise from differences in timing of revenue recognition, billings and cash collections.

Contract assets include our right to payment for goods and services already transferred to a customer when the right to payment is con-
ditional on something other than the passage of time. For example, we have contracts where we recognize revenue over time but do not
have a contractual right to payment until we complete the performance obligations.

Contract liabilities consist of advance payments received and billings in excess of revenue recognized. We generally receive up-front
payments relating to our consortia studies. We recognize revenue over the life of the study as the testing and analysis results are made
available to our consortia members. We record billings in excess of revenue recognized for contracts with a duration less than twelve
months as unearned revenue. We classify contract liabilities for contracts with a duration greater than twelve months as current or
non-current based on the timing of revenue recognition.

Inventories

Inventories consist of manufactured goods, materials and supplies used for sales or services to clients. Inventories are stated at the
lower of cost or estimated net realizable value. Inventory costs are recorded at standard cost which approximates the first-in, first-out
method.

Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets
Prepaid expenses and other current assets are comprised primarily of prepaid insurance, value added taxes and prepaid rents.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation. Major renewals and improvements are capitalized while
maintenance and repair costs are charged to expense as incurred. They are depreciated using the straight-line method based on their
individual estimated useful lives, except for leasehold improvements, which are depreciated over the remaining lease term, if shorter.
We estimate the useful lives and salvage values of our assets based on historical data as follows:

Buildings and leasehold improvements 3—40 years
Machinery and equipment 3—10years

When long-lived assets are sold or retired, the remaining costs and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts
and any resulting gain or loss is recognized.

We review our long-lived assets for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that their net book value may not be
recovered over their remaining service lives. Indicators of possible impairment may include significant declines in activity levels in
regions where specific assets or groups of assets are located, extended periods of idle use, declining revenue or cash flow or overall
changes in general market conditions.
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The geopolitical conflict between Russia and Ukraine, which began in February 2022 and has continued through December 31, 2022,
has resulted in disruptions to our operations in Russia and Ukraine. The Company evaluated long-lived assets in Russia and Ukraine as
part of our assessment of our assets group and did not identify triggering events as of December 31, 2022. Based on our assessments,
we determined there was no impairment for long-lived assets in Russia and Ukraine as of December 31, 2022. See Note 78 — Impair-
ments and Other Charges.

Whenever possible impairment is indicated, we compare the carrying value of the assets to the sum of the estimated undiscounted
future cash flows expected from use, plus salvage value, less the costs of the subsequent disposition of the assets. If impairment is still
indicated, we compare the fair value of the assets to the carrying amount and recognize an impairment loss for the amount by which the
carrying value exceeds the fair value. We did not record any material impairment charges relating to our long-lived assets held for use
during the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020.

Leases

We have operating leases primarily consisting of offices and lab space, machinery and equipment and vehicles. We determine if an
arrangement is an operating or finance lease at inception. Lease assets and lease liabilities are recognized based on the present value of
the future minimum lease payments over the lease term at commencement date. Where our lease does not provide an implicit rate, we
estimate the discount rate used to discount the future minimum lease payments using our incremental borrowing rate and other infor-
mation available at the commencement date. Operating leased assets also include all initial direct costs incurred. The lease term may
include options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that we will exercise that option.

Operating leased assets are included in right of use (“ROU”) assets and, along with current and long-term operating lease liabilities, are
separately presented in our consolidated balance sheet. Financing leased assets are included in property, plant and equipment, net and
the related liabilities are included in other current and other long- term liabilities in our consolidated balance sheet.

ROU assets are subsequently depreciated over the estimated useful life of the asset and lease liabilities are carried at amortized cost
using the effective interest rate method.

The Company has elected to apply the short-term lease exemption to all classes of underlying ROU assets. Accordingly, no ROU asset
or lease liability is recognized for leases with a term of twelve months or less.

The Company has elected to apply the practical expedient for combining lease and non-lease components for vehicle leases and elected
not to apply the practical expedient for combining lease and non-lease components to all other classes of underlying ROU assets.

Intangibles and Goodwill

Intangible assets, which include trade secrets, patents, technology, agreements not to compete, trade names, and trademarks, are car-
ried at cost less accumulated amortization, for intangibles with a definite life, and any accumulated impairment. Intangibles with definite
lives are amortized using the straight-line method based on the estimated useful life of the intangible. Intangibles with indefinite lives,
which consist primarily of corporate trade names, are not amortized, but are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in cir-
cumstances indicate that impairment is possible. See Note 78 — Impairments and Other Charges.

We record goodwill as the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net assets acquired in acquisitions accounted for under
the purchase method of accounting. Goodwill is not subject to amortization and is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if
gvents or changes in circumstances indicate goodwill is more likely than not impaired. We assess goodwill for impairment either by
performing a qualitative assessment or a quantitative test. The qualitative assessment is to determine whether the existence of events or
circumstances leads to a determination that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying
amount, including goodwill. If the estimated fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying value, then there is an impairment loss
limited to the amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit. Our reporting units are the same as our two operating segments. Sig-
nificant judgments and assumptions are inherent in our estimate of future cash flows used to determine the estimate of the reporting
unit’s fair value which include assumptions regarding future revenue growth rates, discount rates and expected margins. See Note 78 —
Impairments and Other Charges.
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Accounts Payable
Trade accounts payable are recorded at their invoiced amounts and do not bear interest. The carrying value of accounts payable approxi-
mates fair value.

Income Taxes

We recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been included in the con-
solidated financial statements or tax returns. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the difference between the finan-
cial statement and the tax basis of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the asset is expected to be
recovered or the liability is expected to be settled. We include interest and penalties from tax judgments in income tax expense.

We record a liability for unrecognized tax benefits resulting from uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be taken in our tax return.
We also recognize interest and penalties, if any, related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense. See Note 70 — Income
Taxes.

Pension and Other Postretirement Benefit Plans

We provide a non-contributory defined benefit pension plan covering substantially all of our Dutch employees (“Dutch Plan”) who were
hired prior to 2000. We recognize net periodic pension costs associated with the Dutch plan in income and recognize the unfunded sta-
tus of the plan, if any, as an other long-term liability. We recognize the actuarial gains or losses and prior service costs or credits that
arise during the period as a component of other comprehensive income. The projection of benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets
requires the use of assumptions and estimates. Actual results could differ from those estimates. See Note 72 — Pension and Other Post-
retirement Benefit Plans.

We maintain defined contribution plans for the benefit of eligible employees primarily in Canada, the Netherlands, the United Kingdom
and the United States. We expense contributions in the period the contribution is made.

Derivative Instruments
We may enter into a variety of derivative instruments in connection with the management of our exposure to fluctuations in interest rates
or currency exchange rates. See Note 75 — Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.

We do not enter into derivatives for speculative purposes.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income is comprised of net income and other charges or credits to equity that are not the result of transactions with
owners. Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) consists of prior service costs and unrecognized net actuarial gain or 10ss
from the Dutch pension plan and changes in the fair value of our interest rate swaps. See Note 72 — Pension and Other Postretirement
Benefit Plans and Note 15 — Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.

Revenue Recognition

All of our revenue is derived from contracts with clients. Our contracts include standard commercial payment terms generally acceptable
in each region, and do not include financing with extended payment terms. We have no significant obligations for refunds, warranties, or
similar obligations. Our revenue does not include taxes collected from our clients. In certain circumstances we apply the guidance in
Accounting Standards Codification Topic 606 — Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“Topic 606”) to a portfolio of contracts with
similar characteristics. We use estimates and assumptions when accounting for a portfolio that reflect the size and composition of the
portfolio of contracts.

We recognize revenue at an amount that reflects the consideration expected to be received in exchange for such services or goods as
described below by applying the five-step method to: (1) identify the contract(s) with clients; (2) identify the performance obligation(s)
in the contract; (3) determine the transaction price; (4) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligation(s) in the contract; and
(5) recognize revenue when (or as) we satisfy the performance obligation(s). A performance obligation is a promise in a contract to
transfer a distinct service or good to a client and is the unit of account under Topic 606. We have contracts with two general groups of
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performance obligations: those that require us to perform analysis and/or diagnostic tests in our laboratory or at the client’s wellsite and
those from the sale of tools, diagnostic and equipment products and related services.

Service Revenue: We provide a variety of services to clients in the oil and gas industry. Where services are provided related to the test-
ing and analysis of rock and fluids, we recognize revenue upon the provision of the test results or analysis to the client. For our design,
field engineering and completion diagnostic services, we recognize revenue upon the delivery of those services at the well site or deliv-
ery of diagnostic data. In the case of our consortia studies, we have multiple performance obligations and revenue is recognized at the
point in time when the testing and analysis results on each contributed core are made available to our consortia members. For arrange-
ments that include multiple performance obligations, we allocate revenue to each performance obligation based on estimates of the
price that we would charge the client for each promised service or product if it were sold on a standalone basis.

To a lesser extent, we enter into other types of contracts including service arrangements and non-subscription software and licensing
agreements. We recognize revenue for these arrangements over time or at a point in time depending on our evaluation of when the client
obtains control of the promised services or products.

Proauct Sales Revenue: We manufacture equipment that we sell to our clients in the oil and gas industry. We recognize revenue when
control of the promised product is transferred to the client. Control of the product usually passes to the client at the time shipment is
made or picked up by the client at our facilities, as defined within the contract.

Disaggregation of Revenue

We contract with clients for service revenue and/or product sales revenue. We present revenue disaggregated by services and product
sales in our consolidated statements of operations. For revenue disaggregated by operating segment, see Note 22 — Segment Reporting
and Other Disaggregated Information.

Stock-Based Compensation

For new awards issued and awards modified, repurchased or canceled, we record compensation expense in the consolidated statements
of operations equal to the fair value of the award at the date of the grant, modification, repurchase or cancellation over the requisite ser-
vice period of the award. The fair value is generally determined by the quoted market price of the Company’s common shares on the date
of grant less the discounted value of the expected dividends to be paid over the vesting period.

Non-controlling Interests

We maintain non-controlling interests in several investment ventures. Non-controlling interest have been recorded to reflect outside
ownership attributable to consolidated subsidiaries that are less than 100% owned and presented as a separate component of equity in
the consolidated balance sheets and income in the consolidated statements of operations and other comprehensive income (10ss),
respectively. In addition, when a subsidiary is deconsolidated, any retained non-controlling equity investment in the former subsidiary
will be initially measured at fair value and recorded as a gain or |0ss.

3. ACQUISITIONS AND DIVESTURES

We had no significant acquisitions or divestitures during the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020. We completed the
divestment of our business of permanent downhole monitoring systems and related services in 2019 and concluded the final adjustment
of $0.6 million to the purchase agreement in 2020. There are no other activities recorded in the consolidated statements of operations
for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, and no balances recorded in the consolidated balance shegts for the discontin-
ued operations as of December 31, 2022 and 2021.
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4. CONTRACT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The balance of contract assets and contract liabilities consist of the following (in thousands):

December 31,

2022 2021

Contract assets:
Current

Rl

1,148 $ 2072

$ 1,148 $ 2,072

Contract liabilities:

Current $ 907 $ 1,300
Non-current 24 435
$ 931 $ 1735

December 31, 2022

Estimate of when contract liabilities will be recognized
Within 12 months $ 907
Within 12 to 24 months $ 24

The current portion of contract assets are included in our accounts receivable as of December 31, 2022 and 2021.

The current portion of contract liabilities is included in unearned revenue and the non-current portion of contract liabilities is included
in other long-term liabilities. We did not recognize any impairment losses on our contract assets for the years ended December 31,
2022, 2021 and 2020.

5. INVENTORIES

Inventories consist of the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2022 2021
Finished goods $ 26,534 $ 21,527
Parts and materials 31,323 20,965
Work in progress 2,588 2,951
Total inventories $ 60,445 $ 45,443

We include freight costs incurred for shipping inventory to our clients in the cost of product sales caption in the accompanying consoli-
dated statements of operations. See Note 79 — Inventory Write-down for further detail.

6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, NET

The components of property, plant and equipment, net are as follows (in thousands):

December 31,
2022 2021
Land $ 10,652 $ 11,395
Building and leasehold improvements 120,994 120,066
Machinery and equipment 288,119 285,952
Total property, plant and equipment 419,765 417,413
Less: Accumulated depreciation (314,737) (306,461)
Property, plant and equipment, net $ 105,028 $ 110,952
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7. LEASES

Our operating leases primarily consist of offices and lab space, machinery and equipment and vehicles. The components of lease

expense are as follows (in thousands):

For the Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Operating lease expense $ 16,595 $ 17,253 $ 17,848
Short-term lease expense 1,784 1,990 1,801
Variable lease expense 1,414 1,462 1,442
Total lease expense $ 19,793 $ 20,705 $ 21,091
Other information:

Operating cash flows for operating leases $ 16,598 $ 16,367 $ 17,049
Right of use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease obligations $ 5,520 $ 5,736 $ 5,654
Weighted - average remaining lease term - operating leases 6.88 years 7.62 years 8.69 years
Weighted - average discount rate - operating leases 4.62% 4.61% 4.70%

Scheduled undiscounted lease payments for non-cancellable leases consist of the following (in thousands):

December 31, 2022

2023 $ 13,584
2024 10,294
2025 8,247
2026 6,472
2027 5,168
Thereafter 15,387

Total undiscounted lease payments 59,152
Less: Imputed interest (9,148)

Total operating lease liabilities $ 50,004

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company recorded $0.5 million on lease abandonment for certain properties that ceased
in use and are expected to provide no future economic benefits. There is no lease abandonment cost recorded during the years ended

December 31, 2022 and 2021.

8. INTANGIBLES AND GOODWILL

The components of intangibles, net are as follows (in thousands):

December 31,

2022

2021

Accumulated

Accumulated

Amortization Amortization
Useful life in Gross Carrying and Gross Carrying and

years Value Impairment Value Impairment
Acquired trade secrets 2-20 $ 4,278 $ 3,545 $ 4278 $ 3,334
Acquired patents and technology 4-15 14,907 12,883 15,628 13,159
Agreements not to compete 2-5 1,149 1,036 1,149 1,036
Acquired trade names and trademarks Indefinite 4,624 1 4,624 11
Total intangibles, net $ 24,958 $ 17,475 $ 25,679 $ 17,540
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Our estimated amortization expense relating to these intangibles for the next five years is summarized in the following table (in
thousands):

December 31, 2022

2023 $ 419
2024 $ 409
2025 $ 323
2026 $ 231
2027 $ 193
The carrying amount of goodwill for each operating segment is as follows (in thousands):
Reservoir Production
Description Enhancement Total
Balance at December 31, 2021 $ 99,445 $ — $ 99,445
Balance at December 31, 2022 $ 99,445 $ — $ 99,445
9. OTHER ASSETS
Other assets consist of the following (in thousands):
December 31,
2022 2021
Cash surrender value of life insurance policies $ 23,787 $ 32511
Investments in unconsolidated affiliates 4,450 4156
Other 5,510 4,746
Total other assets $ 33,747 $ 4,413

Cash surrender value of life insurance policies relates to postretirement benefit plans. See Note 72 — Pension and Other Postretirement
Benefit Plans. Investments include unconsolidated affiliates accounted for under the equity method where the operations of these enti-
ties are in-line with those of our core business. These entities are not considered special purpose entities, nor do we have special
off-balance sheet arrangements through these entities.

10. INCOME TAXES

The components of income (loss) before income taxes are as follows (in thousands):

For the Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
United States $ (4,099) | $ 10,028 $ (45,167)
Other countries 34,053 26,082 (46,010)
Income (loss) before income taxes $ 29,954 $ 36,110 $ (91,177)
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The components of income tax expense (benefit) are as follows (in thousands):

For the Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Current:
United States $ 1,269 $ 1,983 $ 5,181
Other countries 9,784 6,500 11,926
State and provincial (100) 699 618
Total current 10,953 9,182 17,725
Deferred:
United States (908) 905 (69)
Other countries (162) 5,630 (11,144)
State and provincial 413 174 (616)
Total deferred (657) 6,709 (11,829)
Income tax expense (benefit) $ 10,296 $ 15,891 $ 5,896

The differences in income tax expense (benefit) computed using the Netherlands statutory income tax rate of 25% and our income tax
expense (benefit) as reported in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations are as follows (in thousands):

For the Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020

Tax at the Netherlands income tax rate $ 7,368 $ 8,981 $ (23,005)
International earnings taxed at rates other than the Netherlands statutory rate 5,923 9,403 14,986
Non-deductible expenses 3,096 1,875 2,977
Change in valuation allowance 1,943 1,113 23
State and provincial taxes 662 462 (227)
Tax credits (6,872) (7,992) (5,975)
Unremitted earnings of subsidiaries (27) 1,236 418
Adjustments of prior year taxes (3,488) 1,320 545
Adjustments of income tax reserves (184) (1,345) (1,965)
Non-deductible goodwill impairment — — 15,547
Foreign exchange (576) (1,168) 226
UK tax rate change 676 (905) —
Netherlands audit settlement — 1,522 —
Accrued withholding taxes 1,883 1,648 2,092
Other (108) (259) 254

Income tax expense (benefit) $ 10,296 $ 15,891 $ 5,896
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities result from various temporary differences between the financial statement carrying amount and their
tax basis. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are summarized as follows (in thousands):

December 31,
2022 2021
Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carry-forwards $ 13,097 $ 10,622
Tax credit carry-forwards 4,653 4,658
Accruals for compensation 71,517 7,440
Accruals for inventory capitalization 992 3,192
Unrealized benefit from corporate restructuring 44,888 49,313
Intangibles 1,026 582
Unrealized benefit plan loss 2,070 1,974
Unrealized foreign exchange 2,881 2,853
UK tax rate change 318 905
Unearned revenue 882 1,024
Interest carry-forward 7,700 2,677
Other 322 1,183
Total deferred tax assets 86,346 86,423
Valuation allowance (9,318) (7,317)
Net deferred tax assets 77,028 79,046
Deferred tax liabilities:

Property, plant and equipment (3,246) (4,139)
Accrued withholding taxes (26,489) (27,544)
Unrealized foreign exchange (1,415) (1,070)
Other (185) (167)
Total deferred tax liabilities (31,335) (32,920)
Net deferred income taxes $ 45,693 $ 46,126

The table below summarizes the net deferred tax assets and net deferred tax liabilities by legal jurisdiction (in thousands):

December 31,
2022 2021
Long-term deferred tax assets, net $ 68,570 $ 70,462
Long-term deferred tax liabilities, net (22,877) (24,336)
Net deferred income taxes $ 45,693 $ 46,126

At December 31, 2022, we had tax net operating loss carry-forwards in various tax jurisdictions of $55.6 million. Although we cannot be
certain that these operating loss carry-forwards will be utilized, we anticipate that we will have sufficient taxable income in future years
to allow us to fully utilize the carry-forwards that are not subject to a valuation allowance. As of December 31, 2022, if unused,

$0.8 million will expire between 2023 and 2024, $3.0 million will expire between 2025 and 2027, $9.8 million will expire between 2028
and 2031 and $7.7 million will expire beyond 2031. The remaining balance of $34.3 million is not subject to expiration. During 2022,
no material net operating loss carry-forwards, which carried a full valuation allowance, expired unused.

We file income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, various states and foreign jurisdictions. We are currently undergoing multiple
examinations in various jurisdictions, and the years 2011 through 2021 remain open for examination in various tax jurisdictions in
which we operate. The ultimate settlement and timing of these additional tax assessments is uncertain but the Company will continue to
vigorously defend its return filing position and does not view the assessments as probable at this time.
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During 2022, adjustments were made to estimates for uncertain tax positions in certain tax jurisdictions based upon changes in facts
and circumstances, resulting in a reduction to the unrecognized tax benefits. A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of
unrecognized tax benefits is as follows (in thousands):

For the Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Unrecognized tax benefits at January 1, $ 4,327 $ 6,255 $ 7,301
Tax positions, current period 230 204 1,650
Tax positions, prior period (867) (197) (491)
Settlements with taxing authorities (19) (1,395) (2,159)
Lapse of applicable statute of limitations (162) (540) (46)
Unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, $ 3,509 $ 4,327 $ 6,255

Our policy is to record accrued interest and penalties on uncertain tax positions, net of any tax effect, as part of total tax expense for the
period. The corresponding liability is carried along with the tax exposure as a non-current payable in other long-term liabilities. For the
years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, we recognized $(0.2) million, $0.3 million and $(0.9) million, respectively, in interest
and penalties. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, we had $4.3 million and $4.5 million, respectively, accrued for the payment of inter-
est and penalties. Changes in our estimate of unrecognized tax benefits would affect our effective tax rate. As of December 31, 2022,
there are $0.2 million of unrecognized tax benefits that could be resolved within the next twelve months which could have a positive
effect on the annual effective tax rate.

11. LONG-TERM DEBT, NET

We have no finance lease obligations. Debt is summarized in the following table (in thousands):

December 31,
Interest Rate Maturity Date 2022 2021
2011 Senior Notes Series B () 4.11%| September 30, 2023 $ 75,000 $ 75,000
2021 Senior Notes Serigs A @) 4.09%| January 12, 2026 45,000 45,000
2021 Senior Notes Series B 4.38%  January 12,2028 15,000 15,000
Credit Facility 40,000 55,000
Total long-term debt 175,000 190,000
Less: Debt issuance costs (2,614) (1,364)
Long-term debt, net $ 172,386 $§ 188,636

(1) Interest is payable semi-annually on March 30 and September 30.

(2) Interest is payable semi-annually on June 30 and December 30.

We, along with our wholly owned subsidiary Core Laboratories (U.S.) Interests Holdings, Inc. (“CLIH") as issuer, have three series of
senior notes outstanding with an aggregate principal amount of $135 million that were issued through private placement transactions.
Series B of the 2011 Senior Notes was issued in 2011 (the “2011 Senior Notes”). Series A and Series B of the 2021 Senior Notes were
issued and funded on January 12, 2021 (the “2021 Senior Notes”). The 2021 Senior Notes and the 2011 Senior Notes are collectively
the “Senior Notes”. We intend to repay the 2011 Senior Notes Series B at maturity in September 2023 using borrowings under our exist-
ing long-term amended credit facility; therefore, we continue to classify them as long-term deb.

On July 25, 2022, we, along with CLIH, entered into an Eighth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (as amended, the “Amended
Credit Facility”) modifying and extending the existing credit facility for an aggregate borrowing commitment of $135 million with a
$50 million “accordion” feature. The Amended Credit Facility is secured by first priority interests in (1) substantially all of the tangible
and intangible personal property, and equity interest of CLIH and certain of the Company’s U.S. and foreign subsidiary companies; and
(2) instruments evidencing intercompany indebtedness owing to the Company, CLIH and certain of the Company’s U.S. and foreign
subsidiary companies. Under the Amended Credit Facility, the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) plus 2.00% to SOFR plus
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3.00% will be applied to outstanding borrowings. Any outstanding balance under the Amended Credit Facility is due at maturity on
July 25, 2026, subject to springing maturity on July 12, 2025, if the Company’s liquidity does not equal or exceed the principal amount
of the 2021 Senior Notes Series A outstanding on such date. The available capacity at any point in time is reduced by outstanding bor-
rowings and outstanding letters of credit which totaled approximately $9 million at December 31, 2022, resulting in an available bor-
rowing capacity under the Amended Credit Facility of approximately $86 million. In addition to indebtedness under the Amended Credit
Facility, we had approximately $6 million of outstanding letters of credit and performance guarantees and bonds from other sources as
of December 31, 2022. The Amended Credit Facility does not substantially alter the calculation of the net leverage or interest coverage
ratios. Pursuant to the terms of the Amended Credit Facility, the maximum leverage ratio permitted is as follows:

Maximum leverage

Quarter ending ratio permitted
June 30, 2022 and September 30, 2022 2.75
December 31, 2022 and thereafter 2.50

The terms of the Amended Credit Facility and Senior Notes require us to meet certain covenants, including, but not limited to, an inter-
est coverage ratio (calculated as consolidated EBITDA divided by interest expense) and a leverage ratio (calculated as consolidated net
indebtedness divided by consolidated EBITDA), where consolidated EBITDA (as defined in each agreement) and interest expense are
calculated using the most recent four fiscal quarters. The Amended Credit Facility and Senior Notes include a cross-default provision,
whereby a default under one agreement may trigger a default in the other agreements. The Amended Credit Facility has more restrictive
covenants with a minimum interest coverage ratio of 3.00 to 1.00 and permits a maximum leverage ratio as described above. The
Amended Credit Facility allows non-cash charges such as impairment of assets, stock compensation and other non-cash charges to be
added back in the calculation of consolidated EBITDA. The terms of our Amended Credit Facility also allow us to negotiate in good faith
to amend any ratio or requirement to preserve the original intent of the agreement if any change in accounting principles would affect the
computation of any financial ratio or covenant of the Amended Credit Facility. In accordance with the terms of the Amended Credit
Facility, our leverage ratio is 2.29, and our interest coverage ratio is 6.03, each for the period ended December 31, 2022. We believe that
we are in compliance with all covenants contained in our Amended Credit Facility and Senior Notes.

See Note 15 — Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities for additional information regarding interest rate swap agreements we have
entered to fix the underlying risk-free rate on our Amended Credit Facility and Senior Notes.

The estimated fair value of total debt at December 31, 2022 and 2021 approximated the book value of total debt. The fair value was esti-
mated using Level 2 inputs by calculating the sum of the discounted future interest and principal payments through the maturity date.

12. PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

Defined Benefit Plan

Prior to January 2020, we provided a noncontributory defined benefit pension plan covering substantially all of our Dutch employees
(“Dutch Plan”) who were hired prior to 2000. This pension benefit was based on years of service and final pay or career average pay
depending on when the employee began participating. Additionally, prior to January 2020, there was a curtailment of the Dutch Plan for
our Dutch employees and these employees have been moved into the Dutch defined contribution plan. However, the unconditional
indexation for this group of participants continues for so long as they remain in active service with the Company. There have been no
further contributions to fund the Dutch Plan.
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The following table summarizes the change in the projected benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets for the Dutch Plan (in

thousands):
December 31,
2022 2021

Projected Benefit Obligation:

Projected benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 63,129 $ 74,683

Interest cost 581 323

Benefits paid and administrative expenses (1,398) (1,426)

Actuarial (gain) loss, net (18,361) (5,281)

Unrealized (gain) loss on foreign exchange (3,892) (5,170)
Projected benefit obligation at end of year $ 40,059 $ 63,129
Fair Value of Plan Assets:

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $ 59,039 $ 70,319

Increase (decrease) in plan asset value (17,213) (5,268)

Employer contributions 603 261

Benefits paid and administrative expenses (1,398) (1,426)

Unrealized gain (loss) on foreign exchange (3,655) (4,847)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year $ 37,376 $ 59,039
Under-funded status of the plan at end of the year $ (2,683) | $ (4,090)
Accumulated Benefit Obligation $ 37,391 $ 63,129

The following actuarial assumptions were used to determine the actuarial present value of our projected benefit obligation and the net

periodic pension cost for the Dutch Plan:

December 31,
2022 2021
Weighted average assumed discount rate 3.72% 1.00%
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 3.72% 1.00%
Weighted average rate of compensation increase 2.60% 1.90%

The discount rate used to determine our projected benefit obligation at December 31, 2022 was increased from 1.00% to 3.72%, con-
sistent with a general increase in interest rates in Europe for AAA-rated long-term Euro government bonds.

Amounts recognized for the Dutch Plan in the consolidated balance sheets consist of (in thousands):

December 31,
2022 2021
Deferred tax asset $ 700 $ 1,023
Other long-term liabilities 2,683 4,090
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (5,108) (5,595)
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The components of net periodic pension cost for the Dutch Plan include (in thousands):

For the Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Interest cost $ 581 $ 323 $ 679
Expected return on plan assets (545) (306) (634)
Curtailment — — (1,049)
Net periodic pension cost $ 36 $ 17 $ (1,004)

We funded the future obligations of the Dutch Plan by purchasing an insurance contract from a large multi-national insurance company
with a five-year maturity. Each year we made annual premium payments to the insurance company (1) to provide for the benefit obliga-
tion of the current year of service based on each employee’s age, gender and current salary, and (2) for the changes in the benefit obli-
gation for prior years of service due to changes in participants’ salary. Plan assets returns equal the contractual rate, which are
comparable with governmental debt securities. We determine the fair value of these plan assets with the assistance of an actuary using
observable inputs (Level 2), which approximates the contract value of the investments. Our expected long-term rate of return assump-
tions are based on the weighted-average contractual rates for each contract. Dutch law dictates the minimum requirements for pension
funding. Our goal is to meet these minimum funding requirements, while our insurance carrier invests to minimize risks associated with
future benefit payments.

In 2023, our minimum funding requirements are expected to be $0.4 million. Our estimate of future annual contributions is based on
current funding and the unconditional indexation requirements, and we believe these contributions will be sufficient to fund the plan.

Expected benefit payments to eligible participants under this plan for the next five years are as follows (in thousands):

2023 $ 1,461
2024 $ 1,571
2025 $ 1,648
2026 $ 1,795
2027 $ 1,962
Succeeding five years $ 11,313

Defined Contribution Plans

We maintain defined contribution plans for the benefit of eligible employees primarily in Canada, the Netherlands, the United Kingdom,
and the United States. In accordance with the terms of each plan, we and our participating employees contribute up to specified limits
and under certain plans, we may make discretionary contributions in accordance with the defined contribution plans. Our primary obli-
gation under these defined contribution plans is limited to paying the annual contributions. For the years ended December 31, 2022,
2021 and 2020, we paid $3.5 million, $2.3 million and $3.6 million, respectively, for our contributions and our additional discretionary
contributions to the defined contribution plans.

Vesting in all employer contributions is accelerated upon the death of the participant or a change in control. Employer contributions
under the plans are forfeited upon a participant’s termination of employment to the extent they are not vested at that time.

Deferred Compensation Arrangements

We have entered into deferred compensation contracts for certain key employees to provide additional retirement income to the partici-
pants. The benefit is determined by the contract for either a fixed amount or by a calculation using years of service or age at retirement
along with the average of their base salary for the five years prior to retirement. We are not required to fund this arrangement; however,
we have purchased life insurance policies with cash surrender values to assist us in providing the benefits pursuant to these deferred
compensation contracts with the actual benefit payments made by Core Laboratories. The charge to expense for these deferred compen-
sation contracts for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 was $1.4 million, $1.7 million and $1.0 million, respectively.
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We provide severance compensation to certain key employees if employment is terminated under certain circumstances, such as follow-
ing a change in control or for any reason other than upon their death or disability, for “cause” or upon a material breach of a material
provision of their employment agreement, as defined in their employment agreements. In addition, there are certain countries where we
are legally required to make severance payments to employees when they leave our service. We have accrued for all of these severance
payments, but they are not funded.

We have also adopted a non-qualified deferred compensation plan (“Deferred Compensation Plan”) that allows certain highly compen-
sated employees to defer a portion of their salary, commission and bonus, as well as the amount of any reductions in their deferrals
under the Deferred Compensation Plan for employees in the United States, due to certain limitations imposed by the U.S. Internal Reve-
nue Gode of 1986, as amended (the “Code”). Contributions to the plan are invested in equity and other investment fund assets and car-
ried on the balance sheet at fair value. The benefits under these contracts are fully vested. Our primary obligation for the Deferred
Compensation Plan is limited to our annual contributions. Employer contributions to the Deferred Compensation Plan for the years
ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 were $0.3 million, $0.0 million and $0.03 million, respectively. Vesting in all employer con-
tributions is accelerated upon the death of the participant or a change in control. Employer contributions under the plans are forfeited
upon a participant’s termination of employment to the extent they are not vested at that time.

13. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

We have been and may from time to time be named as a defendant in legal actions that arise in the ordinary course of business. These
include, but are not limited to, employment-related claims and contractual disputes or claims for personal injury or property damage
which occur in connection with the provision of our services and products. A liability is accrued when a loss is both probable and can
be reasonably estimated.

We do not maintain any off-balance sheet debt or other similar financing arrangements, nor have we formed any special purpose entities
for the purpose of maintaining off-balance sheet debt.

See Note 77 — Long-term Debt, net for amounts committed under letters of credits and performance guarantees and bonds.

14. EQUITY

Common Shares

On December 17, 2020, we entered into an Equity Distribution Agreement with Wells Fargo Securities, LLC (the “2020 Equity Distribu-
tion Agreement”) for the issuance of up to $60.0 million of our common shares. In 2021, we completed the sale of 1,658,012 common
shares through an at-the-market offering program pursuant to the 2020 Equity Distribution Agreement for the issuance and sale of
$60.0 million of our common shares, which generated aggregate proceeds of $59.1 million, net of commissions and other associated
costs. Proceeds were used to reduce outstanding debt on the Company’s credit facility in 2021.

On June 9,2022, we entered into an Equity Distribution Agreement with certain banks (the “2022 Equity Distribution Agreement”) for the
issuance and sale of up to $60.0 million of our common shares. Under terms of the 2022 Equity Distribution Agreement, sales of our
common shares may be made by any method deemed to be an “at-the-market offering” as defined in Rule 415 under the Securities Act
of 1933. The Company elects when to issue a placement notice which may, among other sales parameters, specify the number of shares
to be sold, the minimum price per share to be accepted, the daily volume of shares that may be sold and the range of dates when shares
may be sold. The Company intends to use the net proceeds from any offerings for general corporate purposes. Pending these uses,
Core Lab intends to invest the net proceeds in investment-grade interest-bearing obligations, highly liquid cash equivalents, certificates
of deposit or direct or guaranteed obligations of the United States of America. As of the date of this report, the Company has not sold
any shares under the 2022 Equity Distribution Agreement.

Treasury Shares

In connection with our initial public offering in September 1995, our shareholders authorized our Management Board to repurchase up
to 10% of our issued share capital, the maximum allowed under Dutch law at the time, for a period of 18 months. This authorization was
renewed at subsequent annual or special shareholder meetings. At our annual shareholders’ meeting on May 19, 2022, our shareholders
authorized an extension to repurchase up to 10% of our issued share capital through November 19, 2023. The repurchase of shares in
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the open market is at the discretion of management pursuant to this shareholder authorization. Such common shares, unless canceled,
may be reissued for a variety of purposes such as future acquisitions, non-employee director stock awards or employee stock awards.
From the activation of the share repurchase program on October 29, 2002 through December 31, 2022, pursuant to shareholder approv-
als, we have repurchased 40,265,843 shares for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $1.7 billion, or an average price of
$41.35 per share and have canceled 33,475,406 shares with an historical cost of $1.2 billion. At December 31, 2022, we held 67,168
shares in treasury with the authority to repurchase 4,602,742 additional shares under our stock repurchase program. During the year
ended December 31, 2022, we repurchased 174,348 of our common shares for $3.9 million, including rights to 102,067 shares valued
at $2.1 million surrendered to us pursuant to the terms of a stock-based compensation plan in consideration of the participants’ tax bur-
dens resulting from the issuance of common shares under that plan. Subsequent to year-end, we have repurchased 57 of our common
shares for less than $0.1 million.

Dividend Policy

In 2008, Core Laboratories announced the initiation of a cash dividend program. In 2020, cash dividends of $0.25 per share were paid
in the first quarter and $0.01 per share were paid in each subsequent quarter in 2020. In 2022 and 2021, cash dividends of $0.01 per
share were paid in each quarter. The declaration and payment of future dividends will be at the discretion of the Board of Supervisory
Directors and will depend upon, among other things, future earnings, general financial condition, liquidity, capital requirements, and
general business conditions. On February 1, 2023, the Company declared a quarterly cash dividend of $0.01 per common share for
shareholders of record on February 13, 2023 payable on March 6, 2023.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Amounts recognized, net of income taxes, in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) consist of the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2022 2021
Pension and other postretirement benefit plans - unrecognized prior service costs and net actuarial loss $ (5,108) | $ (5,595)
Interest rate swaps - net fair value gain (loss) 1,331 (4,538)
Total accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) $ (3,777) | $ (10,133)

15. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES

We are exposed to market risks related to fluctuations in interest rates. To mitigate these risks, we utilize derivative instruments in the
form of interest rate swaps. We do not enter into derivative transactions for speculative purposes.

Interest rate swaps that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedging instruments are carried at fair value and recorded in our con-
solidated balance sheets as an asset or liability. The full fair value of a hedging derivative is classified as a non-current asset or liability
if the remaining maturity of the hedged item is more than 12 months, and as a current asset or liability if the remaining maturity of the
hedged item is less than 12 months.

Unrealized gains (losses) are deferred in shareholders’ equity as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (l0ss). Inter-
est rate swaps that are highly effective are recognized in income as an increase or decrease to interest expense in the period in which the
related cash flows being hedged are recognized in expense.

Our credit facility previously bore interest at variable rates from LIBOR plus 1.500% to a maximum of LIBOR plus 2.875% and included
a LIBOR floor of 0.500%. On July 25, 2022, the Company entered into the Amended Credit Facility, and under the Amended Credit
Facility, the SOFR plus 2.00% to SOFR plus 3.00% will be applied to outstanding borrowings. See Note 77 — Long-term Debt, net for
additional information. The Company has elected to apply the optional expedient for hedging relationships affected by reference rate
reform. Accordingly, no outstanding balance on the Amended Credit Facility with a SOFR rate will preclude cash flow hedging with
existing LIBOR hedging instruments.

In August 2014, we entered into a swap agreement with a notional amount of $25 million (“2014 Variable-to-Fixed Swap”), and the
LIBOR portion of the interest rate was fixed at 2.5% through August 29, 2024. In February 2020, we entered into a second swap agree-
ment with a notional amount of $25 million (“2020 Variable-to-Fixed Swap”), and the LIBOR portion of the interest rate was fixed at
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1.3% through February 28, 2025. These interest rate swap agreements were terminated, dedesignated and settled in March 2021. At
December 31, 2022, the outstanding balance on the Amended Credit Facility was $40 million. The hedging relationship is highly effec-
tive; therefore, gains and losses on these swaps will be reclassified into interest expense in accordance with the forecasted transactions
or the scheduled interest payments on the Amended Credit Facility. Approximately $0.7 million of net losses included in accumulated
other comprehensive income (loss) at December 31, 2022 is expected to be reclassified into earnings within the next 12 months as
interest payments are made on the Company’s Amended Credit Facility.

In March 2020, we entered into two forward interest rate swap agreements for a total notional amount of $35 million to be effective
beginning in September 2021. The purpose of these forward interest rate swap agreements was to fix the underlying risk-free rate that
would be associated with the anticipated issuance of new long-term debt by the Company. These two forward interest rate swap agree-
ments were terminated and settled in March 2021 and together with the settlement of the 2020 Variable-to-Fixed Swap resulted in a net
gain of $1.4 million that was recognized directly in the consolidated statement of operations.

In March 2021, we entered into a new forward interest rate swap agreement for a notional amount of $60 million and carried the fair
value of the terminated 2014 and 2020 Variable-to-Fixed Swaps into the new agreement in a “blend and extend” structured transaction.
The purpose of this forward interest rate swap agreement is to fix the underlying risk-free rate, that would be associated with the antici-
pated issuance of new long-term debt by the Company in future periods. The forward interest rate swap would hedge the risk-free rate
on forecasted long-term debt for a maximum of 11 years through March 2033. Risk associated with future changes in the 10-year LIBOR
interest rates have been fixed up to a notional amount of $60 million with this instrument. The interest rate swap qualifies as a cash flow
hedging instrument. On April 8, 2022, the forward interest rate swap agreement was terminated and settled for a gain of $0.6 million.
The gain on the termination of the forward interest rate swap is included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). Upon issu-
ing new long-term debt in future periods, the Company expects the hedging relationship on the forecasted transactions to be highly
effective and amounts included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) will be reclassified into interest expense in accor-
dance with the forecasted transactions or the scheduled interest payments on future long-term fixed rate debt.

At December 31, 2022, we had fixed rate long-term debt aggregating $135 million and variable rate long-term debt aggregating
$40 million.

The fair values of outstanding derivative instruments are as follows (in thousands):

Fair Value of Derivatives at

December 31,
Balance Sheet
2022 2021 Classification
Derivatives designated as hedges:
10 year forward interest rate swap $ — $ (5,446) | Other long-term (liabilities)
$ — | $ (5,446)

The fair value of all outstanding derivatives was determined using a model with inputs that are observable in the market or can be
derived from or corroborated by observable data (Level 2).

The effect of the interest rate swaps on the consolidated statements of operations was as follows (in thousands):

For the years ended December 31,

Income Statement
2022 2021 2020 Classification
Derivatives designated as hedges:
5 year interest rate swap $ 343 $ (740) | $ 191 | Increase (decrease) to interest expense
10 year interest rate swap 655 658 478 | Increase (decrease) to interest expense
$ 998 $ 82 | $ 669
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16. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Company’s only financial assets and liabilities which are measured at fair value on a recurring basis relate to certain aspects of the
Company’s benefit plans and our derivative instruments. We use the market approach to determine the fair value of these assets and
liabilities using significant other observable inputs (Level 2) with the assistance of a third-party specialist. We do not have any assets or
liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis using quoted prices in an active market (Level 1) or significant unobservable
inputs (Level 3). Gains and losses related to the fair value changes in the deferred compensation assets and liabilities are recorded in
general and administrative expense in the consolidated statements of operations. Gains and losses related to the fair value of the interest
rate swaps are recorded in other comprehensive income (10ss).

The following table summarizes the fair value balances (in thousands):

Fair Value Measurement at December 31, 2022

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assets:
Company owned life insurance policies $ 23,787 $ — $ 23,787 $ —
$ 23,787 $ — $ 23,787 $ —
Liabilities:
Deferred compensation liabilities $ 16,284 $ — $ 16,284 $ —
$ 16,284 $ — $ 16,284 $ —
Fair Value Measurement at December 31, 2021
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assets:
Company owned life insurance policies ( $ 32,299 $ — $ 32,299 $ —
$ 32,299 $ — $ 32,299 $ —
Liabilities:
Deferred compensation liabilities $ 22,114 $ — $ 22,114 $ —
10 year interest rate swap 5,446 — 5,446 —
$ 27,560 $ — $ 27,560 $ —

(1) Company owned life insurance policies have cash surrender value and are intended fo assist in the funding of the deferred compensation liabilities.

17. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

We have granted restricted stock awards under two stock incentive plans: the 2020 Long-Term Incentive Plan and the 2014 Nonem-
ployee Director Stock Incentive Plan. Awards under the following three compensation programs have been granted pursuant to both
plans: (1) the Performance Share Award Program (“PSAP”); (2) the Restricted Share Award Program (“RSAP”) and (3) the Restricted
Share Award Program for Nonemployee Directors (the “Program”).

We issue shares from either treasury stock or authorized common shares for these compensation programs. In 2022, we issued 212,047
shares out of treasury stock and 244,838 shares out of authorized common shares. We do not use cash to settle equity instruments
issued under stock-based compensation awards.

2020 Long-Term Incentive Plan

Under the 2020 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “Plan”), (a) awards may be granted under the Plan until May 20, 2025, and (b) the num-
ber of common shares that may be granted to eligible employees is a maximum of 13,000,000 common shares. At December 31, 2022,
approximately 633,195 shares remained available for the grant of new awards under the Plan. Specifically, we issue long-term equity
incentive awards under the Plan, consisting of the PSAP and RSAP. We believe that widespread common share ownership by key
employees is an important means of encouraging superior performance and employee retention by providing additional incentives for
executives to further our growth, development and financial success over a longer time horizon by personally benefiting through the
ownership of our common shares and/or rights.
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Performance Share Award Program

The PSAP allows us to compensate our executive and senior management teams as we meet or exceed our business objectives. The
PSAP shares are unvested and may not be sold, assigned, pledged, hedged, margined or otherwise transferred by an award recipient
until such time as, and then only to the extent that, the restricted performance shares have vested. In the event of a change in control (as
defined in the Plan) prior to the last day of the Performance Period, as defined, all of the award recipient’s restricted performance shares
will vest as of the effective date of such change in control. Subject to continued employment with us, or upon death or disability, PSAP
shares vest if we meet or exceed our business objectives.

The Company recorded $3.9 million, $7.3 million and $6.8 million of additional non-cash stock compensation expense in the years
ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively, associated with the 2022, 2021 and 2020 PSAP awards for certain members of
our executive management team who became retirement eligible during those years. The additional stock compensation expense has
been recorded in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718, “Compensation — Stock Compensation”, which states that the period over
which stock compensation expense is recognized should not extend beyond the eligible retirement age as defined in each executive’s
PSAP award agreement. The PSAP awards continue to remain unvested until the end of the performance period, and it can be deter-
mined whether the performance criteria have been achieved. The executive will not forfeit the right to vest in the awarded shares if they
voluntarily retire from the Company after attaining the retirement age as defined in each agreement. These amounts are reflected in the
totals below.

On February 11, 2020, certain members of our executive and senior management teams were awarded rights to receive PSAP awards if
our calculated ROIC, as defined in the PSAP, achieved certain performance criteria as compared to the Bloomberg Peer Group, as
defined in the Performance Share Award Restricted Share Agreement, at the end of the performance period, which ended on the last
trading day of 2022. The Compensation Committee had added a modifier for shares awarded above the target level based upon absolute
total shareholder return (“TSR”), measured over the same 3-year performance period. The 3- year measurement period began on
January 1, 2020 and ended on December 31, 2022. An aggregate of up to 473,259 common shares could be earned based on the two
criteria. This arrangement was recorded as an equity award that required us to recognize compensation expense estimated at

$14.1 million over the shorter of the 3-year performance period or requisite service period, as determined for each participant individu-
ally, of which $3.7 million and $9.5 million was recognized in 2021 and 2020, respectively. In the second quarter of 2022, the stock
compensation associated with these awards was aligned to expected vesting level of the performance share awards, which resulted in an
adjustment of $(3.3) million to reverse previously recognized compensation expense. Additionally, an adjustment of $(1.9) million, fur-
ther reducing stock compensation expense, was recorded in 2022, to revalue the awards to their fair value, upon final determination of
the performance criteria in December 2022. A total of 318,506 shares vested at end of the performance period in 2022. As a result of
these adjustments associated with the vesting of the 2020 PSAP awards, stock compensation expense in the Company’s general and
administrative expenses was reduced by $5.2 million in 2022. The participants surrendered 67,168 common shares to settle any per-
sonal tax liabilities which may result from the award, as permitted by the agreement. We recorded these surrendered shares as treasury
stock with an aggregate cost of $1.4 million at $20.27 per share.

On February 11, 2021, certain members of our executive and senior management teams were awarded rights to receive an aggregate of
up to 268,298 common shares if our calculated ROIC, as defined in the PSAP, achieves certain performance criteria as compared to the
Bloomberg Peer Group, as defined in the Performance Share Award Restricted Share Agreement, at the end of the performance period,
which ends on the last trading day of 2023 and shares awarded above the target level, are also subject to certain TSR performance crite-
ria, as defined in the PSAP. This arrangement is recorded as an equity award that requires us to recognize compensation expense esti-
mated at $9.4 million over the shorter of the 3-year performance period or requisite service period, as determined for each participant
individually, of which $1.1 million and $6.6 million has been recognized in 2022 and 2021, respectively. The unrecognized compensa-
tion expense is expected to be recognized over an estimated amortization period of 12 months.

On February 17, 2022, certain members of our executive and senior management teams were awarded rights to receive an aggregate of
up to 362,254 common shares if our calculated ROIC, as defined in the PSAP, achieves certain performance criteria as compared to the
Bloomberg Peer Group, as defined in the Performance Share Award Restricted Share Agreement, at the end of the performance period,
which ends on the last trading day of 2024 and shares awarded above the target level, are also subject to certain TSR performance crite-
ria, as defined in the PSAP. This arrangement is recorded as an equity award that requires us to recognize compensation expense
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estimated at $9.3 million over the shorter of the 3-year performance period or requisite service period, as determined for each partici-
pant individually, of which $6.4 million has been recognized in 2022. The unrecognized compensation expense is expected to be recog-
nized over an estimated amortization period of 24 months.

Restricted Share Award Program

In 2004, the Compensation Committee of our Board of Supervisory Directors approved the RSAP to attract and retain key employees,
and to better align employee interests with those of our shareholders. Under this arrangement we awarded grants totaling 25,500 shares,
83,866 shares and 321,084 shares in 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively. Each of these grants has a vesting period of principally either
five or six years, and vests ratably on an annual basis. There are no performance accelerators for early vesting for these awards. Awards
under the RSAP are classified as equity awards and recorded at the grant-date fair value with the compensation expense recognized over
the expected life of the award. As of December 31, 2022, there was $9.5 million of unrecognized total stock-based compensation
expense relating to non-vested RSAP awards. The unrecognized compensation expense is expected to be recognized over an estimated
weighted-average amortization period of 35 months. The grant-date fair value of shares granted was $0.5 million, $2.8 million and

$4.8 million in 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively. We recognized compensation expense of $4.5 million, $6.1 million and $6.4 million
in 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The total grant-date fair value, which is the intrinsic value, of the shares vested was $5.3 million,
$6.5 million and $7.7 million in 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

2014 Nonemployee Director Stock Incentive Plan

Under the 2014 Nonemployee Director Stock Incentive Plan (the “Director Plan”) awards may be granted until May 12, 2024. The Direc-
tor Plan provides common shares for grant to our eligible Supervisory Directors. The maximum number of shares available for award
under this plan is 1,400,000 common shares. As of December 31, 2022, approximately 525,215 shares remained available for issuance
under the Director Plan. Only non-employee Supervisory Directors are eligible for these equity-based awards under the Director Plan.

In 2011, the Compensation Committee of our Board of Supervisory Directors approved the Program to compensate our non-employee
Supervisory Directors. Under this arrangement we awarded grants totaling 32,910 shares, 25,842 shares, 87,042 shares in 2022, 2021
and 2020, respectively. The shares awarded in 2022, 2021 and 2020 have a vesting period of one year for each grant. There are no per-
formance accelerators for early vesting for these awards. Awards under the Program are classified as equity awards and recorded at the
grant-date fair value with compensation expense recognized over the expected life of the award. As of December 31, 2022, there was
$0.3 million of unrecognized stock-based compensation relating to non-vested Program awards. The unrecognized compensation
expense is expected to be recognized over an estimated weighted-average amortization period of 3 months. The grant-date fair value of
shares granted was $1.0 million, $0.8 million and $1.1 million in 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively, and we have recognized compen-
sation expense of $1.0 million, $1.1 million and $0.8 million in 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Equity Compensation Plan Information
Information about our equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2022 is as follows:

Number of Common Number of Common
Shares to be Issued Weighted Average Shares Remaining
Upon Exercise of Exercise Price of Available for Future
Outstanding Options, | Outstanding Options, |Issuance Under Equity
Warrants and Rights | Warrants and Rights | Compensation Plans
Equity compensation plans approved by our shareholders:
2020 Long-Term Incentive Plan 981,445 — 633,195
2014 Nonemployee Director Stock Incentive Plan 32,910 — 525,215
Total 1,014,355 1,158,410
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Stock-based Compensation
Non-vested restricted share awards outstanding as of December 31, 2022 and changes during the year under both the Plan and the
Director Plan are as follows:

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair
Number of Shares | Value per Share
Non-vested at December 31, 2021 1,035,671 $ 34.30
Granted 491,630 $ 26.42
Vested (456,884) | $ 35.11
Forfeited (56,062) | $ 31.03
Non-vested at December 31, 2022 1,014,355 $ 30.29

Stock-based compensation expense under both the Plan and the Director Plan recognized in the consolidated statement of operations is
as follows (in thousands):

For the Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Cost of services and product sales $ 4,572 $ 5,704 $ 5170
General and administrative expense 3,184 13,389 2,224
Total stock-based compensation expense $ 7,756 $ 19,093 $ 7,394

18. IMPAIRMENTS AND OTHER CHARGES

The geopolitical conflict between Russia and Ukraine, which began in February 2022 and has continued through December 31, 2022,
has resulted in disruptions to our operations in Russia and Ukraine. The Company evaluated long-lived assets in Russia and Ukraine as
part of our assessment of our assets group and did not identify triggering events as of December 31, 2022. As of December 31, 2022,
all laboratory facilities, offices, and locations in Russia continued to operate and remained profitable and no specific asset losses were
identified. The Company’s operations and associated fixed assets in Ukraine are immaterial.

For the year ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, there were no triggering events during the year and, based on our assessment, we
determined there was no impairment for any of our reporting units or asset groups, and no impairment has been recorded in 2022 or
2021.

We completed our annual impairment assessment of goodwill for our reporting units as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, by performing
a qualitative assessment, which indicated it was not more likely than not that there was an impairment and therefore no quantitative test
was required.

In 2020, the COVID-19 global pandemic resulted in government mandated shut-downs, cross-border travel restrictions, home shelter-
ing and social distancing efforts to contain the virus and mitigate the incidence of infection. The COVID-19 mitigation efforts globally
resulted in a sharp decline in the consumption of crude-oil and refined petroleum products, which in turn led to a significant decrease in
spot and forward commodity prices. These events resulted in substantial declines in the valuation of companies operating in the oil and
gas services industry, including Core Laboratories. As a result, we determined that it was more likely than not that the fair value of our
reporting units was less than their carrying value, which triggered an updated impairment assessment by the Company as of March 31,
2020. We performed a detailed quantitative test in accordance with ASC Topic 360 Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets and
ASC Topic 350 Intangibles-Goodwill and Other as updated by ASU 2017-04 Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment on our
indefinite-lived and long-lived assets related to asset groups, and our reporting units.

We have two reporting units that are the same as our two operating segments, with goodwill balances aggregating $213.4 million as of
March 31, 2020. We performed a detailed quantitative impairment assessment of our reporting units. We determined that the fair value
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of one of the reporting units, our Production Enhancement operating segment representing approximately $114.0 million of the good-
will, was less than the carrying value. As a result, we concluded that the goodwill associated with our Production Enhancement operat-
ing segment was fully impaired, resulting in a $114.0 million goodwill impairment charge in March 2020. We determined that the
Reservoir Description reporting unit's fair value is above the carrying value, which represented the remaining balance of $39.4 million of
goodwill.

In 2020, we identified a triggering event for one of the asset groups under the Production Enhancement reporting unit. The estimated fair
value, based on applying the income approach model, of one of the asset groups was determined to be below its carrying value. As of
March 31, 2020, we recorded a charge of $8.2 million to impair the intangible assets relating to the business acquisition of Guardian
Technology in 2018.

19. INVENTORY WRITE-DOWN

During the year ended December 31, 2020 as a result of the continuing adverse impact of COVID-19 and significant reduction in rig
count and completions that affected the consumption and anticipated demand for certain of our products, we recorded an additional
inventory obsolescence and write-down of $10.4 million primarily in our Production Enhancement operating segment.

There were no inventory write-downs for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021.

20. OTHER (INCOME) EXPENSE, NET

The components of other (income) expense, net are as follows (in thousands):

For the Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020

Gain on sale of assets (1,068) | $ 427 | $ (1,254)
Results of non-consolidated subsidiaries (294) (62) (125)
Foreign exchange (gain) loss, net 229 (228) 1,160
Rents and royalties (709) (571) (466)
Return on pension assets and other pension costs (545) (306) (1,502)
Gain on sale of business — (1,012) —
Insurance and other settlements (669) (2,236) —
Loss on lease abandonment — — 504
Severance and other charges 3,332 — 3,943
Other, net (998) (753) (434)

Total other (income) expense, net (722) | $ (559) @ $ 1,826

In 2022, we sold our ownership interest in mineral rights of certain properties for a net gain of $0.7 million which is included in gain on
sale of assets. We incurred property and other losses in a fire incident that occurred in 2020 that we received full and final insurance
settlement of $0.6 million in 2021. The North America mid-continent winter storm in February 2021 caused business interruptions and
property losses to certain facilities, and we received insurance settlements of $0.7 million and $1.6 million in 2022 and 2021,

respectively.

Foreign Currency Risk

We operate in a number of international areas which exposes us to foreign currency exchange rate risk. We do not currently hold or
issue forward exchange contracts or other derivative instruments for hedging or speculative purposes. Foreign exchange gains and
losses result from fluctuations in the USD against foreign currencies and are included in other (income) expense, net in the consoli-
dated statements of operations. We recognized foreign exchange losses in countries where the USD weakened against the local currency
and we had net monetary liabilities denominated in the local currency; as well as countries where the USD strengthened against the
local currency and we had net monetary assets denominated in the local currency. We recognized foreign exchange gains in countries
where the USD strengthened against the local currency and we had net monetary liabilities denominated in the local currency and in
countries where the USD weakened against the local currency and we had net monetary assets denominated in the local currency.
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Foreign exchange (gains) losses by currency are summarized in the following table (in thousands):

For the Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020

British Pound 212 $ 86 $ 653
Canadian Dollar 238 77 590
Colombian Peso (430) (281) (331)
Euro (382) (450) 458
Indonesian rupiah 379 123 (96)
Other currencies, net 212 217 (114)

Foreign exchange (gain) loss, net $ 229 $ (228) | $ 1,160

21. EARNINGS PER SHARE

We compute basic earnings per share by dividing net income attributable to Core Laboratories N.V. by the number of weighted average
common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share includes the incremental effect of contingently issuable
shares from performance and restricted stock awards, as determined using the treasury stock method. The following table summarizes
the calculation of weighted average common shares outstanding used in the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share (in
thousands):

For the Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Weighted average common shares outstanding - basic 46,334 46,009 44 477
Effect of dilutive securities:
Restricted shares n 139 —
Performance shares 408 542 —
Weighted average common shares outstanding - assuming dilution 46,813 46,690 44 477

For the year ended December 31, 2020, the number of outstanding performance shares and restricted shares of Core Laboratories N.V.
common stock that were excluded from diluted earnings per share calculation, as their impact would be antidilutive, were as follows (in
thousands):

December 31, 2020
Performance shares 308
Restricted shares 189

22. SEGMENT REPORTING AND OTHER DISAGGREGATED INFORMATION

Segment Reporting
We operate our business in two segments. These complementary operating segments provide different services and products and utilize
different technologies for evaluating and improving reservoir performance and increasing oil and gas recovery from new and existing fields:

e feservoir Description: Encompasses the characterization of petroleum reservoir rock and reservoir fluids samples to increase pro-
duction and improve recovery of crude oil and natural gas from our clients’ reservoirs. We provide laboratory-based analytical and
field services to characterize properties of crude oil and crude oil-derived products to the oil and gas industry. We also provide pro-
prietary and joint industry studies based on these types of analyses and manufacture associated laboratory equipment. In addition,
we provide reservoir description capabilities that support various activities associated with energy transition projects, including
services that support carbon capture, utilization and storage, hydrogen storage, geothermal projects, and the evaluation and
appraisal of mining activities around lithium and other elements necessary for energy storage.

®  Production Enhancement. Includes services and manufactured products associated with reservoir well completions, perforations,
stimulation, production and well abandonment. We provide integrated diagnostic services to evaluate and monitor the effectiveness
of well completions and to develop solutions aimed at increasing the effectiveness of enhanced oil recovery projects.
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We use the same accounting policies to prepare our operating segment results as are used to prepare our consolidated financial state-
ments. All interest and other non-operating income (expense) is attributable to Corporate & Other and is not allocated to specific operat-
ing segments. Summarized financial information of our operating segments is shown in the following table (in thousands):

Reservoir Production Corporate &
As at and for the years ended: Description Enhancement Other(") Consolidated
December 31, 2022
Revenue from unaffiliated clients $ 307,691 $ 182,044 $ — $ 489,735
Inter-segment revenue 523 315 (838) —
Segment operating income (10ss) 22,902 16,351 2,271 41,524
Total assets (at end of period) 307,108 159,628 111,618 578,354
Capital expenditures 7,458 2,181 577 10,216
Depreciation and amortization 11,630 4,643 888 17,161
December 31, 2021
Revenue from unaffiliated clients § 313609 | $§ 156,643 | $ — | $ 470,252
Inter-segment revenue 346 299 (645) —
Segment operating income (10ss) 28,958 15,163 1,141 45,262
Total assets (at end of period) 305,256 142,310 133,287 580,853
Capital expenditures 9,572 2,281 1,686 13,539
Depreciation and amortization 11,789 5,728 999 18,516
December 31, 2020
Revenue from unaffiliated clients $ 355,041 $ 132,226 $ — $ 487,267
Inter-segment revenue 313 521 (834) —
Segment operating income (l0ss) 55,044 (133,449) 1,600 (76,805)
Total assets (at end of period) 327,386 129,568 111,625 568,579
Capital expenditures 6,135 5,460 285 11,880
Depreciation and amortization 13,612 6,203 1,052 20,867

(1) “Corporate and other” represents those items not directly related to a particular operating segment and eliminations.

Disaggregated Revenue

We derive our revenue from services and product sales contracts with clients primarily in the oil and gas industry. No single client
accounted for 10% or more of revenue in any of the periods presented. Summarized financial information of our contracts is shown in

the following table (in thousands):

For the Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Reservoir Description Services $ 296,201 $ 296,576 $ 332,085
Production Enhancement Services 50,773 47,766 44,336
Total Revenue - Services $ 346,974 $ 344,342 $ 376,421
Reservoir Description Product sales $ 11,490 $ 17,033 $ 22,956
Production Enhancement Product sales 131,271 108,877 87,890
Total Revenue - Product sales $ 142,761 $ 125,910 $ 110,846
Total Revenue $ 489,735 $ 470,252 $ 487,267

We attribute service revenue to the country in which the service was performed rather than where the reservoir or project is located while
we attribute product sales revenue to the country where the product was shipped as we feel this gives a clearer view of our operations.
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We do, however, have significant levels of service revenue performed and recorded in the U.S. that are sourced from projects on
non-U.S. oilfields. Summarized financial information of our geographic regions is shown in the following table (in thousands):

As at and for the years ended: United States Cour?ttrri]gm@) Consolidated
December 31, 2022
Revenue $ 166,701 $ 323,034 $ 489,735
Property, plant and equipment, net 54,384 50,644 105,028
December 31, 2021
Revenue § 148183 § 322,069 $§ 470,252
Property, plant and equipment, net 58,031 52,921 110,952
December 31, 2020
Revenue $ 158,937 $ 328330 $ 487,267
Property, plant and equipment, net 62,619 52,674 115,293

(1) Revenue earned in other countries, including the Netherlands, was not individually greater than 10% of our consolidated revenue in 2022, 2021 and 2020.

(2) Property, plant and equipment, net in other countries, including the Netherlands, was not individually greater than 10% of our consolidated property, plant and equipment in 2022,
2021 and 2020.

23. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On January 17, 2023, the Company announced its intention to reorganize the Company’s corporate structure, which will include redo-
mestication (the “Redomestication”) of the parent company from the Netherlands to the United States as Core Laboratories Inc., a
Delaware corporation. Following shareholder approval, the Redomestication will be completed through a series of steps, as follows:

(i)  Core Laboratories N.V. will merge with and into Core Laboratories Luxembourg S.A, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Core
Laboratories N.V., with Core Laboratories Luxembourg S.A. surviving, and

(i) Assoon as practicable thereafter, Core Laboratories Luxembourg S.A. will migrate out of Luxembourg and redomesticate into the
state of Delaware, as Core Laboratories Inc., which will become the ultimate parent company.

Upon completion of the transaction, Core Laboratories N.V. shareholders will hold one share of common stock of Core Laboratories Inc.
for each common share of Gore Laboratories N.V. owned immediately prior to the Redomestication. The Company’s shares will continue
to trade uninterrupted during and upon completion of the Redomestication.

The Redomestication requires a shareholder vote for approval, which will be conducted through an extraordinary general meeting of the
Company’s shareholders, anticipated to occur in late March of 2023. If shareholder approval is obtained, the transaction is expected to
become effective approximately 30 days following the date of the extraordinary general meeting.

Upon completion of the transaction, the common shares of Core Laboratories Inc. will remain listed on the New York Stock Exchange
(“NYSE”) under the ticker symbol “CLB” and will be registered with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and be subject to the same SEC reporting requirements, the mandates of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002 and the applicable corporate governance rules of the NYSE. The Company will continue to report its financial results
in U.S. dollars and under U.S. GAAP. Core Laboratories Inc. will in the ordinary course of business make available customary financial
information and other reports filed with the SEC, consistent with its established current practices.
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CORE LABORATORIES IN.V.

Schedule Il - Valuation and Qualifying Account

Balance at Additions Charged
Beginning of to/Recovered Balance at End

(In thousands) Period from Expense Write-offs Other® of Period
Year ended December 31, 2022

Reserve for credit losses $ 3,225 $ 6)  $ (1,006) 1 $ 2,214
Year ended December 31, 2021

Reserve for credit losses $ 4,068 $ (256) | $ (588) 1 $ 3,225
Year ended December 31, 2020

Reserve for credit losses $ 2,730 $ 1,618 $ (650) 370 $ 4,068

(1) Comprised primarily of differences due to changes in exchange rate and adjustments associated with the discontinued operations.
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